PPB/MIP/PMS/GUD/022

Rev. No. 0



MINISTRY OF HEALTH

PHARMACY AND POISONS BOARD

Guidelines on the Safety and Vigilance of Medical Products and Health Technologies

DECEMBER 2019

PPB/MIP/PMS/GUD/022	GUIDELINES VIGILANCE O	ON F MED	THE DICAL	SAFETY PRODUCTS	AND S AND	Revision No. 0	Effective Date: 03/12/2019
	HEALTH TECH	HNOLO	OGIES		-		Review Date: 03/12/2022

This document has been domesticated from the

EAC HARMONIZED COMPENDIUM ON SAFETY AND VIGILANCE OF MEDICAL PRODUCTS AND HEALTH TECHNOLOGIES

Version March 2019

PPB/MIP/PMS/GUD/022	GUIDELINES VIGILANCE OF	ON F MED	THE	SAFETY PRODUCTS	AND S AND	Revision No. 0	Effective Date: 03/12/2019
	HEALTH TECH	INOLO	GIES		-		Review Date: 03/12/2022

Citation of Document

These Guidelines are in the public domain and may be reproduced or adapted on condition that the recommended citation is made.

Recommended Citation

Guidelines on the safety and vigilance of medical products and health technologies, Pharmacy and Poisons Board, December 2019.

PPB/MIP/PMS/GUD/022	GUIDELINES	ON E MEE	THE	SAFETY	AND	Revision No. 0	Effective Date: 03/12/2019
	VIGILANCE O	FMEL	JICAL .	PRODUCTS	5 AND		
	HEALTH TECH	HNOLO	OGIES				Review Date:
							03/12/2022

Prepared by Head, Pharmacovigilance

Sign	Q\$€:
Date	14 11 2019

Director, Medicines Information and Pharmacovigilance

Sign	boache
Date	02/12/2019

Checked by Head, Quality Management

Sign	States-
Date	02/12/2019

Authorized by Chief Executive Officer

Sign	Esseri.
Date	2/12/19

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABBREV	IATIONS AND ACRONYMS	.vii
ACKNOV	VLEDGEMENTS	ix
FOREWO)RD	x
The Lega	l Framework	xi
Glossary	of terms	.xii
INTROD	JCTION	1
1. The	National Pharmacovigilance System	3
2. Role	es and Responsibilities of key players	4
2.1	Patient/Public	4
2.2	Health care provider	4
2.3	Sub - County Investigation Team	5
2.4	County Vigilance Focal Person	5
2.5	County Health Management Team	6
2.6	Public Health Programs	6
2.7	Pharmaceutical industry/MAHs	8
2.8	Pharmacovigilance Risk Assessment and Advisory Committee (PRAAC)	11
2.9	National technical working group on Pharmacovigilance and Post-marketing	
survei	llance	12
2.10	The Pharmacy and Poisons Board	14
2.11	Academia and research institutions	14
2.12	Development Partners	14
3. Gui	de to reporting adverse drug reactions (ADRs) and adverse events (AEs) after	
marketin	g authorization	15
3.1	Who should report ADRs and AEs?	15
3.2	What to report	15
3.3	When to report	16
3.4	How to report a suspected ADR and/or AE	17
3.5	Where to report a subjected ribit and/or ribition	19
3.6	Conducting an investigation	20
4 Obl	igations to the healthcare workers	20
4 1	Serious adverse events and serious adverse drug reactions	24
4.0	Adverse Events Following Immunization (AFEI)	27
4.3	Haemovigilance of blood and blood products	25
4.4	Reporting ADRs due to traditional / herbal medicines	28
4.5	Reporting suspected adverse events with medical devices	20
4.5	Reporting suspected develop events with incuted devices	29
F Stm	seture and flow of information	20
5. Sut	instignt to the merilating outhorization helders	22
6 1	Satoris to the marketing authorization nonders	22
6.0	Demindia confete un dete nemente	24
6.2	Periodic Salety update reports	25
6.4	Periodic Delient-Risk Evaluation Reports	20
0.4	Risk Management Plans (Rives)	39
6.5	Pharmacovigliance system master file (PSMF)	50
6.6	Pharmacovigliance Planning	50
6.7	Case reports from published scientific literature	57
6.8	Post-Authorization Safety Studies	58
6.9	Clinical trials	64
7. Pha	rmacovigilance inspections and self-audits	67
7.1	Inspection types	67
7.2	Frequency of conducting the pharmacovigilance inspections	70
7.3	Inspection planning	70
7.4	Conduct of inspection	71
7.5	Reporting and Follow-Up	71
7.6	Sanctions	71

PPB/MIP/PMS/GUD/022	GUIDELINES VIGILANCE O HEALTH TEC	ON F ME HNOL	THE DICAL OGIES	SAFETY PRODUCTS	AND S AND	Revision No. 0	Effective Date: 03/12/2019 Review Date:
							03/12/2022

7.7	Self-Audit	72
8. Train	ning and Capacity Building	76
9. Safe	ty Communication	76
9.1	Principles of safety communication	77
9.2	Target audience	78
9.3	Content of safety communication	78
9.4	Communication channels	79
9.5	Exchange of safety information produced by third parties	79
9.6	Safety communication for the marketing authorization holder	80
9.7	Publication of Direct healthcare professional communication (DHPC)	80
Annex 1:	Suspected ADR reporting form	81
Annex 2:	AEFI Reporting Form	83
Annex 3:	Adverse transfusion reaction form	84
Annex 4:	Medical devices incident reporting form	86
Annex 5:	Medication errors reporting form	88
Annex 6:	Form for reporting suspected poor-quality medical products and health	
technolog	gies	90
Annex 7:	ADR severity assessment scale	92
Annex 8:	WHO-UMC Causality assessment scale	93
Annex 9:	Adverse drug reaction alert card	94
Annex 10	: Checklist for investigation procedure for serious ADRs by the Sub-County	
Investigat	tion Team (SCIT)	95
Annex 11	: AEFI investigation form	96
Annex 12	: Examples of AEFIs1	00
Annex 13	: RMP Outline and format 1	01
Annex 14	: The format and layout of the PSMF 1	03
Annex 15	: Format and Content of The Protocol Of Non-Interventional Post-Authorization	
Safety St	udies 1	08
Annex 16	: Format of The Pass Final Study Report 1	14
Annex 17	: Template for direct health care professional communication 1	17
Pictorial 1	representation of some well - known ADRs 1	20

PPB/MIP/PMS/GUD/022	GUIDELINES VIGILANCE O HEALTH TEC	ON F MEI HNOL	THE DICAL	SAFETY PRODUCTS	AND S AND	Revision No. 0	Effective Date: 03/12/2019 Review Date: 03/12/2022

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

ACT	Artemisinin Based Combination Therapy						
ADR	Adverse Drug Reaction						
AE	Adverse event						
AEFI	Adverse event following immunization						
AMR	Antimicrobial resistance						
BCG	Bacille Calmette-Guérin Vaccine						
СНМТ	County Health Medical Team						
DLP	Data Lock Point						
DTP	Diphtheria, Tetanus toxoids and Pertussis vaccine						
EAC	East African Community						
ECCT	Expert Committee on Clinical Trials						
EPI	Expanded Program on Immunization						
FBO	Faith based organization						
IBD	International Birth Date						
ICH	International Conference on Harmonization						
IEC	Information, Education and Communication						
KMA	Kenya Medical Association						
KNBTS	Kenya National Blood Transfusion Service						
КРА	Kenya Pharmaceutical Association						
MAH	Marketing Authorization Holder						
MedDRA	Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities						
MMR	Measles, Mumps, Rubella vaccine						
МОН	Ministry of Health						
MSH	Management Sciences for Health						
NASCOP	National Aids and STI Control Program						
NNAK	National Nurses Association of Kenya						
NGO	Non-governmental organization						
NLTP	National Tuberculosis, Leprosy and Lung Disease						
	Program						

PPB/MIP/PMS/GUD/022	GUIDELINES	ON	THE	SAFETY	AND	Revision No. 0	Effective Date:
	VIGILANCE O	F ME	DICAL	PRODUCTS	S AND		03/12/2019
	HEALTH TECH	HNOL	OGIES				Review Date:
							03/12/2022

NTDP	Neglected Tropical Diseases Program					
NMCP	National Malaria Control Program					
NRA	National Regulatory Authority					
NVIP	National Vaccines and Immunization Program					
NVSAC	National Vaccine Safety Advisory Committee					
OPV	Oral Polio Vaccine					
отс	Over the counter					
PBRER	Periodic Benefit/Risk Evaluation Report					
PHP	Public Health Program					
PPB	Pharmacy and Poisons Board					
PRAAC	Pharmacovigilance Risk Assessment and Advisory					
	Committee					
PSUR	Periodic Safety Update Report					
PSK	Pharmaceutical Society of Kenya					
PV	Pharmacovigilance					
PvERS	Pharmacovigilance electronic reporting system					
QPPV	Qualified Person for Pharmacovigilance					
RMP	Risk management plan					
SCHMT	Sub-County Health Medical Team					
SAE	Serious Adverse Event					
SCIT	Sub-county Investigation Team					
SUSAR	Suspected Unexpected Serious Adverse Reaction					
UMC	Uppsala Monitoring Centre					
WHO	World Health Organization					

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Pharmacy and Poisons Board wishes to acknowledge the immense contribution, participation and collaborative efforts from all individuals and institutions towards the revision of these Guidelines. The revision of these guidelines entailed the engagement and wide consultations with stakeholders. These guidelines have also been domesticated from the EAC Harmonized Compendium on Safety and Vigilance of Medical Products and Health Technologies.'

We would like to recognize the Kenya Association of Pharmaceutical Industry (KAPI), Innovative Pharmaceutical Association South Africa (IPASA), Dr. Stephen Kimatu (Promoting the quality of medicines (PQM) Program-U.S. Pharmacopeial Convention), Eric Kitangala (Kenya National Blood Transfusion Service (KNBTS), the National AIDS & STI Control Program (NASCOP) and the National Vaccines & Immunization Programme (NVIP) for their time and invaluable input in these Guidelines.

We appreciate the immense support from the Ministry of Health, the Board of Directors, PPB and the Chief Executive Officer, PPB Dr. F. M. Siyoi. Special thanks to the technical working group at PPB; Director, Directorate of Medicines Information and Pharmacovigilance Dr. Kariuki Gachoki, Dr. Stephen Kimathi, the Head Pharmacovigilance Department Dr. Christabel Khaemba, Dr. Martha Mandale, Dr. Pamela Nambwa, Dr. Edward Abwao, Dr. Karim Wanga, Dr Peter Mbwiri, Dr Lydia Tuitai, George Muthuri, Dr. Macharia, Dr. Samuel Kerama and Dr. Felistas Yano for their contribution and participation in the revision these Guidelines.

FOREWORD

The World Health Organization defines Pharmacovigilance as the science and activities relating to the detection, assessment, understanding and prevention of adverse effects or any other medicine-related problem. The scope of Pharmacovigilance continues to widen to include reporting of adverse events due to blood products, biologicals, vaccines, health technologies, herbal products, traditional and complementary medicines, cosmeceuticals hence the term "Vigilance".

The mandate of the Pharmacy and Poisons Board is to ensure the provision of quality, safe and efficacious medical products and health technologies. Quality health products and technologies are a central component in attainment of Universal Health Coverage (UHC) in Kenya.

There are over 10,000 products registered in the Kenyan market. Despite their obvious benefits, they are known to have a possibility of causing adverse events which can be serious or even fatal. The safety and quality of these medical products and health technologies must be continuously monitoring by key players in the industry to ensure patients safety.

This document is therefore intended to provide guidance to all the health care workers, patients and marketing authorization holders and the public on the reporting of adverse drug reactions and adverse events medical products and health technologies in Kenya

The Pharmacy and Poisons Board will continue to create awareness, conduct trainings and sensitizations to the public and health care workers on the importance of reporting of ADRs and AEs. This guideline and reporting tools will continue to be updated periodically taking into consideration continuous monitoring and evaluation and emerging research findings and lessons learned.

Dr. F. M. Siyoi CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Legal Framework

The Health Laws (Amendment) Act, 2019 and the Pharmacy and Poisons Act, Cap 244, Laws of Kenya mandates the Pharmacy and Poisons Board (PPB), to regulate medical products and health technologies in Kenya. The Board ensures quality, safety and efficacy of medical products and health technologies in the Kenyan market.

The Kenya National Pharmaceutical Policy, 2008 acknowledges the role of the Pharmacy and Poisons Board (PPB) in regulation of pharmacovigilance, establishing effective Pharmacovigilance systems and enhancing the participation of the pharmaceutical industry, the private sector, health professionals and consumers in post-market surveillance and pharmacovigilance in Kenya.

Glossary of terms

The following definitions describe terminologies in the context of this guideline.

Active surveillance - Active measures are taken to detect adverse events. It involves active follow-up after treatment where the events may be detected by asking patients directly or screening patient records. It is best done prospectively. Active pharmacovigilance is sometimes very descriptively referred to as, "hot pursuit"

Adverse Event/ Adverse Experience - Any untoward medical occurrence that may present during treatment with a pharmaceutical product but which does not necessarily have a causal relationship with this treatment.

Adverse event following immunization (AEFI) - any untoward medical occurrence which follows **i**mmunization and which does not necessarily have a causal relationship with the usage of the vaccine. The adverse event may be any unfavourable or unintended sign, abnormal laboratory finding, symptom or disease.

Adverse Drug Reaction - A response to a drug which is noxious and unintended, and which occurs at doses normally used in humans for the prophylaxis, diagnosis or therapy of disease, or for the modification of physiological function. An adverse drug reaction, in contrast to an adverse event, is characterized by the fact that a causal relationship between a medical product and an occurrence is suspected.

Board - the Pharmacy and Poisons Board

Case Control Study - Study that identifies a group of persons with the unintended drug effect of interest and a suitable comparison group of people without the unintended effect. The relationship of a drug to the drug event is examined by comparing the groups exhibiting and not exhibiting the drug event with regard to how frequently the drug is present.

Cohort Event Monitoring (CEM) - is a prospective, observational, cohort study of adverse events associated with one or more medicines

Clinical Trial - A systematic study on pharmaceutical or medical products in human subjects (including patients and other volunteers) in order to discover or verify the effects of and/or identify any adverse reaction to investigational products, and/or to study the absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion of the products with the objective of ascertaining their efficacy and safety. Clinical trials are generally classified into Phases: I to IV. Phase IV trials are studies performed during marketing of the pharmaceutical/medical product. They are carried out on the basis of the product characteristics for which the marketing authorization was granted and are normally in the form of post-marketing surveillance.

Cohort Study - A study that identifies defined populations and follows them forward in time, examining their rates of disease. A cohort study generally identifies and compares exposed patients to unexposed patients or to patients who receive a different exposure.

Complementary/ Alternative Medicine - These terms are used interchangeably with traditional medicine in some countries. They refer to a broad set of healthcare practices that are not part of that country's own tradition and are not integrated into the dominant health care system. They have not usually been tested in specified clinical indications by an objective scientific discipline.

Data Lock Point – Date designated as the cut-off for data to be included in the periodic safety update reports (PSUR), based on the international birth date (IBD).

Drug - in this context also known as medicine or medical product

Drug Alerts - The action of notifying a wider audience than the initial information holder(s) of a suspected association between a drug and an adverse reaction. Note that the term is used in different contexts that can be confusing, for example, an alert may be from a manufacturer to a regulator or from a regulator to the public.

E-shot – Email communication sent from PPB to the healthcare providers, pharmaceutical industry, marketing authorization holders, public health programs on any adverse events, reactions and poor-quality medicines.

Field Safety Corrective Action (FSCA) - An action taken by a manufacturer to reduce a risk of death or serious deterioration in the state of health associated with the use of a medical device that is already placed on the market. Such actions should be notified via a field safety notice.

Field Safety Notice (FSN) - A communication to customers and/or users sent out by a manufacturer or its representative in relation to a Field Safety Corrective Action.

Healthcare providers/professionals – in the context of this guideline, include medical doctors, dentists, pharmacists, clinical officers, pharmaceutical technologists, nurses, community health workers and medical laboratories staff.

Health technology - A health technology is the application of organized knowledge and skills in the form of medical devices, medicines, vaccines, procedures and systems developed to solve a health problem and improve quality of lives.

Herbal medicines - include herbs, herbal materials, herbal preparations and finished herbal products, that contain as active ingredients parts of plants, or other plant materials, or combinations.

Identified risk – An undesirable clinical outcome and for which there is sufficient scientific evidence that it is caused by the medical product

Important identified risk and important potential risk - An identified risk or potential risk that could have an impact on the risk-benefit balance of the medical product.

Individual case safety report (ICSR) – also known as a suspected adverse drug reaction report containing information on the patient, drug reaction, suspected drug/medicine/vaccine/medical device and the reporter.

International birth date (IBD) – The date of the first marketing approval for a medical product in any country in the world. This is in relation to the submission of Periodic safety update reports (PSURs) to the National Regulatory Authority (NRA).

Lack of Efficacy - Unexpected failure of a drug to produce the intended effect as determined by previous scientific investigation.

Marketing authorization holder (MAH) – An individual or a corporate entity/ company responsible for placing a pharmaceutical product in the market either through importation, donation, distribution or sale in Kenya. This individual or company is responsible for all aspects of the product, including quality and compliance with the conditions of the marketing authorization.

Manufacturer - A person or a body who sells a product under their own name, or under a trademark, design, trade name or other name or mark owned or controlled by the person or the body, and who is responsible for designing, manufacturing, assembling, processing, labelling, packaging, refurbishing or

modifying the product, or for assigning to it a purpose, whether those tasks are performed by that person or on their behalf.

Medical device - Any instrument, apparatus, implement, machine, appliance, implant, reagent for in vitro use or calibrator, software, material or other similar or related article, intended by the manufacturer to be used, alone or in combination, for human beings, for one or more of the specific medical purpose(s) of:

- a. diagnosis, prevention, monitoring, treatment or alleviation of disease;
- b. diagnosis, monitoring, treatment, alleviation of or compensation for an injury;
- c. investigation, replacement, modification or support of the anatomy or of a physiological process;
- d. supporting or sustaining life;
- e. control of conception;
- f. disinfection of medical devices;
- g. providing information by means of in vitro examination of specimens derived from the human body,

and, which does not achieve its primary intended action by pharmacological, immunological or metabolic means, but which may be assisted in its function by such means.

Medical product - Any substance or combination of substances which may be administered to human beings with a view to making a medical diagnosis or to restoring, correcting or modifying physiological functions in human beings.

Medication error - an unintended failure in the drug treatment process that leads to, or has the potential to lead to harm to the patient.

National Pharmacovigilance Centre - A single, government recognized centre (or integrated system) within a country with the clinical and scientific expertise to collect, collate, analyse and give advice on all information related to drug safety.

Periodic Safety Update Report (PSUR) - An update of the world-wide safety experience of a product obtained at defined times post marketing authorization.

Periodic Benefit-Risk Evaluation Report (PBRER) - An update of the worldwide marketing experience of a medical product at defined times with focus on formal evaluation of benefit in special population at defined times during post-registration period. **Pharmaceutical industry**- refers to the manufacturers, marketing authorization holders, local technical representatives, distributors, parallel importers

Pharmacoepidemiology - The study of the use and effects of drugs in large numbers of people.

Pharmacovigilance - The science and activities relating to the detection, assessment, understanding and prevention of adverse effects or any other drug-related problem. Also known as Vigilance to include blood and blood products and health technologies.

Potential risk- an undesirable clinical outcome and for which there is scientific evidence to suspect the possibility of a causal relationship with the medical product

Prescription Event Monitoring - A system created to monitor adverse drug events in a population. Prescribers are requested to report all events, regardless of whether they are suspected adverse events, for identified patients receiving a specified drug.

Qualified Person for Pharmacovigilance (QPPV) - An individual named by a Marketing Authorization Holder (MAH) as the main person responsible for ensuring that the company (the MAH) meets legal obligations for monitoring of the safety and quality of the product marketed in Kenya.

Risk-Benefit Balance - An evaluation of the positive therapeutic effects of the medical product in relation to the risks (any risk relating to the quality, safety or efficacy of the medical product as regards patients' health or public health.

Risk Management Plan (RMP) - A detailed description of the risk management system includes information on: a medicine's safety profile; how its risks will be prevented or minimized in patients; plans for studies and other activities to gain more knowledge about the safety and efficacy of the medicine and measuring the effectiveness of risk-minimization measures.

Risk management system - A set of pharmacovigilance activities and interventions designed to identify, characterise, prevent or minimise risks relating to a medical product, including the assessment of the effectiveness of those activities and interventions.

Risk minimisation measure (synonym: Risk minimization activity) - Interventions intended to prevent or reduce the occurrence of adverse

reactions associated with the exposure to a medicine, or to reduce their severity or impact on the patient should adverse reactions occur.

Safety concern – An identified risk, important potential risk or missing information (refer to their respective definitions above)

Signal - Reported information on a possible causal relationship between an adverse event and a drug, the relationship being unknown or incompletely documented previously. Usually more than a single report is required to generate a signal, depending upon the seriousness of the event and the quality of the event and the quality of the information.

Unexpected Adverse Reaction - An adverse reaction, the nature or severity of which is not consistent with domestic labelling or market authorization, or expected from characteristics of the drug.

1. VISION

To be a centre of excellence in regulation of pharmacy profession, medical products and health technologies.

2. MISION

To protect the health of the public by regulating the profession of pharmacy and ensuring quality, safety and efficacy of medical products and health technologies.

3. CORPORATE VALUES AND PRINCIPLES

The values and principles that underpin the operations of the Board and provide operational guidelines for service delivery are:

- Commitment to public health
- Professionalism
- Integrity
- Timeliness
- Teamwork

4. CORE FUNCTIONS

- To ensure the quality, safety and efficacy of medical products and health technologies.
- Regulation of training and practice of pharmacy.
- Advising the government on any matter relating to the regulation of medical products, health technologies and pharmaceutical services.

INTRODUCTION

Background

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines Pharmacovigilance (PV) as the "science and activities relating to the detection, assessment, understanding and prevention of adverse effects or any other possible drug-related problems".

Pharmacovigilance aims at achieving the following:

- a. Improve patient care and safety in relation to the use of medicines and all medical and paramedical interventions;
- b. Improve public health and safety in relation to the use of medicines;
- c. Detect problems related to the use of medicines and communicate the findings in a timely manner;
- d. Contribute to the assessment of benefit, harm, effectiveness and risk of medicines, leading to the prevention of harm and maximization of benefits;
- e. Encourage the safe, rational and more effective (including cost effective) use of medicines;
- f. Promote understanding, education and clinical training in Pharmacovigilance and its effective communication to the public.

There is an increasing burden of adverse events from adverse drug reactions (ADRs), poor quality products, adverse events following immunization, therapeutic ineffectiveness, medication errors, and irrational use of medical products and health technologies in addition to increase in antimicrobial resistance (AMR). These medicine-related problems not only contribute to morbidity and mortality but also result in higher treatment costs, loss of confidence in the health system, non-adherence to treatment, and economic losses to the pharmaceutical industry and patients.

Monitoring the safety of medical products including vaccines and health technologies, their quality and effectiveness following market authorization, in addition to providing medicines safety information are essential functions of national healthcare systems. These are responsibilities of the national medicines regulatory authorities (NMRAs), healthcare providers across all levels of the healthcare system as well as other stakeholders, among them, public health programs (PHPs), and the pharmaceutical industry, including marketing authorization holders (MAHs).

The Pharmacy and Poisons Board (PPB) as the National Pharmacovigilance Centre has the responsibility to collect, collate, assess causality of safety reports, conduct risk management and communication in addition to contributing these reports to the international database for ADRs at the Uppsala Monitoring Centre-WHO Collaborating Centre for International Drug Monitoring, Sweden. The Board has since 2009, when the PV centre was established, intensified its safety monitoring activities including training and sensitization of healthcare workers and other stakeholders on reporting of both ADRs and poor-quality medicines.

The importance of Pharmacovigilance

The information collected during the pre-marketing phase of drug development is inevitably incomplete with regard to possible adverse drug reactions (ADRs). This is mainly because:

- a. Tests in animals are insufficient to predict human safety;
- b. Patients used in clinical trials are selected and limited in number, the conditions of use differ from those in clinical practice and the duration of trials is limited;
- c. By the time of licensing exposure of less than 5000 human subjects to a drug allows only the more common ADR to be detected;
- d. At least 30,000 people need to be treated with a drug to be sure that you do not miss at least one patient with an ADR which has an incidence of 1 in 10,000 exposed individuals;
- e. Information about rare but serious adverse reactions, chronic toxicity, use in special groups (such as children, the elderly or pregnant women) or drug interactions is often incomplete or not available; Thus, postmarketing surveillance is important to permit detection of less common, but sometimes very serious ADRs.

Health care providers shall therefore report on all suspected adverse events as this can save lives of their patients and others.

1. The National Pharmacovigilance System

The National Pharmacovigilance System was officially launched in June 2009 and falls under the Ministry of Health. It includes;

- a. The national pharmacovigilance centre based at the Pharmacy and Poisons Board, along Lenana road, opposite the Department of Defence (DoD).
- b. The national spontaneous reporting system which has both the electronic and manual pharmacovigilance reporting forms.
- c. The national database and;
- d. The Pharmacovigilance risk assessment and advisory committee (PRAAC) whose role is to provide technical assistance on causality assessment, risk assessment, risk management, case investigation and, risk communication. In addition to this, it will make appropriate recommendations to the Chief Executive Officer, PPB and the Ministry of Health.

The PV system also includes the public, private and NGO/Mission healthcare providers, public health programs, pharmaceutical industry and marketing authorization holders. Therefore, the PV system in Kenya covers:

- i. All levels of healthcare, including the community-based health care providers
- ii. All medicines used in the country
- iii. All disease conditions encountered in the country
- iv. All cadres and disciplines of healthcare providers
- v. Any individual resident in Kenya, suspecting a reaction to a medicine

The PV system works closely with other Ministry departments and programs,

various organizations and institutions, to develop an effective feedback mechanism that serves the patient safety needs of the healthcare system. The Board endeavours to develop and sustain close links and to harmonize with other pharmacovigilance systems in the region, particularly within the Regional Economic Communities (RECs), African Medicines Agency (AMA) and globally.

2. Roles and Responsibilities of key players

The entire system of pharmacovigilance works with the support of each healthcare provider, the regulatory bodies, the pharmaceutical industry, MAHs, PHPs, other stakeholders and the public at large. Hence, each of these have an important role to play and responsibility to bear:

2.1 Patient/Public

Patients are encouraged to follow prescribed treatment and report any suspected adverse effect of medicine including any suspected poor-quality medical product dispensed to them. They can report to a healthcare provider or the nearest health facility or directly to the Board by telephone at 0795743049 or email at pv@pharmacyboardkenya.org.

2.2 Health care provider

Patient awareness of possible serious reactions, and development of a culture to report reactions are essential for any pharmacovigilance system. Health facility staff provide an essential link in the detection of ADRs at the periphery of the health care system. The healthcare worker's roles in the PV system are:

- a. Patient education on ADRs including counselling in order to promote adherence.
- b. Diagnosis/detection and appropriate clinical management and treatment of patients presenting with adverse reactions and/or events
- c. Reporting of ADRs and adverse events and sending the reports immediately to the County Vigilance focal person or directly through the Pharmacovigilance Electronic Reporting System (PvERS).
- d. Analysis of the ADRs and/or events data for decision making at the facility level.

- e. Promotion of rational drug use
- f. Documentation- to maintain accurate documents
- g. Investigation, where necessary
- h. Give patient feedback
- i. Active surveillance
- j. Publishing of data on any ADRs and/or events
- k. Ensure Pharmacovigilance activities are performed within the facility Medicines and Therapeutic Committiees

2.3 Sub - County Investigation Team

The Sub – County Investigation Team (SCIT) shall be formed on ad hoc basis and shall comprise of members from the Sub-County Health Management Team (SCHMT) and the County vigilance focal person for follow up of serious ADRs and/or adverse events (AEs) in the respective Sub-counties. The SCIT may comprise of the Sub-county pharmacist, Sub-county public health nurse, Sub-county public health officer, Sub-county laboratory in-charge, Sub-county hemovigilance officer and any other relevant specialist where applicable. An additional two representatives from the Board and the respective PHP shall form part of the team during these investigations.

The findings of the investigations shall be forwarded to the Pharmacovigilance Risk Assessment and Advisory Committee (PRAAC) who will give their expert opinion and thereafter recommendations. This may include necessary actions to be taken in the minimization of risks associated with adverse reactions and events.

2.4 County Vigilance Focal Person

The roles of the County Vigilance Focal Person include:

- a. Receive reports from health centres, dispensaries, Sub-county and County hospitals and send individual case safety reports (ICSRs) and suspected poor-quality medicines (PQM) reports to the Board every two weeks or on an ad hoc basis in an emergency.
- b. Facilitate investigations initiated by the Board and carried out by the subcounty investigation team, where necessary.

- c. Co-ordinate all activities of pharmacovigilance and post-market surveillance in the County
- d. Provide a summary of Vigilance reports on medical products and health technologies to the County Management Team
- e. Participate in training County healthcare staff in collaboration with the Board and PHPs.
- f. Assist the SCIT in investigations
- g. Provide feedback from the Board to the County health care workers where necessary.

2.5 County Health Management Team

The County Health Management Team (CHMT) should ensure the following:

- a. Plan and budget for Pharmacovigilance activities within the county.
- b. Coordinate planning and implementation of Pharmacovigilance related activities within the County in coordination with Medicines and Therapeutic Committees.
- c. Organize, coordinate and conduct training and sensitization of health care providers and the public within the County on vigilance of medical products and health technologies.
- d. Coordinate and participate in the investigations of serious adverse reactions, events and signals and give feedback on the findings to the Board.
- e. Ensure that ICSRs and suspected PQM reports are submitted to the Board as soon as possible.

2.6 Public Health Programs

The Public Health Programmes in Kenya include the National Malaria Control Program (NMCP), National Tuberculosis, Leprosy and Lung Disease Program (NLTP), National AIDS & STI Control Program (NASCOP), National Vaccines & Immunization Programme (NVIP), Neglected Tropical Diseases Program (NTDP), Kenya National Blood Transfusion Service (KNBTS), Reproductive Health, etc.

The following are responsibilities of the PHPs:

a. Provide public information during the launch of new drug regimens

- b. Take responsibility for ensuring training of health facility staff in use of medicines or regimens and monitoring for any adverse events that may arise.
- c. Active surveillance of medical products and health technologies in collaboration with the Board.
- d. When necessary, program members may be called upon by the Board and PRAAC in determining the risk-benefit assessment of suspect medicines, in order to update treatment guidelines and initiate new training and communications to health providers and the general public.
- e. Supervise work of Sub-County Investigation Teams (SCIT) and Programme manager
- f. Provide technical, training and managerial support of all functions of SCIT and Programme manager
- g. Make Programme-related decisions
- h. Liaise with national pharmacovigilance centre and decide jointly on the pharmacovigilance goals
- i. Resource mobilization
- j. Ad hoc members of the PRAAC
- k. Conduct education, training and advocacy to the relevant stakeholders

2.6.1 Pharmacovigilance Sentinel Sites

It is recognized that the National Pharmacovigilance System will collect, as a passive method, a wide variety of data on ADRs and AEs. However, some specific 'programmatic' interests may not be met. Therefore, specific sentinel sites have been established for active surveillance as required under authority of the Board, and in collaboration with the PHPs to carry out the following functions:

- a. Detailed investigations to gather specific data
- b. Verification of specific reports/ claims
- c. Cohort event monitoring
- d. Conduct case control studies
- e. Establish and maintain pregnancy registries, disease or dug registries
- f. Specific pharmacoepidemiology studies/analysis and;
- g. Utilize any other methods required to collect relevant information.

The protocols for such sentinel sites will be developed in conjunction with the Board, and where necessary gain the necessary scientific ethical clearance and consent of approved Ethics Committees, Institutional Review Boards and the Expert Committee on Clinical Trials (ECCT) at the Board where relevant.

The data will be made freely available, on a regular basis, to the Division of Pharmacovigilance at the Board. The Pharmacy and Poisons Board remains responsible for all aspects of pharmacovigilance but may work with an appropriate partner to set up additional relevant sentinel sites where necessary.

2.7 Pharmaceutical industry/MAHs

The MAHs have a responsibility to share post-marketing surveillance data, PBRERs, PSURs and any local reports on ADRs and AEs which are brought to their attention, whether reported spontaneously by healthcare professionals or consumers or occurring in the context of a post-authorization study, with the Board within the timelines stipulated in this guideline. They may also be called upon to meet the costs of specific investigations and/or regulatory actions affecting their products. Specifically, they shall implement directives of the Board and fund Pharmacovigilance activities and other investigations on their products.

The MAH shall have at its disposal, an appropriately qualified person responsible for pharmacovigilance, resident in Kenya.

2.7.1 Qualified Person for Pharmacovigilance

A qualified person for pharmacovigilance (QPPV) acts on behalf of the MAH as a single point of contact for the Board on all matters relating to pharmacovigilance and safety of their marketed products.

The QPPV shall be responsible for the following:

1. The establishment and maintenance of the marketing authorization holder's pharmacovigilance system master file and therefore should have sufficient authority to influence the performance of the quality system and the good pharmacovigilance standards and to promote, maintain and improve compliance with the legal requirements. Hence, the QPPV should have access to the pharmacovigilance system master file (PSMF) at all times.

- 2. Having oversight over the functioning of the pharmacovigilance system in all relevant aspects including quality management system (e.g. standard operating procedures, contractual arrangements, database operations, compliance data regarding quality, completeness and timeliness of expedited reporting and submission of periodic update reports, audit reports and training of personnel in relation to pharmacovigilance.
- 3. The QPPV shall act as a single point of contact for the Board on all matters relating to the product safety and quality of their marketed products including pharmacovigilance inspections.
- 4. Preparing, reviewing and implementing company Standard operating procedures (SOPs) for PV activities in the country.
- 5. The QPPV should be aware of the validation status of the adverse reaction database if applicable, including any failures that occurred during validation and the corrective actions that have been taken to address the failures. The QPPV should also be informed of significant changes that are made to the database (e.g. changes that could have an impact on pharmacovigilance activities).
- 6. The QPPV may delegate specific tasks, under supervision, to appropriately qualified and trained individuals, for example, acting as safety experts for certain products, provided that the QPPV maintains system oversight and overview of the safety profiles of all products. Such delegation should be documented.
- 7. Establishing and maintaining a system which ensures that information about all suspected adverse drug reactions/events (or spontaneous post-marketing

events) which are reported to the personnel of the marketing authorization holder, including to medical representatives, is collected, collated, processed and evaluated and forwarded to the Board in line with the timelines stipulated by the Board.

- 8. Preparing and submitting the following to the Board through established channels:
 - a. Adverse Events to Medical Products and Health Technologies
 - b. Periodic Safety Update Reports and Periodic Benefit-Risk Evaluation Reports (PSUR/PBRER)
 - c. Company-sponsored pre- and post-registration study reports
 - d. Risk Management Plans (RMPs)
 - e. Ongoing pharmacovigilance evaluation during the post-registration period. The report should be submitted to the Board as soon as possible after the evaluation.
- 9. Ensuring that any request from the Board for additional information deemed necessary for the evaluation of the risk-benefit ratio of a marketed product, is provided to the Board fully and promptly.
- 10. Overseeing the safety profiles of the company's marketed products and any emerging safety concerns.
- 11. Ensuring that all personnel involved in pharmacovigilance activities, which may include customer service and sales representatives etc. have their specific duties recorded in a written description and have adequate authority to carry out their responsibilities.
- 12. Ensuring that all personnel involved in pharmacovigilance activities should be aware of the principles of pharmacovigilance that affect them, and all personnel shall receive relevant training.
- 13. Ensuring that competent persons are appointed to carry out their duties and functions in their absence.

- 14. Ensuring that Qualified health care professional possessing adequate experience and education (e.g. QPPV and medical affairs staff), should be available to evaluate information in respect of potential ADEs, assesses the seriousness, expectedness and reportability of ADEs and determine if the ADE report qualifies for expedited reporting.
- 15. Ensuring that training is provided prior to implementation of new or revised procedures. Records of training should be maintained.
- 16. Have an oversight of the PMS activities of the MAHs products registered in the country.
- 17. Data mining for ADR by internet searches and review of relevant publications.
- 18. Participate in post-authorization safety studies and provide results as requested by the Board.

2.8 Pharmacovigilance Risk Assessment and Advisory Committee (PRAAC)

The PRAAC consists of core members drawn from the following specialities: Pharmacovigilance Specialist, Clinical Pharmacist, Paediatrician, Epidemiologist, Immunologist, Pathologist, Physician, Vaccinologist, Haematologist, Pharmacology and Toxicology. The PPB PV/PMS Department is the secretariat of the (PRAAC).

The members shall be appointed by the Chair, Board of Directors, PPB. They shall serve for a period of three years that will be subject to renewal. The terms of office will be in accordance with set terms of the TWG.

2.8.1 Role of the PRAAC

The PRAAC shall be responsible for assessing all aspects of risk management of medical products and health technologies, including:

 a. the detection, assessment, minimization and communication of the risk of adverse drug reactions and adverse events of medical products and health technologies, while taking the therapeutic effect of the same into account;

- b. design and evaluation of post-authorization safety studies;
- c. provide guidance on pharmacovigilance audits and acts as a peer review for the reports
- d. Assist the investigation teams where required
- e. The PRAAC provides recommendations on questions on pharmacovigilance and risk management systems, including the monitoring of their effectiveness, to the Director, Medicines and Pharmacovigilance Directorate, the product evaluation and registration directorate, the GMP directorate, the PPB Board of Directors and the PPB secretariat.

Any conclusions and recommendations arising from the assessment of such reports by the PRAAC shall be reported to the Board of Directors, PPB within 14 calendar days.

Once recommendations are received from the PRAAC, the Board will take responsibility for any regulatory action with respect to the implicated medical product/s or health technology (ies). These actions will be officially communicated to all stakeholders who have liability for the product.

2.9 National technical working group on Pharmacovigilance and Postmarketing surveillance

The Board shall establish the technical working group (TWG) on PV and PMS whose role is to guide the implementation of PV and PMS activities across the country. The TWG will constitute of nominated members by the Chief Executive Officer, PPB drawn from different department/institutions including Ministry of Health, Public Health Programmes Academia/ Research institutions, Procurement agencies, and co-opted members from PV/PMS development and implementing partners. The TWG shall undertake initiatives for strengthening

PV and PMS including but not limited to the following potential activities:

- a. Provide technical guidance on the design, development and implementation of PV /PMS guidelines in the Kenya including PV/PMS forms and SOPs
- b. Provide guidance on the development and implementation of pharmacovigilance and post marketing surveillance strategies
- c. To give technical guidance for the implementation of PV and PMS activities to ensure quality, safe and efficacious medical products and health technologies
- d. Provide technical assistance and guidance on the development of a databases and information sharing system on the safety and quality profile of medical products and health technologies
- e. Identify the logistical and resources needs for the implementation of PV and PMS activities
- f. To provide a forum for private and public sector groups to consider and recommend policy direction on pharmacovigilance and post marketing surveillance
- g. Participate in the review of training and sensitization materials for health care workers
- h. Provide a platform for mutual information sharing on risk communication among the Hospital Medicines and Therapeutic Committees
- i. Provide a platform for the development, review and approval of PV and PMS messages for the health care workers and the general public
- j. Make recommendations and report regularly to the CEO Pharmacy and Poisons Board and the Director General, Health
- k. Mobilize partners and advocate for funds for pharmacovigilance and post marketing surveillance research and surveys
- 1. Provide a platform for the review and dissemination of reports on the status of PV and PMS in Kenya
- m. Review recommendations from expert safety committees and prepare briefs for the CEO and DGH to inform policy on PV and PMS

2.10The Pharmacy and Poisons Board

The Board shall:

- a. Receive reports from County PV focal persons and other sources
- b. Develop and maintain the ADR and AE databases
- c. Detect signals and take necessary action on received reports
- d. Support SCIT to investigate relevant ADR /AEs reports
- e. Report ADRs and AEs on medical products and health technologies to Uppsala Monitoring Centre (UMC)
- f. Provide feedback to the users on reported ADRs and events through quarterly 2 pagers and biannual newsletters
- g. Establish and provide secretariat for the PRAAC
- h. Conduct advocacy, training and education
- i. Provide support to the vigilance system
- j. Develop and disseminate information, education and communication (IEC) materials
- k. Implement appropriate regulatory framework
- 1. Be responsible for conducting assessment, audit and Pharmacovigilance inspections of the pharmaceutical industry
- m. Conduct risk communication to the public

2.11Academia and research institutions

The Board shall collaborate closely with academia in developing and implementing the Pharmacovigilance curriculum in accredited institutions. This includes teaching, training and conducting research on Pharmacovigilance. Additionally, the Board shall jointly publish research papers with academia and research institutions to provide a pool of evidence based recommendations.

2.12 Development Partners

The Board will work closely with development partners in strengthening Vigilance of medical products and health technologies in Kenya.

2.13 Medicines and Therapeutics Committees (MTCs)

The MTCs will work closely with the PPB in evaluating and improving the clinical use of Medicines through conducting Pharmacovigilance activities: Monitoring and reporting Medication Error, Adverse Reactions, Adverse effects following Immunization, Therapeutic failures, Product quality issues among others. Where necessary it is recommended that a Pharmacovigilance Sub Committee be constituted to over this function.

3. Guide to reporting adverse drug reactions (ADRs) and adverse events (AEs) after marketing authorization

3.1 Who should report ADRs and AEs?

Reporters may be from the public or private health sector. They include all healthcare providers including medical doctors, dentists, pharmacists, clinical officers, pharmaceutical technologists and nurses. Other reporters include public health professionals, staff in medical laboratories, community health workers, pharmaceutical manufacturing companies, marketing authorization holders (MAHs) and parallel importers. Patients or patient representatives/guardians are also encouraged to report.

Submission of a report does not constitute an admission that that medical personnel or manufacturer or the product caused or contributed to the event.

Any information on the reporter and patient identities shall be kept CONFIDENTIAL and will not be disclosed in response to any public request. In addition, no reporter shall be penalized for reporting on the ADRs including medication errors.

It is important that any ADR or AE is reported even when not certain about the suspected medicine causing the same.

3.2 What to report

It is important to report the following:

- All expected and/or unexpected suspected ADRs and AEs to conventional medicines, allopathic medicines, traditional/alternative/herbal medicines, biologicals, vaccines, x-ray contrast media, medical devices and cosmeceuticals. This includes serious
- b. All medication errors.
- c. All suspected ADRs and/or AEs that may be associated with suspected or confirmed quality defects including adulteration or contamination, or falsified medicine (such as counterfeit or tampering) constitutes a significant safety issue.

- d. Case reports of acute and chronic poisoning (toxicity)
- e. Abuse, overdose and misuse of medicines
- f. Adverse interactions of medicines with chemicals, other medicines and food
- g. Lack of therapeutic efficacy/therapeutic failure
- h. Any ADRs or AEs observed in pregnancy or during breastfeeding

3.3 When to report

Any suspected ADR and /or AE shall be reported as soon as possible to the National Pharmacovigilance centre at the Board. The following timelines for reporting apply to spontaneous cases encountered by health care workers and any entity who have registered and/or imported medicines for use in Kenya:

- a. Local fatal reactions shall be reported within 7 calendar days.
- b. Serious (non-fatal) reactions that have occurred in Kenya shall be reported within 15 calendar days.
- c. Non-serious local reports shall be reported within 30 calendar days.
- d. All foreign fatal, serious (non-fatal) and non-serious reactions of medicines registered in Kenya shall be reported as per regular timelines within the Periodic Safety Update Report (PSUR)/Periodic Benefit/Risk Evaluation Report (PBRER).

Report even if:

You are not certain if the medicine caused the reaction

3.3.1 Expedited reporting

All ADRs that are **both serious and unexpected** are subject to expedited reporting. The same respective reporting forms (Annex 1-4) shall be used to report these reactions. The expedited reports shall be submitted to the Board immediately and not later than 15 calendar days after first knowledge by the reporter. In addition, the report shall have the minimum information required such as: an identifiable patient, suspected medical product or health technology, a reaction/event that can be identified as serious and unexpected, identifiable reporter.

3.4 How to report a suspected ADR and/or AE

All the respective reporting forms (Annexes 1-5) are simple and easy to fill. The initial report shall be checked as initial. A follow-up report or additional information on an ADR or AE that has already been reported can be sent on communicated telephone, another form. or by or e-mailed to pv@pharmacyboardkenya.org or online at the Board website at www.pv.pharmacyboardkenya.org. Please tick on the multiple options provided where a patient experiences more than one ADR or event where applicable.

The MAHs shall report via CIOMS 1 form-E2B through an xml file via email at <u>pv@pharmacyboardkenya.org</u>. or report directly by filling the relevant form on the PvERS at <u>pv@pharmacyboardkenya.org</u>.

3.4.1 Basic principles of efficient reporting

- a. In-time reporting
 - i. Report the suspected adverse drug reaction or event as soon as it occursthe report involves less work and is more accurate.
 - ii. Send the report quickly to the Pharmacy and Poisons Board.
- b. Strong suspicion and follow up
 - i. Continue your strong suspicion of the drug-induced illness in the same patient and in other patients
- ii. Keep a vigil for signs and symptoms that may now enhance or exclude the possibility of a drug induced event
- iii. All follow up / supplementary information shall be documented and submitted to the Pharmacy and Poisons Board with "FOLLOW - UP REPORT" clearly indicated on the top right corner of the form.
- iv. Make sure that the patient names and IP / OP numbers are the same on both reports.
- v. It is very important that follow-up reports are accurately identified and linked to the original report.

- c. Accuracy and completeness
 - i. Ensure that each reported Suspected ADR Reporting Form is filled in accurately and with all the necessary information, as much as is available to you. This is very important for assessing the causality of the drug to have caused that reaction. The 5 basic components that make a report reliable are:
 - 1. An identifiable source of information
 - 2. An identifiable patient
 - 3. An identifiable medicine/vaccine/blood and blood products/medical device
 - 4. An identifiable suspected reaction
 - 5. A logical time-response relationship
 - ii. If the above information is missing, the report may not be useful
- iii. Remember to fill in all information accurately and in clear legible writing when using the manual forms.

The important information to be provided when reporting ADRs is:

A. Patient details

For local cases, this includes the initials of the patient's name, age/date of birth, sex, weight, height, pregnancy status, in-patient/outpatient no., patient address, any known allergy, and the ward/ clinic where the patient was seen. It is also important to fill in the name, address, location (county) and contacts of the institution to assist in contacting the patient for follow up when necessary.

B. Details on the adverse reaction

The date of onset of reaction, a brief description of the reaction, severity of the reaction (e.g. mild, severe, fatal) action taken (e.g. drug withdrawn, dose reduced) outcome of the reaction (whether the patient is recovering, recovered) and causality of the reaction (e.g. certain, possible etc.) shall be filled and checked on the form as appropriate.

C. Details on the suspected product

This includes the name (generic and brand), dose, route and frequency, date the
medicine was started and stopped and the indication. It is very important to give details of any other medicines that the patient is on that may not be necessarily responsible for the reaction. The additional information required includes batch number, manufacture date and expiry date.

D. Details of the reporter

For local cases, it is important to give contact details as a reporter in case of any clarification or any additional information about the report that may be required by the Board. The reporter details include the name, email address, designation and phone number.

The **ADR Severity Assessment Scale_(Annex 7)** is the recommended method for assessing the severity of a reaction. This scale categorizes each ADR broadly into 'mild', 'moderate', 'severe' and 'fatal'.

A method of causality assessment shall be applied for assessing the causal relationship of the medical product and the adverse events for example the **Causality Assessment Scale (Annex 8**).

The **Patient Alert Card_(Annex 9)** is a card that is issued by a health care professional to a patient who has experienced a serious ADR. The card also helps the patient to learn of his or her serious ADR. The card is expected to be carried by the patient at all times on him- or herself and be presented to his clinician, dentist, nurse, pharmacist, community health worker at the time of consultation. This will help the health care professionals identify the patient's drug-related co-morbidity and prevent the same (or similar) drug reactions. The issue of an Alert Card is based on the Criteria for issue of a Patient Alert Card **(Annex 9).**

3.5 Where to report

The reporting forms can be obtained from the following sources:

- a. PPB head office (headquarters) along Lenana Road
- b. PPB regional offices in Coast (Mombasa), Nyanza (Kisumu), Western (Kakamega), North Rift (Eldoret), South Rift (Nakuru), Upper Eastern

(Machakos), Lower Eastern (Embu), North Eastern (Garissa) and Central (Nyeri).

- c. Online -PPB website at <u>www.pv.pharmacyboardkenya.org</u>
- d. Public and Private Hospitals

The reports can be hand delivered, posted or sent through the Board's address or via email as follows:

Pharmacy and Poisons Board, P.O. Box 27663-00506, Nairobi Tel: (020) 3562107 Ext 114, 0720608811, 0733884411 Fax: (020) 2713431/2713409 Email:pv@pharmacyboardkenya.org

3.6 Conducting an investigation

The Sub – County Investigation Team (SCIT) shall be formed on ad hoc basis and shall comprise of members from the Sub-County Health Management Team (SCHMT) and the County vigilance focal person for follow up of serious ADRs and/or adverse events (AEs) in the respective Sub-counties.

Additional investigation may be required to ascertain the underlying cause of some ADRs and AEs. The purpose of the investigation is to:

- a. Confirm the reported diagnosis and timing of adverse events
- b. identify details of the suspected medical product administered or health technology used.
- c. determine the cause of the reaction or event
- d. document the outcome of the reported adverse reaction or event
- e. determine whether the reported reaction or event is a single incident or part of a cluster

The ADRs and AEs that require further investigation include:

- i. Serious ADRs and AEs
- ii. Clusters of ADRs and AEs
- iii. Occurrence of reactions or events above the expected rate or of unusual severity

- iv. signals and events associated with old or newly introduced medical products and/or health technologies
- v. Those that may have been caused by medication errors
- vi. Significant events of unexplained cause occurring within 30 days after use of a medical product or health technology (not listed in the product label), or;
- vii. Events causing significant public health or community concern.

A detailed investigation shall be initiated on ad hoc basis with representatives from the Board, the CHMT/SCHMT, the relevant public health program within 24 hours of notification of the case. An investigation form (**Annex 10 & 11**) can be used as a guide during the investigations.

The PRAAC and the National Vaccine Safety Advisory Committee (NVSAC) then reviews all reported serious ADRs/events and AEFI respectively for expert opinion. They shall conduct causality assessment, draw conclusions and make recommendations to the Board and the Ministry of Health.

3.6.1 What happens to the reported ADRs and AEs?

The information obtained from reports will be used to educate and promote rational and safe use of medicines by health care providers and patients in the local, national and international levels. The reports will then be entered into the national database and be analysed by expert reviewers on a regular basis. It will then be forwarded to the WHO-Uppsala Monitoring Centre international database, VigiBase. Feedback on the findings shall be communicated to the reporters.

A well-completed and duly submitted ADR reported may result in:

- a. Additional investigations into the use of the medicine in Kenya
- b. Appropriate changes in the package insert
- c. Changes in scheduling or manufacture of the medicine to make it safer.
- d. Enhancing educational initiatives to improve the safe use of that medicine
- e. Other regulatory and health promotion interventions as the situation may warrant including withdrawal/recall.



 Thalidomide
 induced

 phocomelia - Birth - defects
 where

 where
 babies
 are
 born

 without limbs or with serious
 deformities
 babies
 babies

3.6.2 How to recognize ADRs and AEs in patients?

The following approach is helpful in assessing possible ADRs and AEs:

a. Take a proper history and do a proper examination of patient

- i. A full drug and medical history shall be taken preferably by a pharmacist
- ii. An ADR should be your first differential diagnosis at all times!
- iii. Ask if this adverse reaction can be explained by any other cause e.g. patient's underlying disease, other drugs including over-the-counter medicines or traditional medicines, toxins or foods
- iv. It is essential that the patient is thoroughly investigated to decide what the actual cause of any new medical problem is
- v. A drug-related cause must be considered, especially when other causes do not explain the patient's condition
- b. Establish time relationships by asking and answering the following questions:
- i. Did the ADR occur immediately following the drug administration? Some reactions occur immediately after the medicine has been given while others take time to develop. The time from start of therapy to the time of onset of the suspected reaction must be logical.
- c. Carry out a thorough physical examination with appropriate laboratory investigations if necessary:
- i. Remember: only a few drugs produce distinctive physical signs
- ii. Exceptions include fixed drug eruptions, steroid-induced dermal atrophy, acute extra-pyramidal reactions

- iii. Laboratory tests are important if the drug is considered essential in improving patient care or if the laboratory tests results will improve management of the patient.
- iv. Try to describe the reaction as clearly as possible- Where possible, please provide an accurate diagnosis

d. Effect of Dechallenge and Rechallenge should be determined

- Dechallenge (withdrawal of the suspected drug)
 Positive dechallenge is the improvement / resolution of ADR when the suspected drug is withdrawn in a strong, though not conclusive indication of drug-induced reaction.
- Rechallenge (re-introducing the suspected drug after a dechallenge)
 Rechallenge is only justifiable when the benefit of reintroducing the suspected drug to the patient overweighs the risk of recurrence of the reaction, which is rare. In some cases, the reaction may be more severe on repeated exposure. Rechallenge requires serious ethical considerations.

e. Check the known pharmacology of the medicine

- i. Check if the reaction is known to occur with the particular suspected drug as stated in the package insert or other reference.
- ii. Remember: if the reaction is not documented in the package insert, it does not mean that the reaction cannot occur with that particular suspected medicine.

The diagram below shows an example of an algorithm that can be used for the diagnosis and management of ADRs (Figure *1*).



Figure 1:Algorithm for the diagnosis and management of ADR

4. Obligations to the healthcare workers

4.1 Serious adverse events and serious adverse drug reactions

It is defined as any untoward medical occurrence that at any dose results in any of the following:

- a. death
- b. is life-threatening
- c. requires in-patient hospitalization or prolongation of existing hospitalization

- d. results in persistent or significant disability or incapacity
- e. is a congenital anomaly or birth defect.
- f. is a medically important event or reaction. This may include those that require medical or surgical intervention to prevent other outcomes e.g. allergic bronchospasm, serious blood dyscrasias or seizures/convulsions that do not result in hospitalization. Other events include development of drug dependence or drug abuse.

All serious ADRs and/or events must be reported using the suspected adverse drug reaction reporting form **(Annex 1)** within the timelines as stipulated in **section 3.3**.

4.2 Adverse Events Following Immunization (AEFI)

The WHO defines an AEFI as any untoward medical occurrence which follows immunization and which does not necessarily have a causal relationship with the usage of the vaccine. The adverse event may be any unfavorable or unintended sign, abnormal laboratory finding, symptom or disease. An AEFI can potentially undermine confidence in a vaccine and ultimately have dramatic consequences for immunization coverage and disease incidence if not rapidly and effectively dealt with.

An AEFI can be product related, quality defect-related, immunization error related, immunization anxiety related and coincidental.

Vaccine safety monitoring is a collaborative process that involves the National Vaccines and Immunization Program (NVIP), PPB, healthcare providers, consumers, partners and other stakeholders.

4.2.1 Reporting AEFIs

Health care workers and care givers shall report any AEFI that is of concern. Both minor and serious AEFI cases shall be reported. They include:

a. Serious AEFIs i.e. adverse events or reactions that result in death, hospitalization (or prolongation of existing hospital stay), persistent or significant disability or incapacity (e.g. paralysis), or are potentially lifethreatening

- b. Signals and events associated with a newly introduced vaccine
- c. AEFIs that may have been caused by immunization error (e.g. Injection site abscesses, severe local reaction, high fever or sepsis, BCG toxic shock syndrome, clusters of AEFIs)
- d. Allergic reaction- anaphylaxis, hives, bronchospasm, oedema
- e. Clusters of events (> 2 cases of same event in same month) apart from fever
- f. Seizures
- g. Any events causing significant parental/caregiver or community concern
- h. Swelling, redness, soreness at the site of injection IF it lasts more than 3 days or swelling extends beyond nearest joint, inability to move the limb.

More examples of AEFI that should be reported in relation to onset time interval if vaccine is implicated is summarized in Table 1.

A detailed investigation shall thereafter be initiated by trained/skilled persons/teams from both PPB and NVIP at the National and County level as soon as possible, ideally within 24 hours of the case being first reported. An AEFI investigation form (**Annex 11**) can be used as a guide during the investigations.

Table	1:	AEFIs	and	their	respective	onset	time	interval
-------	----	-------	-----	-------	------------	-------	------	----------

*Reportable AEFI	**Onset time interval vaccine/vaccination implicated			
 Anaphylactoid reaction (acute hypersensitivity reaction) Anaphylaxis Persistent inconsolable screaming (more than 3 hours) Hypotonic hypo-responsive episode (HHE) Toxic shock syndrome (TSS) 	Within 24 to 48 hours immunization	of		
 Severe local reaction Sepsis Injection site abscess (bacterial/sterile) 	Within 7 days immunization	of		
 Seizures, including febrile seizures (6-12 days for measles/MMR; 0-2 days for DTP) Encephalopathy (6-12 days for measles/MMR; 0-2 days for DTP) 	Within 14 days immunization	of		

*Reportable AEFI	**Onset time interval if vaccine/vaccination is implicated
 Acute flaccid paralysis (4-30 days for OPV recipient; 4-75 days for contact) Brachial neuritis (2-28 days after tetanus containing 	Within 3 months of immunization
vaccine) •Intussusception (commonly within 21 days after	
•Thrombocytopenia (15-35 days after measles/MMR)	
•Lymphadenitis • Disseminated BCG infection • Osteitis /Osteomyelitis	Between 1 and 12 months after BCG immunization
 Death Hospitalization Disability Any other severe and unusual events that are thought by health workers or the public to be related to impunitation 	No time limit

*The list of reportable AEFIs is meant as a guide and by no means exhaustive. In general, healthcare workers are advised to report all events following immunization as long as no other clear cause has been identified. This would include events whereby a causal link to a vaccine has not been established.

**Onset interval is meant as general guiding principle and will depend on the antigen and adverse reaction, as well as patient factors.

The National Vaccine Safety Advisory Committee (NVSAC) shall then review all reported serious AEFIs presented to them for expert opinion carries out causality assessment, draws conclusions and makes recommendations to improve the Immunization program and promote the safety of vaccines.

4.3 Haemovigilance of blood and blood products

The WHO defines hemovigilance as set of surveillance procedures covering the entire blood transfusion chain, from the donation and processing of blood and its components, through to their provision and transfusion to patients, and including their follow-up. Adverse events include all reactions, incidents, near misses, errors, deviations from standard operating procedures and accidents associated with blood donation and transfusion. The Figure 2 below shows the classification of transfusion reactions.



Figure 2: Classification of Transfusion reactions

It involves monitoring, reporting, investigation and analysis of adverse events related to the donation, processing and transfusion of blood, and acting to prevent their occurrence or recurrence. In this case, the health care providers shall report using the suspected adverse blood and blood products transfusion reaction reporting form **(Annex 3)**.

A transfusion reaction form shall be filled immediately the reaction occurs by the clinician. Similarly, a transfusion reaction register shall then be filled by the laboratory technologist who carries out the investigation. The Hemovigilance officer shall prepare a hemovigilance report and submit it to the KNBTS. The KNBTS hemovigilance officer shall then forward the reports to PPB.

4.4 Reporting ADRs due to traditional/ herbal medicines

Pharmacovigilance of herbal products is a challenge due to the complexity of herbal product in terms of lack of clinical trial data, chemical complexity, nonuniformity (products not standardized hence difficult to determine pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics and toxicology, and to establish which ingredient causes a safety concern), lack of quality assurance and control, possible interactions with other traditional medicines, food.

Report any adverse drug reactions (ADRs)/adverse events (AEs), case reports of acute and chronic poisoning (toxicity) and adverse interactions with other medicines and food with herbal products. The health care providers should encourage patients to provide any information on herbals they may be taking. Any reaction/event as a result of herbals shall be reported using the suspected adverse drug reaction reporting form (**Annex 1**). In addition, any other factors affecting product safety shall also be reported using the form for reporting poor quality medical products (**Annex 6**).

4.5 Reporting suspected adverse events with medical devices

The safety and performance of medical devices have great and direct impact on patient safety. Errors, failure and defects in medical devices may have serious consequences for patients and healthcare professionals.

An event/incident due to a medical device that meets the following three criteria shall be reported to the Board:

- a. An event has occurred. It may include but not limited to:
 - i. A malfunction or deterioration in the characteristics or performance.
 - ii. For IVDs where there is a risk that an erroneous result would either (1) lead to a patient management decision resulting in an imminent life-threatening situation to the individual being tested, or to the individual's offspring, or (2) cause death or severe disability to the individual or fetus being tested, or to the individual's offspring, all false positive or false negative test results shall be considered as events. For all other IVDs, false positive or false negative results falling outside the declared performance of the test shall be considered as events
 - iii. Unanticipated adverse reaction or unanticipated side effect
 - iv. Interactions with other substances or products

- v. Degradation/destruction of the device (e.g. fire)
- vi. Inappropriate therapy
- vii. An inaccuracy in the labelling, instructions for use and/or promotional materials. Inaccuracies include omissions and deficiencies. Omissions do not include the absence of information that should generally be known by the intended USERs.
- b. The medical device is considered to be the contributing cause of the incident
- c. The incident caused or could have caused one of the following outcomes:
 - i. Death of patient, user or another person.
 - ii. A serious deterioration in state of health of a patient, user or other person in the form of:
 - 1. life-threatening disease/illness
 - 2. hospitalization or prolonged hospitalization
 - 3. permanent damage, injury or impairment of a body function.
 - 4. necessary medical or surgical treatment to prevent life-threatening illness, permanent injury
 - 5. any indirect harm caused by incorrect diagnostic or In Vitro Diagnostic Device (IVD) test results or caused by the use of In-vitro fertilization (IVF) / Assisted reproductive technology (ART) equipment used in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions for use.
 - 6. fetal death, fetal injury or congenital abnormalities

Events that do not have a serious outcome, e.g. due to the intervention of healthcare professionals, must also be reported. The reason for this is that a similar event could have resulted in death or serious deterioration of the health of the patient, user or third person if there was no intervention before the incident developed. Any incident, whether the fault is due to technical faults or defects in the equipment, instruction manual, marking, use or maintenance of the equipment must be reported even when in doubt.

All incidents related to medical devices shall be reported to the Board using the medical devices incident reporting form (**Annex 4**). The poor-quality medicinal product reporting form (**Annex 6**) can be used to report any defect in the medical devices.

Conditions where reporting is not required include:

- 1. Deficiency of a device found by the user prior to its use
- 2. Adverse event caused by patient conditions
- 3. Service or shelf life of the medical device exceeded
- 4. Protection against a fault functioned correctly
- 5. Expected and foreseeable side effects
- 6. Negligible likelihood of occurrence of death or serious injury

4.6 Reporting poor quality medical products and health technologies

All healthcare providers in the private and public sector shall alert PPB on product quality issues. The poor-quality issues may include colour change, separation of components, powdering, crumbling, caking, moulding, change of odour, mislabelling, incomplete pack, suspected contamination, questionable stability, defective components, poor packaging/poor labelling, therapeutic failures and receiving expired products. Others include: haemolysed containers, blood with clots, leaking, change in colour, broken seals for Fresh Frozen Plasma (FFP) for blood and blood products, thawed products (FFP). Rusting, broken seals, defective, lack of packaging integrity for the health technologies. This shall be reported to the Board using the form for reporting poor quality medical products and health technologies **(Annex 6).** Post marketing surveillance shall be conducted routinely to ensure that medical products and health technologies in the Kenyan market are safe, of quality and efficacious.

5. Structure and flow of information

Figure 3 below illustrates the flow of ADR information.



Figure 3: Flow of ADR information

6. Obligations to the marketing authorization holders

6.1 Safety and vigilance of medical devices

The MAH shall establish and maintain a vigilance system for the notification and evaluation of incidents and field safety corrective actions (FSCA) for medical devices.

The manufacturers as well as MAHs of medical devices are obliged to report these incidents. On identifying a significant increase or trend of events or incidents that are usually excluded from individual reporting the manufacturer or the MAH shall report to the Board. The manufacturer should have suitable systems in place for proactive scrutiny of trends in complaints and incidents occurring with their devices. Field Safety Notices (FNA) and Field Safety Corrective Actions (FSCA) including those based on incidents occurring outside Kenya shall be reported to the Board in periodic summary reports. The reports shall include the full details of vigilance issues, including the status of any Field Safety Corrective Actions or Notices. They shall be completed using the current version of the MEDDEV reporting template.

The MAH may be requested by the Board to conduct a concise critical analysis of the safety and performance of the medical device or IVD and submit results within a specified time frame.

The following timelines apply for the reporting of incidents that have occurred in Kenya:

- 1. **Serious public health threat**: Immediately (without any delay that could not be justified) but not later than 2 calendar days after awareness of this threat.
- 2. **Death or Unanticipated serious deterioration in state of health**: Immediately (without any delay that could not be justified) after the manufacturer has established a link between the device and the event but not later than 10 elapsed calendar days following the date of awareness of the event.

3. **Others**: Immediately (without any delay that could not be justified) after the manufacturer established a link between the device and the event but not later than 30 elapsed calendar days following the date of awareness of the event.

The regulatory actions taken by the Board may include: recalling the device, reclassifying it, ordering a redesign from the manufacturer or other.

6.2 Periodic safety update reports

A Periodic Safety Update Report (PSUR) is a pharmacovigilance document intended to provide an evaluation of the risk-benefit balance of a medical product at defined time points post-authorization. The objective of the PSUR is to present a comprehensive and critical analysis of the risk-benefit balance of the product considering new or emerging safety information in the context of cumulative information on risk and benefits.

All MAHs, manufacturers (including generics and innovator companies) and parallel importers shall be responsible for ensuring the quality, safety and efficacy of the products they register and/or supply in the Kenyan market. They should therefore put systems in place to ensure that the above is met and reports prepared and submitted according to the International Birth Date (IBD) for all medicines within the stated timelines as stipulated by the Board.

In addition, any foreign regulatory decisions that affect the safety or use of products marketed, donated, imported, and/or for compassionate use shall be reported to the Board within 7 calendar days through a detailed report on the same.

It is the responsibility of the QPPV to ensure that PSURs are submitted according to this guideline.

The PSURs must be prepared by the MAH at the following intervals:

- 1. Upon request
- 2. **Every 6 months** from authorization until the product is placed in the market

- 3. Every 6 months for the first two years on the market
- 4. Annually for the next two years
- 5. Thereafter **every 3 years**

The following timelines apply for the submission of PSURs:

- i. Within 70 calendar days of the DLP (Day 0) for PSURs covering intervals of 6 to 12 months
- ii. Within 90 calendar days of the DLP (Day 0) for PSURs covering intervals in excess of 12 months
- iii. Ad hoc PSURs shall be submitted upon request within 90 calendar days of the DLP, unless otherwise specified

The PSURs should emphasize on the following:

- a. Scientific evaluation of the benefit-risk profile
- b. Summaries of relevant scientific/clinical data including literature searches.
- c. In addition, please include an executive summary of any changes that may have occurred from the last submission. Classify whether these changes are major or minor. The format of the executive summary is below:

	Previous status	Current changes	Section/Page	Classification of changes (major or minor)
1.				
2.				

Please note that the reaction terms used in the report should be in accordance with the Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities (MedDRA) terminology.

6.3 Periodic Benefit-Risk Evaluation Reports

The main objective of a Periodic Benefit-Risk Evaluation report (PBRER) is to present a comprehensive, concise, and critical analysis of new or emerging information on the risks of the medical product, and on its benefit in approved indications, to enable an appraisal of the product's overall benefit-risk profile. The PBRER should contain an evaluation of new information relevant to the medical product that has become available to the MAH during the reporting interval, in the context of cumulative information by:

- 1. Summarizing relevant new safety information that could have an impact on the benefit- risk profile of the medical product
- 2. Summarizing any important new efficacy/effectiveness information that has become available during the reporting interval
- 3. Examining whether the information obtained by the MAH during the reporting interval is in accord with previous knowledge of the medical product's benefit and risk profile
- 4. Where important new safety information has emerged, conducting an integrated benefit- risk evaluation for approved indications

When appropriate, the PBRER shall include proposed action(s) to optimize the benefit-risk profile.

The PBRERs shall contain at a minimum the following;

- i. Summaries of data relevant to the benefits and risks of the medicinal product, including results of all studies with a consideration of their potential impact on the marketing authorization;
- ii. A scientific evaluation of the risk-benefit balance of the medicinal product;
- iii. All data relating to the volume of sales of the medicinal product and any data in possession of the marketing authorization holder relating to the volume of prescriptions, including an estimate of the population exposed to the medicinal product;
- iv. Collection of adverse drug reaction (ADR) information (i.e. local serious ADRs, local non-serious ADRs, foreign serious ADRs, foreign non-serious ADRs, case reports published on international or local literatures including academic conferences);
- v. A comprehensive, concise, and critical analysis of product's known or emerging important risks and to evidence of emerging important benefits including the following;

- vi. Summary of relevant new safety information that could have an impact on the benefit-risk profile of the product;
- vii. Summary of any important new efficacy/effectiveness information that has become available during the reporting interval;
- viii. Assessment of whether the information obtained by the MAH during the reporting interval is in accord with previous knowledge of the product's benefit and risk profile;
 - ix. Conducting an integrated benefit-risk evaluation for approved indications in case a new safety information that has emerged;
 - x. Recommend action(s) to optimize the benefit-risk profile.

A. Scope

The main focus of each PBRER is the evaluation of relevant new safety information from the available data sources, placed within the context of any pertinent efficacy/effectiveness information that may have become available since the IBD or the development international birth date (DIBD-the date of first authorization for the conduct of an interventional clinical trial in any country). The use of a single harmonised IBD and DLP for each product is also permissible in order to reduce the burden of work involved in preparing PBRERs.

The PBRER shall include cumulative knowledge of the product while retaining focus on new information. Any relevant information from post-marketing studies or clinical trials in unapproved indications or populations shall also be included in the PBRER.

B. Single PBRER for an Active Substance

The PBRER shall provide information on all approved indications, dosage forms and regimens for the active substance with a single DLP. In exceptional cases, for example where an active substance has been used in two formulations, for systemic and topical administration with entirely different indications, separate PBRERs shall be submitted.

C. PBRERs for Fixed-Dose Combination Product

For combinations of substances also marketed individually, information for the fixed combination can be reported either in a separate PBRER or included as separate presentations in the report for one of the individual substances, depending on the circumstances. Listing related PBRERs is considered important.

D. Products Manufactured and/or Marketed by More Than One Company

Each MAH and any other entity/company responsible for marketing and /or importation of medical products for use in the Kenyan market is responsible for submitting PBRERs for their own products.

When companies are involved in contractual relationships (e.g., licensorlicensee), respective responsibilities for preparation and submission of the PBRER to the Board should be clearly specified in the written agreement. When data received from a partner company(ies) might contribute meaningfully to the safety, benefit, and/or benefit-risk analyses and influence the reporting company's product information, these data should be included and discussed in the PBRER.

E. Benefit-Risk Evaluation

When a drug is approved for marketing, a conclusion has been reached that, when used in accordance with approved product information, its benefits outweigh its risks. As new information about the drug emerges during marketing experience, benefit-risk evaluation should be carried out to determine whether benefits continue to outweigh risks, and to consider whether steps should be taken to improve the benefit-risk balance through risk minimization activities (e.g., labeling changes, communications with prescribers, or other steps).

The QPPV shall submit PBRERs as prescribed in the current ICH guidelines, PBRER, E2C and as per the following timelines;

- 1. every 6 months for the first two years after marketing authorization; within 70 calendar days
- 2. annually for two years or thereafter annually; within 90 calendar days
- 3. thereafter every two years for products that have been marketed for

~~

several years and considered to have an established and acceptable profile or considered to be low risk; within 90 calendar days

4. ad hoc PBRERs may also be requested by the Board and shall be submitted within 90 calendar days unless specified otherwise.

The MAH should continuously evaluate whether any revision of the reference product information/Reference Safety Information (RSI) is needed whenever new safety information is obtained throughout the reporting interval. Significant changes to the reference product information/RSI made during the interval should be described in the executive summary. The format for the executive summary is as described in section 6.2 (PSUR).

- i. Changes to contraindications, warnings/precautions sections of the RSI;
- ii. Addition of Adverse Drug Reaction(s) (ADR) and interactions;
- iii. Addition of important new information on use in overdose; and
- iv. Removal of an indication or other restrictions for safety or lack of efficacy reasons.

6.4 Risk Management Plans (RMPs)

Medical products and health technologies are authorized on the basis that in the specified indication(s), at the time of authorization, the risk-benefit balance is judged to be positive for the target population. However, there may be new adverse reactions/events and risks identified after market approval.

The aim of a Risk Management Plan (RMP) is to document the risk management system (RMS) considered necessary to identify, characterize and minimize a medical product and/or health technology's important risk.

6.4.1 General principles of risk management

- The MAH shall have RMPs for their medical products and health technologies throughout their lifecycle. The RMS shall be proportionate to the identified risks and the potential risks of the medical products and health technologies the need for post-authorization safety data.
- 2. The RMP is a dynamic document that should be updated throughout the life cycle of the product(s). This includes the addition of safety concerns where

required, but also, as the safety profile is further characterized, the removal or reclassification of safety concerns to include new concerns.

- 3. The removal of safety concerns in the RMP shall be under the following circumstances:
 - i. Removal of a safety concern for important potential risks:
 - a. accumulating scientific and clinical data do not support the initial supposition, or the impact to the individual has been shown to be less than anticipated
 - b. when there is no reasonable expectation that any pharmacovigilance activity can further characterise the risk.
 - ii. Removal of a safety concern for important identified risks:
 - a. in certain circumstances, where the risk is fully characterised and appropriately managed (e.g. for products marketed for a long time for which there are no outstanding additional pharmacovigilance activities and/or the risk minimisation activities have become fully integrated into standard clinical practice such as inclusion into treatment protocols or clinical guidelines.
- iii. Removal of a safety concern for missing information:
 - a. The missing information might not be appropriate anymore once new data become available, or when there is no reasonable expectation that further feasible PV activities could further characterise the safety profile,
- 4. The risk management system shall be proportionate to the identified risks and the potential risks of the medicinal product, and the need for postauthorization safety data.

6.4.2 Risk management plan format

The MAH shall prepare and submit to the Board an RMP in the format as prescribed in **annex 13**. It should contain the following:

a. Safety Specifications: identification or characterization of the safety profile of the medical product and/or the health technology, with emphasis on

important identified and important potential risks and missing information, and also on which safety concerns need to be managed proactively or further studied (the 'safety specification');

- b. Pharmacovigilance plan: Planning of pharmacovigilance activities to characterise and quantify clinically relevant risks, and to identify new adverse reactions
- c. Risk minimisation plan: Planning and implementation of risk minimisation interventions (RMI), including the evaluation of the effectiveness of these activities.

The RMP document is expected to be submitted as one single document including all sections and annexes, as relevant.

- 1. The safety specifications in the RMP should not be a duplication of data submitted elsewhere in the dossier, unless the sections are intended to be common sections with other documents such as the PSUR. Where applicable, the information in the RMP should provide an integrated overview/ discussion focusing on the most important risks that have been identified or are anticipated based on pre-clinical, clinical and post-marketing data presented in other modules of the eCTD. Any data included in the RMP should be consistent with other sections of the dossier. Links or references to relevant sections of the non-clinical and clinical overviews and summaries should be included in the RMP. For new RMP submissions for authorized products with limited safety data in the dossier, the RMP may contain the relevant safety data and discussion.
- 2. The preliminary section of the RMP should include the following administrative information about the RMP document:
 - i. data lock point of the current RMP;
 - ii. sign off date and the version number of the RMP;
 - iii. list of all parts and modules. For RMP updates, modules version number and date of approval (opinion date) should be tabulated in this section. High level comment on the rationale for creating the update should be included for significant changes to each module;

- iv. the evidence of oversight from the qualified person for pharmacovigilance (QPPV) is not needed for versions submitted for assessment.
- 3. **Table 2** indicates where information from the eCTD is likely to be discussed in the RMP. The eCTD data refers to the submission containing the RMP (e.g. initial marketing authorization applications and major variations) or to historical data already included in the dossier with previous submissions.
- 4. In the context of a centralized procedure, the RMP should be submitted as part of an eCTD submission; however, for non-centralized procedures the RMP submission might still be part of a CTD submission.
- 5. The preliminary section of the RMP should include the following administrative information about the RMP document:
 - i. data lock point of the current RMP;
- ii. sign off date and the version number of the RMP;
- iii. list of all parts and modules. For RMP updates, modules version number and date of approval (opinion date) should be tabulated in this section. High level comment on the rationale for creating the update should be included for significant changes to each module;
- iv. the evidence of oversight from the qualified person for pharmacovigilance (QPPV) is not needed for versions submitted for assessment.
- 6. The QPPV's actual signature or the evidence that the RMP was reviewed and approved by the QPPV should be included in the finalized approved version of the document; for eCTD submissions, this would be the RMP with the last eCTD sequence of the procedure (e.g. closing sequence). The evidence of QPPV oversight can take the form of a statement that the RMP has been reviewed and approved by the marketing authorization holder/applicant's QPPV and that the electronic signature is on file.

Table 2: Mapping between KMP modules and mormation in ectib	Table	2:1	Mapping	between	RMP	modules	and	information	in	eCTD
---	-------	-----	---------	---------	-----	---------	-----	-------------	----	------

RMP	eCTD				
Part I Active substance information	Module 2.3 Quality overall summary				
	Module 3 Quality				
Part II Safety specification Module SI Epidemiology of the indication and target population	Module 2.5 Clinical overview Part IV (SMPC)*				
Module SII Non-clinical part of safety specification	Module 2.4 Non-clinical overview Module 2.6 Non-clinical written and tabulated summaries Module 4 Non-clinical study reports				
Module SIII Clinical trial exposure	Module 2.7 Clinical summary briefly Module 5 Clinical Study reports				
Module SIV Populations not studied in clinical trials	Module 2.5 Clinical overview				
Module SV Post authorization experience	Module 2.5 Clinical overview briefly				
Module SVII Identified and potential risks	Module 2.5 Clinical overview (including benefit risk conclusion) Module 2.7 Clinical summary Part IV (SmPC)*				
Module SVIII Summary of the safety concerns	Module 2.5 Clinical overview Module 2.7 Clinical summary				
Part III Pharmacovigilance activities	Module 2.5 Clinical overview Module 2.7 Clinical summary				
Part IV Plans for post authorization efficacy studies (including presentation of efficacy data)	Module 2.5 Clinical overview Module 2.7 Clinical summary				
Part V Risk minimization measures	Module 2.5 Clinical overview Module 2.7 Clinical summary				

*Guidelines on medicines evaluation and registration (PPB/PER/MED/GUD/016)

6.4.3 Kenya Specific Annex to the global RMP

Where an existing global RMP or EU-RMP is submitted, the MAH shall also include the Kenya Specific Annex to it. The Kenya Specific Annex should provide Kenya specific information that is important in assessing the 'risk' in Kenya (and therefore appropriateness of proposed plans/activities), the relevance of pharmacovigilance and risk minimization activities in Kenya, and identify and explain the reasons for any differences with activities planned in the EU.

6.4.4 Format for the Kenya Specific Annex

The Kenya Specific Annex shall be submitted in the following format:

- 6.4.4.1 *Introduction* Purpose of the Kenya Specific Annex
- **6.4.4.2** *Pharmacovigilance plan* Routine pharmacovigilance practices in Kenya and studies referenced in the RMP. Describe the involvement of Kenya and the applicability of global studies to the Kenyan environment/population, or if not applicable or relevant to the Kenyan environment, include a justification.
- **6.4.4.3** *Risk minimization plan* Address how risk minimization activities will be implemented and evaluated in Kenya. If surveys or studies are referenced in the Kenya Specific Annex copies of protocols should be provided. Provide a justification if activities in the EU are not to be implemented in Kenya. Indicate how and when evaluation of risk minimization activities, including educational activities, will be undertaken. Marketing Authorization Holders are responsible for showing that the measures they are using to mitigate risk are working and, if not, what actions they will take to ensure effectiveness.
- **6.4.4.4** *Contact person for RMP* The qualified person for Pharmacovigilance shall be responsible for the implementation of the RMP activities in Kenya.

All RMPs submitted shall be accompanied by a declaration signed by the QPPV (Annex 13). The declaration shall indicate that the QPPV has read the RMP and will ensure implementation of all activities outlined in the RMP.

6.4.5 Medical devices, in-vitro diagnostics and other health technologies risk management

The manufacturer shall establish, document and maintain throughout the lifecycle an ongoing process for identifying hazards associated with a medical device, estimating and evaluating the associated risks, controlling these risks, and monitoring the effectiveness of the controls. This process shall include the following elements:

- i. risk analysis;
- ii. risk evaluation;
- iii. risk control;
- iv. production and post-production information.

The risk management procedures shall be directly linked to the manufacturer's post-marketing surveillance procedures and shall focus on controlling and mitigating risks. Details on risk management activities shall be as described in the current ISO 14971:2007-Medical Device Risk Management Standard.

- Manufacturers shall plan and perform internal quality audits to verify whether risk management activities and related results comply with planned and established procedures. The internal audits should ensure the continued effectiveness of the risk management system. Risk management activities should begin as early as possible in the design and development phase, when it is easier to prevent problems.
- 2. If at any time, a risk is determined to be unacceptable, the existing risk analysis should be re-examined and appropriate action taken to meet the risk acceptability criteria. If a new hazard is identified, four phases of risk management shall be performed.
- 3. After release of the device to market, risk management activities should be linked to quality management processes, for example, production and process controls, corrective and preventive actions (CAPA), servicing and customer feedback.
- 4. Risk management plan
- a. Risk management planning shall be in the span of the entire life cycle of a device. The plan shall include the following:

- i. Scope of the plan, device and the life cycle phases
- ii. Design development process
- iii. Risk management activities and methods
- iv. Verification plan for risk control measures
- v. Reviews
- vi. Allocation of responsibilities
- vii. Criteria for risk acceptability
- b. The following risk management activities shall be included plan;
 - i. Establishment of risk acceptability criteria
 - ii. Risk analysis
 - iii. Hazard Identification
 - iv. Risk analysis methods
- c. The following tools shall be considered for analysis and validation risk management;
 - i. Preliminary Hazards Analysis (PHA)
 - ii. Fault Tree Analysis (FTA)
 - iii. Failure Mode Effect Analysis (FMEA)
 - iv. Failure Mode Effect and Criticality Analysis (FMECA)
 - v. Hazard and Operability Study (HAZOP)
 - vi. Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point (HACCP)
 - vii. Risk evaluation including; Risk benefit analysis, Assessment of risks and Assessment of benefits.
 - viii. Risk control and monitoring
- d. Risk control activities may begin as early as design input and continue through the design and development process, manufacturing, distribution, installation, servicing and throughout the medical device life cycle.
- e. Risk control measures may be examined in the following order:
 - i. inherent safety by design;
 - ii. Protective measures in the device or its manufacture;
 - iii. Information for safety, such as warnings, etc.
 - iv. Overall risk evaluation

- 5. User-related hazards risk management
- Manufacturer shall undertake efforts to control user-related hazards. The goal is to minimize use-related hazards, assure that intended users are able to use medical devices safely and effectively throughout the product life cycle. Risk Management will help to identify, understand, control and prevent failures that can result in-hazards when people use medical devices.
- b. The following hazards typically should be considered in risk analysis: chemical hazards (e.g., toxic chemicals), Mechanical hazard (e.g., kinetic or potential energy from a moving object), thermal hazards (e.g., high temperature components), and electrical hazards (e.g., electrical shock, electromagnetic interference (EMI), and radiation hazards (e.g. ionizing and non-ionizing) and biological hazards (e.g., allergic reactions, bioincompatibility and infection).
- c. Thorough consideration of use-related hazards in risk management processes shall include the following tasks:
 - i. identify and describe use-related hazards through analysis of existing information
 - Apply empirical approaches using representative device users, to identify and describe hazards that do not lend themselves to identification or understanding through analytic approaches,
 - iii. Estimate the risk of each use-related hazard scenario.
 - iv. Develop strategies and controls to reduce the likelihood or mitigate the consequences of use-related hazard scenarios.
 - v. Select and implement control strategies.
 - vi. Ensure controls are appropriate and effective in reducing risk,
 - vii. Determine if new hazards have been introduced as a result of implementing control strategies,
- viii. Verify that functional and operational requirements are met, and
 - ix. Validate safe and effective device use.
- 6. Human factors shall be considered in user device risk management. Human Factors engineering considerations and approaches should be incorporated

into the design and risk management processes/activities in the following essential steps:

- i. Identify anticipated (derived analytically) and unanticipated (derived empirically) user related hazards.
- Describe how hazardous use scenarios occur (Prioritize and assess risks of use-related hazards).
- iii. Develop, mitigate and verify strategies to control use-related hazards Use-related hazards often require a combination of mitigation and control strategies.
- 7. Strategies to control or mitigate risks of use-related hazards shall include but not limited to the following:
 - i. Modify device design to remove hazard or reduce its consequences:
 - ii. Make user interface, including operating logic, error tolerant (safety features):
 - iii. Alert users to the hazard.
 - iv. Develop written procedures and training for safe operation.
 - v. Determine if the risks related to device use are acceptable and determine if new hazards have been introduced.
 - vi. Demonstrate safe and effective device use (validation).
- 8. Documentation of Risk management activities

Design and development activities targeted at controlling risks shall be supported by documentation. Documents or records resulting from risk management activities such as risk management procedures, reports, etc. shall be maintained or referenced in either a risk management file or other appropriate files (e.g., Design History File, Technical File/Technical Documentation, Design Dossier, Device Master Record, Device History Record, or Process Validation file.

9. Traceability

Risk management data shall be utilized to define which devices, components, materials and work environment conditions require traceability. Risk

management activities shall be used to establish criteria for traceability. Points to be considered include:

- i. Origin of components and materials;
- ii. Processing history;
- iii. Distribution and location of the device after delivery (to the first consignee);
- iv. intended use of the device (i.e., life sustaining, life supporting, or implantable);
- v. Probability of failure;
- vi. Need for safety related updates (i.e. recalls, advisory notices, field updates, etc.);
- vii. Consequence of the failure for patients, users or other persons.

The records required for traceability shall consider all those devices, components, materials and work environment conditions, which could cause the medical device not to satisfy its specified requirements including its safety requirements.

6.4.6 Risk minimization measures

Risk minimization measures are interventions intended to prevent or reduce the occurrence of adverse reactions associated with the exposure to a medicine, or to reduce their severity or impact on the patient should adverse reactions occur. Planning and implementing risk minimization measures and assessing their effectiveness are key elements of risk management.

Risk minimization measures may consist of routine risk minimization or additional risk minimization measures. Safety concerns of a medicinal product are normally adequately addressed by routine risk minimization measures in the risk management plan. In exceptional cases however, routine risk minimization measures will not be sufficient for some risks and additional risk minimization measures will be necessary to manage the risk and/or improve the risk-benefit balance of a medicinal product.

The MAHs through the QPPV shall submit RMPs to the Board for all new

chemical entities or new medicine combinations, biologics and biosimilars in addition to the following conditions:

- 1. at the time of application for a marketing authorization
- 2. at the request of the Board whenever there is a concern about a risk affecting the benefit-risk balance of a medicine.
- 3. When an important pharmacovigilance or risk-minimization milestone being reached.
- 4. When there are changes to the safety specifications or risk management system

6.5 Pharmacovigilance system master file (PSMF)

The objective of the Pharmacovigilance system master file (PSMF) is to provide an overview of the pharmacovigilance system, which may be requested and assessed by the Board during marketing authorization application(s) or post market authorization. It shall also contribute to the appropriate planning and conduct of audits by the applicant or marketing authorizations holder(s), the fulfilment of supervisory responsibilities of the QPPV, and of inspections or other verification of compliance by the Board. The format and layout of the PSMF is outlined in **annex 14**.

Through the development and maintenance of the PSMF, the marketing authorization holder and the QPPV shall be able to:

- i. gain assurance that a pharmacovigilance system has been implemented in accordance with the requirements;
- ii. confirm aspects of compliance in relation to the system;
- iii. obtain information about deficiencies in the system, or non-compliance with the requirements;
- iv. Obtain information about risks or actual failure in the conduct of specific aspects of pharmacovigilance.

Pharmaceutical companies including the MAHs, LTRs (where the MAH is not within Kenya) and parallel importers shall be required to maintain and make available a pharmacovigilance system master file (PSMF) upon request by the Board.

- 1. The PSMF shall be located either at the site where the main pharmacovigilance activities of the MAH are performed or at the site where the qualified person responsible for pharmacovigilance operates.
- 2. The PSMF shall be continuously accessible to the QPPV and to the Board on request. The information shall be concise, accurate and reflect the current system in place, which means that whatever format is used, it must be possible to keep the information up to date and, when necessary, to revise to take account of experience gained, technical and scientific progress and amendments to the legislative requirements.
- 3. Marketing authorization holders should be aware that immediate access to the PSMF may also be required by the Board, at the stated PSMF location or QPPV site (if different).
- 4. The MAH shall maintain both the global PSMF (which follows the EMA format) and the sub-system which describes key elements of PV activities in Kenya both permanently and readily available to the QPPV and the Board at request.
- 5. The PSMF shall describe the pharmacovigilance system for one or more medical products of the MAH. For different categories of medical products, the MAH may, if appropriate, apply separate pharmacovigilance systems. Each such system shall be described in a separate addendum within the PSMF.
- 6. Where a single MAH establishes more than one pharmacovigilance system e.g. specific systems for particular types of products (vaccines, consumer health, etc.), or that the pharmacovigilance system may include products from more than one MAH, a specific PSMF shall be in place to describe each system. A single QPPV shall be appointed to be responsible for the establishment and maintenance of the pharmacovigilance system described in the PSMF.

- 7. Where a pharmacovigilance system is shared by several MAHs each MAH is responsible for ensuring that a PSMF exists to describe the pharmacovigilance system applicable for their products. For a particular product(s) the MAH may delegate through written agreement (e.g. to a licensing partner or contractor) part or all of the pharmacovigilance activity for which the MAH is responsible.
- 8. In this case, the PSMF of the marketing authorization holder may cross refer to all or part of the PSMF managed by the system of the party to whom the activity has been delegated subject to agreement on access to that system's information for the MAH and the authorities. Where applicable, a list of all PSMFs held by the same MAH holder shall be provided in the annex, this includes their location(s), details of the responsible QPPV(s) and the relevant product(s). Submission of summary information to the Board cannot contain multiple locations for a single PSMF.
- 9. When delegating any activities concerning the pharmacovigilance system and its master file, the MAH shall retain the ultimate responsibility for the pharmacovigilance system, submission of information about the PSMF location, maintenance of the PSMF and its provision to the Board upon request. Detailed written agreements describing the roles and responsibilities for PSMF content, submissions and management, as well as to govern the conduct of pharmacovigilance in accordance with the legal requirements, should be in place.
- 10. When a pharmacovigilance system is shared, it is advised that the partners agree on how to mutually maintain the relevant sections within their own PSMFs. Accessibility of the PSMF to all the applicable MAH(s), and its provision to the Board should be defined in written agreements. It is vital that MAH(s) can gain assurance that the pharmacovigilance system used for its products is appropriate and compliant.
- 11. The PSMF shall be kept up to date and be permanently available to the

QPPV. It shall also be permanently available for inspection, at the site where it is kept, irrespective of whether the inspection has been notified in advance or is unannounced.

12. The marketing authorization holder shall maintain and make available on request a copy of the PSMF. The marketing authorization holder must submit the copy not later than 7 days after receipt of the request from the Board. The PSMF should be submitted in a readable electronic format or clearly arranged printed copy.

6.5.1 Document and record control

- 1. The PSMF shall contain a general description of the types of documents used in pharmacovigilance (standards, operating procedures, work instructions etc..), the applicability of the various documents at global, regional or local level within the organization, and the controls that are applied to their accessibility, implementation and maintenance.
- 2. Information about the documentation systems applied to relevant procedural documents under the control of third parties.
- 3. A list of specific procedures and processes related to the pharmacovigilance activities and interfaces with other functions, with details of how the procedures can be accessed must be provided and the detailed guidance.

6.5.2 Audit

1. Information about quality assurance auditing of the pharmacovigilance system shall be included in the PSMF. A description of the approach used to plan audits of the pharmacovigilance system and the reporting mechanism and timelines should be provided, with a current list of the scheduled and completed audits concerning the pharmacovigilance system maintained in the annex. This list should describe the date(s) (of conduct and of report), scope and completion status of audits of service providers, specific pharmacovigilance activities or sites undertaking pharmacovigilance and their operational interfaces and cover a rolling 5-year period.

53

The PSMF shall also contain a note associated with any audit where significant findings are raised. The audit report must be documented within the quality system; in the PSMF it is sufficient to provide a brief description of the corrective and/or preventative action(s) associated with the significant finding, the date it was identified and the anticipated resolution date(s), with cross reference to the audit report and the documented corrective and preventative action plan(s),the PSMF should also describe the process for recording, managing and resolving deviations from the quality system; pharmacovigilance procedures, their impact and management until resolved. Audit trail should also allow traceability of how validated signals have been investigated.

6.5.3 Marketing authorization and maintenance

- 1. A summary of the applicant's pharmacovigilance system shall be included in the marketing authorization application, which shall include the following in the dossier:
 - i. proof that the applicant has a designated qualified person responsible for pharmacovigilance;
 - ii. the contact details of the qualified person;
 - iii. a statement signed by the applicant to the effect that the applicant has the necessary means to fulfil the tasks and responsibilities;
 - iv. A reference to the location where the PSMF for the medicinal product is kept.
 - v. Pharmacovigilance plan
- 2. The pharmacovigilance system may change with time. Changes of activities concerning the master file shall be documented and managed to ensure that the marketing authorization holder fulfils their responsibilities. Changes to the PSMF shall be notified to the QPPV. The types of changes that should be routinely and promptly notified to the QPPV are:
 - i. Updates to the PSMF or its location that are notified to the Board;
- ii. The addition of corrective and/or preventative actions to the PSMF (e.g. following audits and inspections).
- iii. Changes to content that fulfil the criteria for appropriate oversight of the pharmacovigilance system (in terms of capacity, functioning and compliance);
- iv. Changes in arrangements for the provision of the PSMF to the Board;
- v. Transfer of significant services for pharmacovigilance to a third party (e.g. outsourcing of PSUR production);
- vi. Inclusion of products into the pharmacovigilance system for which the QPPV is responsible;
- vii. Changes for existing products which may require a change or increased workload in relation to pharmacovigilance activity e.g. new indications, studies or the addition of regions.
- 3. Following the transfer of responsibilities, the recipient QPPV shall explicitly accept the transfer of responsibility for a pharmacovigilance system in writing. The QPPV should be in a position to ensure and to verify that the information contained in the PSMF is an accurate and up to date reflection of the pharmacovigilance system under his/her responsibility.
- 4. The MAHs shall submit information about important changes to the pharmacovigilance system including:
 - i. Changes to the pharmacovigilance safety database(s), which could include a change in the database itself or associated databases, the validation status of the database as well as information about transferred or migrated data;
 - ii. Changes in the provision of significant services for pharmacovigilance, especially major contractual arrangements concerning the reporting of safety data;
 - iii. Organisational changes, such as takeovers, mergers, and the sites at which pharmacovigilance is conducted or the delegation/transfer of PSMF management.
 - iv. Changes to the PSMF should be recorded, such that a history of changes

is available (specifying the date and the nature of the change), changes to the PSMF must be recorded in the logbook. A record of the date and nature of notifications of the changes made available to the competent authorities, the QPPV and relevant third parties should be kept in order to ensure that change control is fully implemented.

v. As a basis for audit and inspections, the PSMF provides a description of the pharmacovigilance system at the current time, but the functioning and scope of the pharmacovigilance system in the past may need to be understood.

6.6 Pharmacovigilance Planning

This section describes methods for summarizing the important identified risks of medical products, important potential risks, and important missing information, including the potentially at-risk populations and situations where the products are likely to be used that have not been studied preapproval. It proposes a structure for a pharmacovigilance plan and sets out principles of good practice for the design and conduct of observational studies.

6.6.1 Scope

Pharmacovigilance planning shall be useful for new medical products and health technologies as well as for significant changes in established products (e.g., new dosage form, new route of administration, or new manufacturing process for a biotechnology-derived product) and for established products that are to be introduced to new populations or in significant new indications or where a new major safety concern has arisen.

6.6.2 Safety specifications

The safety specification shall provide a summary of the important identified risks of a drug, important potential risks, and important missing information. it shall also address the populations potentially at-risk, and outstanding safety questions that warrant further investigation to refine understanding of the benefit-risk profile during the post approval period.

The safety specification can be built initially during the premarketing phase and, at the time approval is sought, it shall reflect the status of issues that were being followed during development. The elements of the Safety Specifications: shall be as prescribed in ICH E2E PV planning guideline.

6.6.3 Pharmacovigilance plan

This section gives guidance on the structure of a pharmacovigilance plan. The plan shall be developed by the sponsor and will be discussed with the Board during product development, prior to approval (i.e., when the marketing application is submitted) of a new product, or when a safety concern arises post marketing.

The structure for the pharmacovigilance plan can be varied depending on the product in question and the issues identified in the safety specification. The structure shall contain the following:

- i. Summary of Ongoing Safety issues
- ii. Routine Pharmacovigilance Practice
- iii. Action Plan for Safety issues
- iv. Summary of Actions to be completed, including milestones

The structure and details regarding PV plan shall be as prescribed in current version of ICH E2E Pharmacovigilance planning guideline.

6.6.4 Pharmacovigilance methods

The methods to address specific situations can vary, depending on the product, the indication, the population being treated and the issue to be addressed. The method chosen can also depend on whether an identified risk, potential risk, or missing information is the issue and whether signal detection, evaluation, or safety demonstration is the main objective of further study. When choosing a method to address a safety concern, sponsors shall employ the most.

The PV methods include passive and active surveillance. The sponsors/MAHs shall use the most up-to-date methods that are relevant and applicable.

6.7 Case reports from published scientific literature

The authorized representative or MAH shall report published suspected ADRs/events related to the active substance(s) of their medical products,

occurring in and outside Kenya. A copy of the relevant published article should be provided.

The ADR report shall be completed for each identifiable patient (with an identifiable adverse drug reaction) and submitted to the Board.

If more than one medicine is mentioned in the literature report, only the MAH whose medicine is suspected of being the cause is required to submit a report. The suspect medicine is usually the one stated as such in the body or title of the article by the author(s).

6.8 Post-Authorization Safety Studies

A post-authorization safety study (PASS) is any study relating to an authorized medical product and health technologies conducted with the aim of identifying, characterizing or quantifying a safety hazard, confirming the safety profile of the medical product, or of measuring the effectiveness of risk management measures.

A PASS may be interventional or non-interventional. This guideline will be for both interventional and non-interventional PASS, with a main focus on noninterventional studies. If a PASS is interventional, then the guidelines for conduct of clinical trials in Kenya shall be applicable.

6.8.1 General Requirements

The Board shall require MAHs to conduct post-authorization studies on safety and on efficacy as a condition at the time of the granting of the marketing authorization or later.

The obligation shall be notified in writing and shall include the objectives and timeframe for the submission and conduct of the study. The request may also include recommendations on key elements of the study (e.g. study design, setting, exposure(s), outcome(s), and study population).

A marketing authorization may be granted subject to the conduct of a PASS. The

need for a PASS could be identified by the Board during a post authorization procedure, for example, an extension or a variation to a marketing authorization, a renewal procedure or a PSUR procedure.

- 1. The non-interventional PASS can be imposed due to the following concerns;
 - i. imposed as an obligation in accordance with Risk Management Plans stipulated in this guideline because they are key to the risk-benefit profile of the product (Category 1 studies in the pharmacovigilance plan);
 - ii. Imposed as a specific obligation in the framework of a marketing authorization granted under exceptional circumstances (Category 2 studies in the pharmacovigilance plan);
- iii. Required in the risk management plan (RMP) to investigate a safety concern or to evaluate the effectiveness of risk minimization activities (Category 3 studies in the pharmacovigilance plan). Such studies included in the pharmacovigilance plan are also legally enforceable.
- 2. A study shall be classified as a post-authorization safety study when the main aim for initiating the study includes any but not limited to the following objectives:
 - i. To quantify potential or identified risks, e.g. to characterize the incidence rate, estimate the rate ratio or rate difference in comparison to a nonexposed population or a population exposed to another medicinal product or class of medicinal
 - ii. products as appropriate, and investigate risk factors, including effect modifiers;
 - iii. To evaluate the risks of a medicinal product used in a patient population for which safety information is limited or missing (e.g. pregnant women, specific age groups, patients with renal or hepatic impairment or other relevant comorbidity or co-medication);
 - iv. To evaluate the risks of a medical product after long-term use;
 - v. To provide evidence about the absence of risks;
 - vi. To assess patterns of drug utilization that add knowledge regarding the safety of the medicinal product or the effectiveness of a risk management

measure (e.g. collection of information on indication, off-label use, dosage, co-medication or medication errors in clinical practice that may influence safety, as well as studies that provide an estimate of the public health impact of any safety concern);

- vii. To measure the effectiveness of a risk management measures.
- 3. The classification of a post-authorization study as a PASS is not constrained by the type of design chosen. For example, a systematic literature review or a meta-analysis may be considered as PASS depending on its aim.
- 4. The Market Authorization Holder shall develop study protocols, the conduct of studies and the writing of study reports by considering relevant scientific guidance.

6.8.2 Application procedure for PASS

The application form to be used and registration procedures shall be as described in the Guidelines for the conduct of clinical trials in Kenya. The MAH shall be required to state in the application form that the study is PASS and provide justification as to why it is not a clinical trial.

- 1. The MAH shall be required to submit to the Board, the PASS study protocol for review and approval. The study protocol should be developed by individuals with appropriate scientific background and experience. Guidance for the format and content of the protocol of non-interventional post authorization safety studies shall be as prescribed in **annex 15** of these guidelines.
- 2. The qualified person responsible for pharmacovigilance (QPPV) or his/her delegate should be involved in the review and sign-off of study protocols required in the risk management plan to ensure compliance of the marketing authorization holder with its pharmacovigilance obligations.
- 3. Information on studies conducted pursuant to an obligation imposed by the Board shall be included in the risk management plan.
- 4. Non-interventional PASS shall be registered in the Board's clinical trials registry or any recognized clinical trials registry by the Board before the study

commences or at the earliest possible date, for example if data collection had already started for a study included in the risk management plan.

- 5. Pre-submission meetings might be requested from the Board in order to clarify specific aspects of the requested study and to facilitate the development of the protocol in accordance with the objectives.
- 6. The Board shall from time to time conduct its own post marketing surveillance studies if deemed relevant to determine safety, quality and effectiveness of the products placed on the market.

6.8.3 Study conduct

- 1. The study shall commence only when the written authorization from the Board has been issued.
- 2. Non-interventional PASS shall be initiated, managed or financed by a marketing authorization holder voluntarily or pursuant to imposed obligations by the Board.
- 3. The marketing authorization holder shall ensure the fulfilment of its pharmacovigilance obligations in relation to the study and that this can be audited, inspected and verified.
- 4. The code of conduct shall address;
 - Rationale, main objectives and brief description of the intended methods of the research to be carried out by the investigator(s);
 - Rights and obligations of the investigator(s) and marketing authorization holder;
 - iii. Clear assignment of tasks and responsibilities;
 - iv. Procedure for achieving agreement on the study protocol;
 - v. Provisions for meeting the marketing authorization holder's pharmacovigilance obligations, including the reporting of adverse reactions and other safety data by investigators, where applicable;
 - vi. intellectual property rights arising from the study and access to study data;
 - vii. Storage and availability of analytical dataset and statistical programs for audit and inspection;
 - viii. Communication strategy for the scheduled progress and final reports;
 - ix. Publication strategy of interim and final results.

- 5. The marketing authorization holder should ensure that the investigators are qualified by education, training and experience to perform their tasks.
- 6. Agreements between the marketing authorization holder and the investigators shall follow the Board's contractual requirements.
- 7. Non-interventional post-authorization safety studies shall not be performed where the act of conducting the study promotes the use of a medical product. This requirement applies to all studies and to all activities performed in the study, including for studies conducted by the personnel of the marketing authorization holder and by third parties on behalf of the marketing authorization holder.
- 8. Payments to healthcare professionals for participating in non-interventional studies shall be restricted to compensation for time and expenses incurred.

6.8.4 Submission of study reports

- 1. Biannual progress reports on PASS studies shall be submitted to the Board whether it was a requirement or conducted voluntarily.
- 2. The Board may request progress report before the study commences or any time during the study conduct depending on the communication of riskbenefit information arising from the study or the need for information about the study progress in the context of the Board's procedures or important safety communication about the product.
- 3. The progress report shall include relevant information to document the progress of the study, such as the number of patients who have entered the study, the number of exposed patients or the number of patients presenting the outcome, problems encountered and deviations from the expected plan. The progress report may include an interim report of study results.
- 4. An interim report submitted shall include study results of any planned interim analysis of study data before or after the end of data collection.
- The final study report including a public abstract shall be submitted to the Board as soon as possible and not later than 12 months after the end of data collection. The content of the final study report shall be as described in (annex 16) of this guideline.

6.8.5 Reporting of safety and risk-benefit balance data

- 1. The marketing authorization holder shall monitor the data generated while the study is being conducted and consider their implications for the riskbenefit balance of the product concerned.
- 2. Any new information that may affect the risk-benefit balance of the product shall be communicated immediately within 14 calendar days in writing as an emerging safety issue to the Board. The reporting shall be as per expedited reporting requirements described in section (reporting of event) of these guidelines.
- 3. Information affecting the risk-benefit balance of the medical products and health technology may include an analysis of adverse reactions and aggregated data.
- 4. This communication is without prejudice of the information on the findings of studies which shall be provided by means of periodic safety update reports (PSURs/PBRERs) described in this guideline.
- 5. Individual cases of suspected adverse reactions and Serious Adverse Events that arise from the studies shall be reported to the Board in accordance to this guideline and that for conduct of clinical trials in Kenya
- 6. Adverse events/reactions collected in studies with primary data collection shall be recorded and summarized in the interim safety analysis and in the final study report.
- 7. Adverse events/reactions collected in studies with secondary data collection shall be recorded and summarized in the interim safety analysis and in the final study report unless the protocol provides for different reporting with a due justification.
- 8. Procedures for the collection, management (including a review by the marketing authorization holder if appropriate) and reporting of suspected adverse reactions/events shall be put in place and summarized in the study protocol. if appropriate, reference can be made to the pharmacovigilance system master file but details specific to the study shall be described in the study protocol.

6.8.6 Amendments to the study protocol

- 1. The study protocol shall be amended and updated as needed throughout the course of the study.
- 2. Any substantial amendments to the protocol after the study start shall be documented in the protocol in a traceable and auditable way including the dates of the changes.
- 3. If changes to the protocol lead to the study being considered an interventional clinical trial, the Board shall be informed immediately and approval shall be obtained.
- 4. Application for amendment shall be as prescribed in the Board's regulations and Guidelines for conduct of clinical trials in Kenya.

6.8.7 Publication

- 1. The MAH and the investigator shall agree in advance on a publication policy allowing the principal investigator to independently prepare publications based on the study results irrespective of data ownership.
- 2. The MAH shall be entitled to view the results and interpretations included in the manuscript and provide comments prior to submission of the manuscript for publication.
- 3. The MAH initiating, managing or financing a non-interventional PASS shall communicate to the Board, the final manuscript of the article within two weeks prior to submission for publication in order to allow the Board to review in advance the results and interpretations to be published.
- 4. A public abstract prior to any publishing must be approved by the Board, two(2) months prior to submitting the draft to the publisher.

6.9 Clinical trials

The following apply to reporting of adverse events in clinical trials by investigators and sponsors.

- 1. All SUSARs occurring in clinical trials being conducted in Kenya or occurring in the same clinical trial in a third country should be reported by the sponsor to PPB.
- 2. All SUSARs related to the same active substance (regardless of pharmaceutical form and strength or indication investigated) in a clinical trial performed exclusively in a third country should be reported by the sponsor to PPB.
- 3. Initial Fatal or Life threatening SUSARs should be reported by the sponsor as soon as possible and in any case no later than seven days after being made aware of the case. If the initial report is incomplete, e.g. if the sponsor has not provided all the information/assessment within seven days, the sponsor is to submit a completed report based on the initial information within an additional eight days.
- 4. SUSARs which are not fatal and not life-threatening are to be reported within 15 days.
- 5. The SUSARs to be reported include;
 - a. SUSARs which occur within the concerned trial
 - b. SUSARs which occur outside the concerned trial
- 6. The SUSAR and SAE reports shall also be submitted to the Board through the online system at <u>www.ctr.pharmacyboardkenya.org</u>
- 7. In addition to the expedited reporting, sponsors shall submit, once a year (from the date of authorization of the clinical trials) and throughout the clinical trial or on request a safety report to PPB, taking into account all new available safety information received during the reporting period. The aim of the annual safety report is to describe concisely all new safety information relevant for one or several clinical trial(s) and to assess the safety conditions of participants included in the concerned trial(s).
- 8. The safety report shall include a Log of SAEs and SUSARs.
- 9. The SUSAR/SAE Log should include: Patient ID, Age, Date of recruitment into the study, Type of SUSAR/SAE, Start date of the SUSAR/SAE, End date of the SUSAR/SAE, Reason for reporting the event as a SUSAR/SAE, Relation to investigational drug, Outcome of the SUSAR/SAE
- 10. The sponsor shall notify all the investigators involved in ongoing clinical

trials of the investigational medicinal product of all SUSARs within 15 calendar days

- 11. Initial Serious or fatal reactions (local) shall be reported within seven days and follow up reports submitted afterwards within eight days of the initial report
- 12. Any serious adverse event to the investigational product shall receive immediate medical attention.
- 13. The SAE report form shall be completed and detailed information such as laboratory results submitted to enable causality assessment.
- 14. All fatal cases shall be accompanied by a formal autopsy report where available.
- 15. In exceptional circumstances where a formal autopsy is not practicable, provision of a verbal autopsy report shall be submitted.
- 16. The Principal Investigator is required to submit follow-up information as soon as it becomes available.
- 17. Additional information may include copies of diagnostic test results, laboratory reports, or medical record progress notes.
- All additional information should be clearly marked as update information and should include the Protocol Number and Participant Number.
- 19. Foreign regulatory decisions that affect the safety or use of the product under study shall be reported to PPB within seven days through a detailed report
- 20. Literature reports that affect the safety of the product under study shall be submitted within fifteen days thorough a detailed report and a copy of the publication
- 21. New information or notification of change in nature, severity or frequency of risk factors for the product under study or conduct of trial shall be submitted within fifteen days.
- 22. NB; Notwithstanding the above, the Board may require more frequent reporting of the safety reports depending on the nature of the clinical trial being implemented. This if required, shall be communicated to the PI and or sponsor in writing.

7. Pharmacovigilance inspections and self-audits

To ensure that MAHs and manufacturers comply with pharmacovigilance regulatory obligations and to facilitate compliance, the Board shall conduct Pharmacovigilance (PV) inspections of the companies whose products have been granted marketing authorization in Kenya.

The objectives of the PV inspections include:

- i. to determine that the marketing authorization holder has personnel, systems and facilities in place to meet their pharmacovigilance obligations;
- ii. to identify, record and address non-compliance which may pose a risk to public health;
- to use the inspection results as a basis for regulatory/enforcement action, where considered necessary.

Any part carrying out Pharmacovigilance activities in whole or in part, on behalf of, or in conjunction with the MAH shall be inspected, in order to confirm their capability to support the marketing authorization holder's compliance with pharmacovigilance requirements.

7.1 Inspection types

Pre-authorization and post-authorization pharmacovigilance inspections shall be determined by the Board. The types of post-authorization pharmacovigilance inspections are as follows:

7.1.1 Routine inspections

Routine pharmacovigilance inspections shall be scheduled in advance as part of inspection programmes. The frequency of routine inspections may also be performed on case to case basis depending on other considerations like risk analysis criteria. The MAH or manufacturer shall be notified of the planned inspection in 14 calendar days in advance. This is to ensure adequate preparation and availability of relevant individuals at the sites to be inspected. Occasionally, the Board may give a short notice when the inspection is conducted in a short timeframe due to urgent safety reasons.

7.1.2 Pharmacovigilance System and product-related inspections

The Board shall conduct Pharmacovigilance system inspections. These are designed to review the procedures, systems, personnel, and facilities in place and determine their compliance with the Board pharmacovigilance requirements. As part of this review, product specific examples may be used to demonstrate the operation of the pharmacovigilance system.

Product-related pharmacovigilance inspections by the Board shall primarily focus on product-related pharmacovigilance issues, including product-specific activities and documentation, rather than a general system review. Some aspects of the general system may still be examined as part of a product-related inspection (e.g. the system used for that product).

7.1.3 Investigative or "for cause" inspections

The Board may also conduct investigative or "for cause" inspections when a trigger is recognized, and an inspection is considered an appropriate way to examine the issues. These inspections shall focus on specific pharmacovigilance processes or include an examination of identified compliance issues and their impact for a specific product. However, full system inspections may also be performed resulting from a trigger. These inspections may arise when, for example, one or more of the triggers listed below are identified:

a. Risk-benefit balance of the product:

- i. Change in the risk-benefit balance where further examination through an inspection is considered appropriate;
- Delays or failure to identify or communicate a risk or a change in the riskbenefit balance;
- iii. Communication of information on pharmacovigilance concerns to the general public without giving prior or simultaneous notification to the Board, as applicable;
- iv. Non-compliance or product safety issues identified during the monitoring of pharmacovigilance activities by the Board
- v. Suspension or product withdrawal with no advance notice to the Board

- b. Reporting obligations (expedited and periodic):
 - i. Delays or omissions in reporting;
 - ii. Poor quality or incomplete reports;
 - iii. Inconsistencies between reports and other information sources;
- c. Requests from the Board
 - i. Failure to provide the requested information or data within the deadline specified by the Board;
 - ii. Poor quality or inadequate provision of data to fulfil requests for information from the Board:
- d. Fulfilment of commitments:
 - i. Concerns about the status or fulfilment of risk management plan (RMP) commitments;
 - ii. Delays or failure to carry out specific obligations relating to the monitoring of product safety, identified at the time of the marketing authorization;
 - iii. Poor quality of reports requested as specific obligations; inspections:
 - iv. Delays in the implementation or inappropriate implementation of corrective and preventive actions;
 - v. Information such as non-compliance or product safety issues from other types of inspections (GCP, GMP, GLP and GDP)
 - vi. Inspection information received from other medicine regulatory authorities, which may highlight issues of non-compliance; others:
- vii. Concerns following review of the pharmacovigilance system master file;
- viii. Non-inspection related information received from other authorities, which may highlight issues of non-compliance;
 - ix. Other sources of information or complaints.

7.1.4 Re-inspections

Re-inspection shall take place where significant non-compliance has been identified and where it is necessary to verify actions taken to address findings and to evaluate ongoing compliance with the obligations, including evaluation of changes in the pharmacovigilance system. Re-inspection may be conducted due to the failure to implement appropriate corrective and preventive actions in response to a previous inspection.

7.1.5 Remote inspections

These pharmacovigilance inspections shall be performed by inspectors remote from the premises of the MAH or firms employed by the marketing authorization holder. The mode of remote inspection for sites located outside Kenya shall include internet or telephone and shall involve review of documentation, safety database, source documents and pharmacovigilance system master file. Interviews of relevant staff shall be arranged where necessary. This approach may also be taken where there are logistical challenges to an on-site inspection during exceptional circumstances (e.g. a pandemic outbreak or travel restrictions). Such approaches are taken at the discretion of the Board.

In the event of non-compliance, the MAH, shall be required to prepare a remedial action plan to correct the non-compliances and avoid their recurrence. The MAH shall also be required to provide reports and where necessary evidence of the progress and completion of the action plan. There may be re-inspection at an appropriate time to verify the progress and success of these remedial actions.

7.2 Frequency of conducting the pharmacovigilance inspections

Domestic or Foreign MAH or any firms employed to fulfil marketing authorization holder's pharmacovigilance obligations shall be inspected once in 2 and 3 years respectively depending on the type of inspection to be performed.

The Board shall plan PV inspections based on a systematic and risk-based approach to make the best use of surveillance and enforcement resources whilst maintaining a high level of public health protection.

7.3 Inspection planning

The Board shall issue a preliminary notification to the MAH about the scheduled inspection. The Board may request pertinent documents to facilitate the inspection at least 14 days to the scheduled inspection date. The date for the inspection shall be agreed upon together with the LTR or the MAH.

7.4 Conduct of inspection

The PV inspectors from the Board, may conduct the inspections at the Local representative or the MAH's location, and if a third party is involved in any pharmacovigilance activity, their site may also be inspected by the Board. The inspection shall commence with an opening meeting and end with a closing meeting. The Local representative or the MAH has the right to choose which members of staff participates in these meetings but shall include the QPPV.

7.5 Reporting and Follow-Up

Deficiencies found during the inspections are graded as follows: **Critical**: A deficiency in pharmacovigilance systems, practices or processes that adversely affects the rights, safety or well-being of patients or that poses a potential risk to public health or that represents a serious violation of Health Act, 2018 and applicable Pharmacy and Poisons Board guidelines.

Major: A deficiency in pharmacovigilance systems, practices or processes that could potentially adversely affect the rights, safety or well-being of patients or that could potentially pose a risk to public health or that represents a violation of Health Act, 2018 and applicable Pharmacy and Poisons Board guidelines.

Minor: A deficiency in pharmacovigilance systems, practices or processes that would not be expected to adversely affect the rights, safety or well-being of patients.

In general, preliminary findings will be communicated at the closing meeting. An inspection report is then prepared and reviewed internally to ensure consistency of classification of deficiencies prior to issue of the final report. The report is sent to the Local representative or MAH, usually within 30 working days of the site visit or the date of the provision of the last document requested.

7.6 Sanctions

In addition, the Board may apply the following regulatory actions and sanctions:

- 1. The MAH or Manufacturer may be informed of non-compliance and advised on how this can be remedied.
- 2. Inspection to determine the extent of non-compliance and re-inspection to ensure compliance is achieved.
- 3. Warning The Board may issue a formal warning reminding Local representative or Manufacturer of their pharmacovigilance regulatory obligations.
- 4. Product recalls especially where important safety warnings have been omitted from product information
- 5. Black listing non-compliant Local representative or Manufacturer through public mechanisms
- 6. The Board may consider making public a list of Local Representative or Manufacturer found to be seriously or persistently non-compliant.
- 7. Deferral of application for registration of product(s) until corrective and preventive actions have been implemented
- 8. Urgent Safety Restriction
- 9. Variation of the Marketing Authorization
- 10. Suspension of the Marketing Authorization
- 11. Revocation of the Marketing Authorization
- 12. Fining
- 13. Referral for criminal prosecution in accordance with the Kenyan legislation.

Pharmacovigilance audit activities will serve to verify by examination and evaluation of objective evidence, the appropriateness and effectiveness of the implementation and operation of a pharmacovigilance system, including its quality system for pharmacovigilance activities.

7.7 Self-Audit

 The Pharmaceutical industry shall be required to perform audits of their pharmacovigilance systems including risk-based audits of their quality systems. Risk based audits of pharmacovigilance systems shall cover all areas listed in these guidelines. The audit shall focus on the areas of highest risk to the organization's pharmacovigilance and its quality system with the risk to public health being of prime importance.

- 2. Risk-based audits of the quality system shall be performed at regular intervals to ensure that the quality system complies with the quality system requirements set out in these regulations to determine its effectiveness.
- 3. The audit activities shall include verification, examination and evaluation of the appropriateness and effectiveness of the implementation and operation of a pharmacovigilance system and its quality system.
- 4. The MAH shall develop audit criteria that reflect their pharmacovigilance and quality systems and maintain records, statements or other information, which are relevant to the audit criteria and can be verified by the NMRAs during pharmacovigilance inspections.
- 5. The risk-based audit shall be assessed in the following three stages;

I. Strategic level audit planning

The audit strategy is a high-level statement of how the audit activities will be delivered over a period of time, longer than the annual programme, usually for a period of 2-5 years. The audit strategy shall include a list of audits that will be performed including areas to be audited, methodology, assumptions, governance, risk management and internal controls of all parts of the pharmacovigilance system.

II. Tactical level audit planning

This is a set of one or more audits planned for a specific timeframe, normally for a year. The audit programme shall be prepared in line with the long-term audit strategy and shall be risk based. The programme shall be approved by top management with overall responsibility for operational and governance structure. The risk assessment shall focus on the quality system for pharmacovigilance activities, critical pharmacovigilance processes, key control systems and identified high risk areas in place.

III. Operational level audit planning

Written procedures shall be in place regarding the planning and conduct of individual audits including the timeframes. The audits shall be conducted in accordance with the written procedures. The risks relevant to the area under review shall be identified and assessed during planning and shall include appropriate risk-based sampling and testing methods.

- 6. Audit reporting
- i. Audit findings shall be reported in line with their relative risk level and shall be graded in order to indicate their relative criticality to risks impacting the pharmacovigilance system, processes and parts of processes. The grading system shall be defined in the description of the quality system for pharmacovigilance. The classification of the findings shall be as described in *section 12.6* of these guidelines. The findings shall be documented in an audit report and shall be communicated to management in a timely manner and issues that need to be addressed urgently shall be reported expedited manner.
- ii. The QPPV shall be notified of any audit findings relevant to the pharmacovigilance system, irrespective of where the audit was conducted.
- iii. The marketing authorization holder shall place a note concerning critical and major audit findings of any audit relating to the pharmacovigilance system in the pharmacovigilance system master file (PSMF).
 - 7. Actions and follow up
 - i. Corrective actions, including a follow-up audit of deficiencies, shall be taken where necessary.
- ii. The management of the organization shall be responsible for ensuring there is a mechanism in place to adequately address the issues arising from pharmacovigilance audits. Actions shall include root cause analysis and impact analysis of identified audit findings and preparation of a corrective and preventive action plan, where appropriate.
- iii. The audit shall involve evaluating the effectiveness of actions taken with the products for the purpose of minimizing risks and supporting their safe and effective use in patients.

- iv. The organization shall use performance indicators to continuously monitor the good performance of pharmacovigilance activities.
- v. Evaluation of audit work shall be undertaken by means of ongoing and periodic assessment of all audit activities, auditee feedback and self-assessment of audit activities (e.g. quality assurance of audit activities, compliance to code of conduct, audit programme, and audit procedures).
- 8. Auditors' qualifications, skills, experience and conduct
- i. Audits shall be conducted by individuals who have no direct involvement in or responsibility for the matters or processes being audited. Pharmacovigilance audit activities should be independent. Auditors shall be free from interference in determining the scope of auditing, performing pharmacovigilance audits and communicating audit results.
- ii. Auditors shall demonstrate and maintain proficiency in terms of the knowledge, skills and abilities required to effectively conduct and/or participate in pharmacovigilance audit activities. They shall have knowledge, skills and abilities in the following:
 - a. Audit principles, procedures and techniques;
 - b. Applicable laws, regulations and other requirements relevant to pharmacovigilance;
 - c. Pharmacovigilance activities, processes and system(s);
 - d. Management system(s);
 - e. Organizational system(s).
 - f. Documents and information collected by the internal auditor should be treated with appropriate confidentiality and discretion.
- 9. The organization may use an outsourced audit service provider however the ultimate responsibility for the operation and effectiveness of the pharmacovigilance system resides within the organization. Documentation of the agreements shall be drawn between the organization and the service provider that shall include the scope, objectives and procedural requirements.

8. Training and Capacity Building

The National and County governments in collaboration with PPB and other development partners should spearhead capacity building for their healthcare providers.

They shall be routine training and sensitization on vigilance of medical products and health technologies and where applicable with the public health programs to the following:

- Pharmaceutical industry, MAHs
- Wholesale and retail outlets
- Health related professional associations e.g. Pharmaceutical Society of Kenya (PSK), Kenya Medical Association (KMA), Kenya Pharmaceutical Association (KPA), National Nurses Association of Kenya (NNAK) etc.
- EAC Partner States in collaboration with PPB, the regional centre of excellence in Pharmacovigilance.
- Patients and general public through social media, press releases and mainstream media
- Pre-service training to undergraduates and post-graduates pursuing medical related courses (medicine, pharmacy, dentistry, nursing, etc.)

Deliberate efforts shall also be channelled to train and capacity build the media on reporting of adverse reactions and events, including appropriate communication to the public.

9. Safety Communication

Risk communication refers to the real-time exchange of information, advice and opinions between experts/officials and people who face a threat (hazard) to their survival, health, economic or social well-being. The goal of risk communication is to provide timely, meaningful, relevant and accurate information, in clear and understandable terms targeted to a specific audience for minimizing the risk burden. The Board shall communicate the risk related to the quality, safety and efficacy of the medical products and health technologies guided by the risk communication procedure for medicine safety.

9.1 Principles of safety communication

The following principles of safety communication shall be applied:

- i. Safety communication shall deliver relevant, clear, accurate and consistent messages and reach the right audiences at the right time for them to take appropriate action.
- ii. Safety communication shall be tailored to the appropriate audiences (e.g. patients and healthcare professionals) by using appropriate language and taking account of the different levels of knowledge and information needs whilst maintaining the accuracy and consistency of the information conveyed.
- iii. The need for communicating safety information shall be considered throughout the pharmacovigilance and risk management process, and should be part of the risk assessment and risk minimization measures.
- iv. There should be adequate co-ordination and cooperation between the different parties involved in issuing safety communications (e.g. the Board and other relevant stakeholders).
- v. Information on risks shall be presented in the context of the benefits of the medical product(s) and/or health technology (ies) and include available and relevant information on the seriousness, severity, frequency, risk factors, time to onset, reversibility of potential adverse reactions and expected time to recovery.
- vi. Safety communication shall address the uncertainties related to a safety concern. This is of particular relevance for new information which is often communicated while the Board conducts its own evaluations; the usefulness of communication at this stage needs to be balanced against the potential for confusion if uncertainties are not properly represented.
- vii. Information on competing risks such as the risk of non-treatment should be included where appropriate.
- viii. The most appropriate quantitative measures should be used when describing and comparing risks, e.g. the use of absolute risks and not just relative risks; when comparing risks, denominators should be the same in size. The use of other tools such as graphical presentation of the risk and/or the risk-benefit balance may also be considered.

- ix. Patients and healthcare workers should, where possible, be consulted and messages pretested early in the preparation of safety communication, particularly on complex safety concerns.
- x. Where relevant safety communication should be complemented at a later stage with follow-up communication e.g. on the resolution of a safety concern or updated recommendations
- xi. The effectiveness of safety communication should be evaluated where appropriate and possible.
- xii. Safety communications should comply with relevant requirements relating to individual data protection and confidentiality.

9.2 Target audience

The primary target audience for safety communication issued by the Board shall be patients, care givers and healthcare workers who use (i.e. prescribe, handle, dispense, administer or take) medical products and health technologies.

The media is also a target in safety communication due to its capacity to reach out to patients, healthcare workers and the general public. Communication through the media influences public perception. It is therefore important that media receives safety information directly from the Board in addition to any information received from other sources.

9.3 Content of safety communication

The information in the safety communication shall not be misleading and shall be presented objectively. Safety information shall not include any material or statement which might constitute advertising.

Safety communication shall contain:

- i. important new information on any authorized medical product and/or health technology which has an impact on its respective risk-benefit balance under any conditions of use;
- ii. the reason for initiating safety communication clearly explained to the target audience;
- iii. any recommendations to healthcare workers and patients on how to deal with a safety concern;
- iv. when applicable, a statement on the agreement between the marketing authorization holder and the Board on the safety information provided;

- v. information on any proposed change to the product information (e.g. the summary of product characteristics (SmPC) or package leaflet (PIL));
- vi. any additional information about the use of the medical product and/or health technology and other data that may be relevant for tailoring the message to the targeted audience;
- vii. a list of literature references, when relevant or a reference to where more detailed information can be found, and any other background information considered relevant;
- viii. Where relevant, a reminder of the need to report suspected adverse reactions in accordance with national spontaneous reporting systems.

9.4 Communication channels

The Board shall use relevant communication tools and channels when issuing safety communication. They shall include but not limited to the following:

- i. Direct healthcare professional communication (DHCP)
- ii. Communication materials targeted at healthcare workers
- iii. IEC materials to patients and the general public e.g. brochures, flyers, public alerts
- iv. Press communication e.g. press releases, press briefing
- v. Website
- vi. Social media and other online communications
- vii. Inter-NMRA communication
- viii. Responding to enquiries from the public

ix. Other means such as publications, scientific and professional journals

9.5 Exchange of safety information produced by third parties

There are situations where new safety information is to be published or has been published (e.g. by other NMRAs, scientific journals, or any other parties). Where necessary and after evaluation, the Board shall evaluate any such safety information, thereafter prepare and disseminate the safety announcement to address the information from the third party.

9.6 Safety communication for the marketing authorization holder

Prior to making a public announcement, relating to information on safety concerns on the use of a medical product and/or health technology, the MAH shall be required to inform the Board of its intension to make, such an announcement. The MAH shall ensure that information to the public is presented objectively and is not misleading.

Whenever an MAH becomes aware that a third party intends to issue communications that could potentially impact the risk-benefit balance of a medical product registered in the Kenya, the MAH should inform and share the content of the communications with the Board.

9.7 Publication of Direct healthcare professional communication (DHPC)

The MAH shall seek approval from the Board before dissemination of a DHPC. This communication shall be in accordance with DHPC format (**annex 17**). The Board may also publish the final DHCP. The MAH shall be informed of the intent to publish the DHCP. The Board may also issue an additional safety announcement and disseminate them to relevant healthcare professionals' and /or their organizations as appropriate.

Annex 1: Suspected ADR reporting form

			Ż		ł			(FC	0M001/MIP/I	PMS/SOP/00)1)
	Tel: (020)-3 SUSPE	P 562107 E CTED A	MINISTR HARMACY AI P.O. Box 276 xt 114, 0720 6088 Email: <u>pv@pha</u> ADVERSE DRU	Y OF ND P 63-0 11, 07 IG RE	HEALTH OISONS 0506 NA 33 884411 boardkenv ACTION	BOARD IROBI Fax: (020) 2713 Favore REPORTIN	1431/27 G FOR	IN C 13409 M	ONFIDE	NCE	
The report is on:					Report T	vne:					-
Suspected adverse	drug reaction					Report		Follov	Up Repor	t	
Therapeutic ineffec	tiveness								- ppoi		
Product category (Ticl Medicinal product Others	k appropriate □Blood an	box) d blood	products	□Hei	rbal prod	uct 🗆	Cosme	eutica:	ls		
Institution details				_							
Name of Institution	Conta	ct/Tel N	ю.	Facil	ity Code:		Cou	nty:			
A reactive momentation Patient name/initials: IP/OP. No:	D.O.B, WARD/CLINIC Female se Reaction ion: action: used in the late suspected m		Patient	 	Any know Pregnani Not A 1st Trii Weight: 3. Med exist alcol herbals,	if pregnant i	INO L No 2 nd Trin Heigh (Other condition tric/ resonance indicate	ot preg nester t: releva ons e.g nal dys	inant 3 rd Trii cm int history ; allergies, function et icines used	mester including p smoking, tc)	
INN/Generic Br Name N	rand ame	Batch/ Lot No.	Manufacture r	Dose	Route	Frequency	Treatm Period Start date	Stop Date	Indication	Tick (√) Suspected drug	
											1

INN/Generic Name	Brand Name	Batch/ Lot No.	ch/ Manufacturer D No.		Dose Route	Frequency	Treatment Period		Indication	
								Start date	Stop date	
Dechallenge/ id the reaction re	Rechallenge	drug was stor	nned or wh	8	. Gradi	ng of the	reaction /ev	ent		
he dose was redu	ced?	arug was stop	pped or wit	^{en} I.	Severi	ty of read	tion			
I Yes. DNo	Unknown.	□N/A			🗆 Mild	□ Mode	erate 🗆 Seve	re 🗆 Fa	atal □U	Jnknown
id the reaction re	appear after the	e drug was re	eintroduced	? II	l. Is the	reaction	serious? [Yes	□No	
IYes. □No.	□Unknown	□ N/A		1	II. Crite	ria/reaso	n for serious	ness		
. Annu la b inunati					🗆 Hospi	talizatior	n/ Prolonged	Hospita	lization	
. Any lab investi esults	sations and				🗆 Disab	ility	🗆 Cong	enital a	nomalit	у
courto					1 Life th	reatening	g □ Death	1		
				- I	V. Actio	n taken		_		
					Drug v	vithdraw	n 🗆	Dose re	duced	od
				12	1 Not ar	ncreaseu		Unknow	n chang	eu
				- li	. Outco	me		CHRICO		
				E	Recov	ered	🗆 Rec	overed	with sec	quelae
				E	Recove	ering	□ Not	recove	red	· · · ·
				E	1 Death		🗆 Unk	nown		
. Any other con	nment									
0. Reporter Deta	ils									
Name of reporte	r: Cadı	re/designation	on:	Mobi	e no:		Date o	of repor	t:	
				Email	:					
	Ĵ	You no	eed not	be ce	rtain.	<mark> just</mark> e system is e	be suspic	ious!		
Submission of Patient's identity is I Inform	a report does not cons weld in strict confidence ation supplied by you v	and program ste will contribute to The Pha	on that medical aff is not is not e the improvement armacy and Pois	personne xpected t nt of drug ons Boar	to and will safety and d on the al	not disclose d therapy in pove address	ne product caused reporter's identit Kenya. Once comp i	or contrib y in respon	se to any p se send to:	event. ublic request.
		FOR	OFFICIAL (I	PPB) U	SE ONL	Y				
ADR Report No:	//									

Annex 2: AEFI Reporting Form

				MINISTRY OF	HEAL	ГН			ALTER AND
		UN	IIT OF VAC	CINES AND IM	MUNIZA	TION SERV	/ICES		(āˈs)),
	-			AEFI Reporti	ing For	n			
To be filled in triplicate						INSTITUTIO		p report	
	NG INC	STITUTION			SLIB				
Patient Details					000	-0001111			
PATIENT'S NAME					IP/OP NO	D	DATE OF BI	RTH(or age	in months)
GENDER		NAME OF (GUARDIAN (I	f patient is a child	d)				
ADDRESS			PHONE NU	MBER(self or nea	arest cont	act)			
VILLAGE		WARD		SUB-COUNTY			COUNTY		
VACCINATION CENT	RE				COUNT	OF VACCI	NATION CENT	RE	
TYPE OF VACCINAT	ION SI	ERVICE (stat	tic, mass, out	reach)					
Type of AEFI	Ple	ease tick:				Brief details	s on the event (ir	cluding tim	eline of occurrence
BCG Lympha	denitis			Anaphylaxis					
Conv	vulsion			Encenhalonathy	_				
Generalized urticaria	(hives)		Encep	halitis/Meningitis					
High	Eever			Parabeie					
Injection site al	henese			Toxic shock	H				
Courses Level De			Others	TOXIC SHOCK					
Severe Local Re	action		(specify)						
Onset of event: Date) <i> </i>	<i>I</i> T	ime						
Suspected vaccine(s)								
Name of	Dose	Date	Route,site of						
Vaccine(e.g. BCG, DPT-Hib-HeB)		- accinated	(i.m.,s.c., i.d.)						
	<u> </u>			Lot/Batch No.	Manufact	e Expiry Date	Lot/Batch No.	Manufact	Expiry Date
					urer's			urer's	
	<u> </u>				Name			Name	
	<u> </u>								
	<u> </u>								
	<u> </u>		1			1	1		
	—		1			1	1		
Past medical history status and other relevant	(includ	ing history of s ation(continue	similar reaction on separate sh	or other allergies, o	concomitan	t medication/v	accine,concomit	ant illness,	other cases,pregna
Past medical history status and other relevant	(includ	ing history of s ation(continue	similar reaction on separate sh	or other allergies, c	concomitan	t medication/v	accine,concomit	ant illness,	other cases,pregna
Past medical history	(includ	ing history of s ation(continue	similar reaction on separate sh	or other allergies, c	concomitan	t medication/v	accine,concomit	ant illness,	other cases,pregna
Past medical history status and other relevant detion taken	(includ tinforma	ing history of s ation(continue	similar reaction on separate sh	or other allergies, c eet if necessary)	concomitan	t medication/v	accine,concomit	ant illness,	other cases,pregna
Past medical history status and other relevant Action taken	(includ t information Tre Spe	ing history of s ation(continue atment given (cimen collecte	imilar reaction on separate sh (specify) d for investigat	or other allergies, c eet if necessary) ion (specify type(s)	of specime	t medication/v		ant illness,	other cases,pregna
Past medical history status and other relevant Action taken AEFI Outcome	(includ t information Tre Spe Reco	ing history of s ation(continue atment given (cimen collecte overed	imilar reaction on separate sh (specify) d for investigat	or other allergies, c eet if necessary) ion (specify type(s)	of specime	t medication/v/	u	ant illness,	other cases,pregna
Past medical history status and other relevant Action taken AEFI Outcome Name of Person Re Designation	(includ tinforma Tre Spe Rece portin	ing history of s ation(continue iatment given (incimen collecte iovered g	imilar reaction on separate sh (specify) d for investigat Recovering	or other allergies, c eet if necessary)	of specime	t medication/v	accine,concornit	ant illness,	other cases,pregna
Past medical history status and other relevant Action taken AEFI Outcome Name of Person Re Designation	(includ t information Tre Spe Rec portin	ing history of a ation(continue natment given (incimen collecte sovered g	imilar reaction on separate sh (specify) d for investigat Recovering . Signature:	or other allergies, c eet if necessary) iion (specify type(s)	of specime	t medication/v en) xovered	accine,concomit	ant illness,	other cases,pregna

Annex 3: Adverse transfusion reaction form

			(FOM20/MIP/PMS/SOP/001			
Tel: (020)-356210 AD In the event of a severe reaction following to laboratory with the specimens listed below. Patient name:	MINISTRY PHARMACY ANI P.O. Box 2766 7 Ext 114, 0720 60881 Email: putphan VERSE TRANSFUS ansfusion of blood o PATIENT I	OF HEALTH D POISONS BOARD 53-00506 NAIROBI 1, 0733 88411 Fao: (020) macyboardkenya.org SION REACTION FOR Ir blood products please INFORMATION	IN CONFIDENCE 2713431/2713409 M complete this form and send it to the			
Gender: 🗆 Male 🛛 Female		Patient No.: _				
Diagnosis: Ward: Pre-transfusion HB: Reason for transfusion: Current Medications:		Obstetric History: N/A Gravid Para Previous Transfusion: Yes No Comment: Previous Reactions: Yes No Comment:				
	REACTION	INFORMATION				
Type of reaction 1. General: Provent Performance Performa	ushing skin rash Jyspnoea chycardia uring (15min) BP T P P	4. Renal: Haemoglobinuria- Dark urine Oliguria Anuria 5. Haematological: Unexplained bleeding 6. Others (Specify): At stop: BP T				
R	R		R			
	COMPONEN	T INFORMATION				
Type of component	Pint No	Expiry Date	Volume Transfused			
Name of Nurse/Doctor:		_	Signature			
Specimens required by the laboratory 1. 10mls post-transfusion whole blood fi 2. 2mls of blood in EDTA bottle 3. 10mls First Void Urine	rom patient from p	lain bottle				

	LAB INVESTIGATION:	: (Transfusion manager)	
1. Recipient's blood supernat Hemolysis □Present □ Ab If present □ Mild □ Moderat 2. Recipient's blood: Agglutination □ Present □ 3. Haematological results: WE RBC MCHC MCH MCHC Film Rbc:Wbc:	ant: sent Equivocal e Marked I Absent I Absent HB HB PLT PLT:	4. Donor blood supernatant: Hemolysis Present 5. Age of donor pack: 6. Culture donor pack: Results: 7. Culture recipient blood: Results: –	t
Compatil Saline Rt Saline 37 AHG Albumin 37 9. If negative (inconclusive ress with enzyme treated cells Result: 10. In case of blood group O tri individual: Establish from the of Anti A titres	ole In ults in 8) set up compatibilit ansfused to A or B or AB donor unit Anti B titers	Accompatible	d to transfusion?
Reporter Details Name of reporter:	Cadre/designation:	Mobile no: Email:	Date of report:
Submission of a report does not	You need not Your support towards the National constitute an admission that medical p	be certain just be suspiciou Pharmacovigilance system is appreciated erronnel or manufacturer or the product caused or con	S!
Patient's identity is held in strict confide Information supplied by y	ence and program staff is not is not exp ou will contribute to the improvement The Pharmacy and Poiso	pected to and will not disclose reporter's identity in res t of drug safety and therapy in Kenya. Once completed p ns Board on the above address	ionse to any public request. lease send to:
	FOR OFFICIAL	(PPB USE ONLY	
ADR Report No:/			

Annex 4: Medical devices incident reporting form

(FOM019/MIP/PMS/SOP/001) MINISTRY OF HEALTH PHARMACY AND POISONS BOARD P.O. Box 27663-00506 NAIROBI Tel: (020)-3562107 Ext 114, 0720 608811, 0733 884411 Fax: (020) 2713431/2713409 Email: pv@pharmacyboardkenya.org/medicaldevices@pharmacyboardkenya.org MEDICAL DEVICES INCIDENT REPORTING FORM										
Report Type: 🛛 Initial Report	Follow Up Rep	ort								
REPORT TITLE: NAME OF INSTITUTION/ORGANZIATION ADDRESS:	J:	INSTITUTION CODE: CONTACT:								
Patient Information Patient name/initials		D.O.B/age								
Patient address: IP/OP N	lo: G	ender: 🗆 Male 🛛 Female								
Any known allergy	Pregnancy status	Weight:								
	□ Not Applicable	Height:								
□ Yes (specify)	□ Not pregnant	··								
	□ 1 st Trimester	□ 2 nd Trimester □ 3 rd Trimester								
Device/In vitro Diagnostic information										
1. Problem noted prior to use: 🗆 Yes	🗆 No									
Brand name/commercial name:		Serial/Lot no:								
Common name (catheter; syringe 5cc,10cc; latex gloves etc.):	Model:	Catalogue:								
Name of manufacturer:	•	Address of the manufacturer:								
Device manufacture date:		Expiry date:								
2. Operator of the device at time of ons	et:									
□ Healthcare professional □ Pa	tient 🛛 🗆 Careg	iver 🛛 Other(specify)								
3. Usage of device (choose whichever applies): Single use Reuse of reusable										
the device/ equipment/ machine in use	:									
5. Availability of device for evaluation	🗆 Yes 🛛 No									
6. If no: 🗆 Device destroyed 🗆 Still in u	use 🗆 Returned to m	nanufacturer/importer/distributor								
7. For implants only (e.g. intrauterine	devices, pacemake	rs)								
Implant date:	Expla	nt date:								
Duration of implantation (to be filled if	the exact implant and	explant dates are unknown):								

8. For diagnostics only	/ (including m	achines a	nd equipment e.g. ra	pid diagnostic test kits, g	lucometer)				
Type of specimen used	d (e.g. blood, s	saliva, etc)	:						
No. of patients involve	ed:	No. of te	sts done:	No. of false positives:					
No. of false negatives:		No. of tru	ue positives:	No. of true negatives:					
9. List of other/associated devices involved in the event:									
Incident information									
1. Date of onset of the	incident:								
2. Event classification 🗆 Fatal 🛛 Serious 🗆 Moderate 🗆 Mild 🔤 Unknown									
3. Reason for seriousness:									
Death (dd/mm/yyy	y) //			Life-threatening					
Hospitalization or p Results in persisten	rolongation of	t existing I t disability	nospitalization						
congenital anoma	llv or birth de	efect Co	ngenital anomaly or b	irth defect					
4. Description of even	t:								
5. Remedial Action/Corrective action/preventive action taken by the healthcare facility relevant to the care of the									
patient:									
	••••••	••••••							
6 Patient Outcome:									
□ Recovering			□ Not recovered		🗆 Fatal				
□ Recovered			□Recovered with se	equalae	🗆 Unknown				
Details of the reporte	r:								
Name of reporter:	Designation	:	Email:		Date:				
			Mobile no:						
You need not be certain just be suspicious! Your support towards the National Pharmacovigilance system is appreciated The Pharmacy and Poisons Board investigates all incidents reported to us in order to identify any faults with medical devices and to prevent similar incidents happening again. The Board may contact the manufacturer of this medical device to request they carry out an investigation. Submission of a report does not constitute an admission that medical personnel or manufacturer or the product caused or contributed to the event. Patient's identity is held in strict confidence. Information supplied by you will contribute to the improvement of the safety of medical devices in Kenya.									
			FOR PPB USE ONLY						
Incident Report No: .									

Annex 5: Medication errors reporting form

		<u>s</u>		(FOM21/MIP/PMS/SOP/001)
	IN CONFIDENCE			
Tel: (020)-356210	P.O. Box 27663-00 7 Ext 114, 0720 608811, 07 Email: <u>pv@pharmacy</u>	0506 NAIROBI 33 884411 Fax: (020) boardkenya.org	2713431/271	3409
M	EDICATION ERROR R	EPORTING FOR	М	
1. Date of event (dd/mm/yyyy):/		2. Time of eve	nt (hh/mm):	
3. Institution details				
Name of Institution:	Contact/Tel No	: Facility Co	de:	County:
4. Patient Information				
Patient initials:	D.O.B/Age:	Gende	er: 🗆 Male	Female
□ Pharmacy (paeds, main, inpatien □ Accident & Emergency/Casualty □ Others: (Please specify)	it, outpatient)			
Prarmacy (paeds, main, inpatien Content & Emergency/Casualty Others: (Please specify) G. Please describe the error. Include d short staffing, during peak hours). If n	it, outpatient) lescription/ sequence nore space is needed,	of events and we please attach a s	ork environn eparate pag	nent (e.g. change of shift,
 Pnarmacy (paeds, main, inpatien Accident & Emergency/Casualty Others: (Please specify) G. Please describe the error. Include d short staffing, during peak hours). If n 	it, outpatient) lescription/ sequence nore space is needed,	of events and wo	ork environr eparate pag	nent (e.g. change of shift,
Pharmacy (paeds, main, inpatien Could the senergency/Casualty Others: (Please specify) Generation of the error. Include d short staffing, during peak hours). If n	It, outpatient) lescription/ sequence nore space is needed, 8. Did the error reac	of events and w please attach a s h the patient?	ork environr eparate pag	nent (e.g. change of shift,
Prarmacy (paeds, main, inpatien Could the senergency/Casualty Others: (Please specify) Generating, during peak hours). If n To house the process did the error occur? Coccur? Coccur? Coccur? Coccur?	It, outpatient) lescription/ sequence nore space is needed, 8. Did the error reac	of events and we please attach a s h the patient?	ork environr eparate pag 10. Descrit the patient harm, add	nent (e.g. change of shift,
Pnarmacy (paeds, main, inpatien Ciccident & Emergency/Casualty Others: (Please specify) Generation of the error. Include d short staffing, during peak hours). If n T. In which process did the error occur? Prescribing Dispensing (includes filling)	It, outpatient) lescription/ sequence nore space is needed, 8. Did the error reac Yes 9. Was the correct n	of events and we please attach a s h the patient?	10. Descrit the patient monitoring	nent (e.g. change of shift,
 □ Pnarmacy (paeds, main, inpatien □ Accident & Emergency/Casualty □ Others: (Please specify) 6. Please describe the error. Include d short staffing, during peak hours). If n 7. In which process did the error occur? □ Prescribing □ Dispensing (includes filling) □ Administration 	It, outpatient) lescription/ sequence nore space is needed, 8. Did the error reac Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adm	of events and we please attach a s h the patient? No nedication, dose ninistered to or	10. Describ the patient harm, add glucose lev	nent (e.g. change of shift,
Pnarmacy (paeds, main, inpatien Accident & Emergency/Casualty Others: (Please specify) 6. Please describe the error. Include d short staffing, during peak hours). If n	It, outpatient) Iescription/ sequence nore space is needed, 8. Did the error reac Yes 9. Was the correct m or dosage form adm taken by the patient Yes	of events and we please attach a s h the patient? No nedication, dose ninistered to or No	10. Describ the patient harm, addi glucose lev	nent (e.g. change of shift, e.
Prarmacy (paeds, main, inpatien Accident & Emergency/Casualty Others: (Please specify)	It, outpatient) escription/ sequence nore space is needed, 8. Did the error reac Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adr taken by the patient Yes Dutcome Category (Tic	of events and we please attach a s h the patient? No nedication, dose ninistered to or No No k one approprial	10. Descrit the patient harm, addi glucose lev monitoring te box belov	nent (e.g. change of shift, e.
In Prarmacy (paeds, main, inpatien Accident & Emergency/Casualty Others: (Please specify)	It, outpatient) escription/ sequence nore space is needed, 8. Did the error reac Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adr taken by the patient Laken by the patient Exercised Second Second Second Second Exercised Second Second Second Second Exercised Second Secon	of events and we please attach a s h the patient? No nedication, dose ninistered to or No No k one appropriat OR, HARM	10. Describ the patient harm, addi monitoring glucose lev	nent (e.g. change of shift, e.
Prarmacy (paeds, main, inpatien Accident & Emergency/Casualty Others: (Please specify) Please describe the error. Include d short staffing, during peak hours). If n In which process did the error occur? Prescribing Dispensing (includes filling) Administration Others (Please specify) 11. Please tick the appropriate Error C NO ERROR Potential error, circumstances/ever	It, outpatient) escription/ sequence nore space is needed, 8. Did the error reac Yes 9. Was the correct m or dosage form adm taken by the patient Laken by the patient Controme Category (Tic hts have	of events and we please attach a s h the patient? No nedication, dose ninistered to or No k one appropriat OR, HARM reatment /interv	10. Descrit the patient harm, addi monitoring glucose lev 	nent (e.g. change of shift, e.
Prarmacy (paeds, main, inpatien Accident & Emergency/Casualty Others: (Please specify)	It, outpatient) It could be a second of the second	of events and we please attach a s h the patient? No nedication, dose ninistered to or No k one appropriat OR, HARM reatment /interv m	10. Descrit the patient harm, addi monitoring glucose lev te box below	nent (e.g. change of shift,
Prarmacy (paeds, main, inpatien Casualty Others: (Please specify) Generating, during peak hours). If n Generating, during peak hours). If n Generating, during peak hours). If n Generating T. In which process did the error occur? T. In which process did the error occur? Dispensing (includes filling) Administration Others (Please specify) T1. Please tick the appropriate Error C OK DERROR Potential error, circumstances/ever potential to cause incident	It, outpatient) It is outpatient is space is needed, B. Did the error reac B. Did the error reac Ves 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adr taken by the patient Ves Dutcome Category (Tid har har har har	of events and we please attach a s h the patient? No hedication, dose ninistered to or No k one appropriat OR, HARM reatment /interv mitial/prolonged l aused nermane	10. Descrit the patient harm, addi monitoring glucose lev te box below rention requi	nent (e.g. change of shift,
Prarmacy (paeds, main, inpatien Casualty Others: (Please specify) Others: (Please specify) Others: (Please specify) Please describe the error. Include d short staffing, during peak hours). If n T. In which process did the error occur? T. In which process did the error Occur? Dispensing (includes filling) Administration Others (Please specify) T. Please tick the appropriate Error O NO ERROR Potential error, circumstances/ever potential to cause incident	it, outpatient) iescription/ sequence nore space is needed, 8. Did the error reac 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adr taken by the patient Outcome Category (Tick ats have 1 harr 1 harr 1 harr 1 harr 1 harr 1 harr 1 har	of events and we please attach a s h the patient? No nedication, dose ninistered to or No k one appropriat OR, HARM reatment /interv n nitial/prolonged I caused permaner	10. Descrit the patient harm, addi monitoring glucose lev te box below rention requi	nent (e.g. change of shift,
Prarmacy (paeds, main, inpatien Casualty Others: (Please specify) Others: (Please specify) Others: (Please specify) Please describe the error. Include d short staffing, during peak hours). If n T. In which process did the error occur? Prescribing Dispensing (includes filling) Administration Others (Please specify) I1. Please tick the appropriate Error O NO ERROR Potential error, circumstances/ever potential to cause incident ERROR, NO HARM	it, outpatient) iescription/ sequence nore space is needed, 8. Did the error reac 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adr taken by the patient Outcome Category (Tick ats have IT harn II	of events and we please attach a s h the patient? No hedication, dose ninistered to or No k one appropria OR, HARM reatment /interv n nitial/prolonged l caused permanen lear death event OR, DATH	10. Descrit the patient harm, addi monitoring glucose lev te box below rention requi	nent (e.g. change of shift,
Prarmacy (paeds, main, inpatien Cacident & Emergency/Casualty Others: (Please specify)	it, outpatient) iescription/ sequence nore space is needed, 8. Did the error reac 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adri taken by the patient U Yes 9. Was the correct n	of events and we please attach a s h the patient? No hedication, dose ninistered to or No k one appropriat OR, HARM reatment /interv ninial/prolonged l iaused permanen lear death event OR, DEATH Death	10. Describ the patient harm, addi monitoring glucose lev te box below rention requi	nent (e.g. change of shift,
Prarmacy (paeds, main, inpatien Accident & Emergency/Casualty Others: (Please specify)	it, outpatient) iescription/ sequence nore space is needed, 8. Did the error reac 9. Was the correct n or dosage form adr taken by the patient U Yes Dutcome Category (Tic ERR ats have ERR ts have ERR t	of events and we please attach a s h the patient? No hedication, dose ninistered to or No kone appropriat OR, HARM reatment /interv m hitial/prolonged l iaused permanen lear death event OR, DEATH beath	10. Descrit the patient harm, addi glucose lev te box belov rention requi hospitalizatio th harm	nent (e.g. change of shift,

12 Indicate the possible error	cause(s) ar	nd contrib	artir	og factor(s) below (Tic	k the annron	iate hov(es):		
Staff factors	cause(s) ai	T	ask	and technology	k the appropr	late box(es).		
Inexperienced personnel] Fa	ailure to adhere to wo	rk procedure			
Inadequate knowledge			Use of abbreviations					
			Illegible prescriptions					
Medication related			Patient information/record unavailable/ inaccurate					
□ Sound alike medication □			Wrong labelling/instruction on dispensing envelope or					
Look alike medication			bottle/container					
Look alike packaging			Incorrect computer entry					
Work and environment			٥C	thers (please specify):	-			
Heavy workload								
Peak hour	Peak hour							
Stock arrangements/storag	e problem							
13. Product details: Please con additional products	plete the	following	for	products involved. Kir	ndly attach a s	separate page for		
Product Description		Prod	uct	No. 1 (intended)	Prod	uct No. 2 (error)		
13.1 Generic name (active ing	redient)							
13.2 Brand/ Product Name								
13.3 Dosage form								
13.4 Dose, frequency, duration	n, route				I			
Please fill in 13.5-13.7 if error in	volved loo	k alike (sir	nila	r) product packaging:				
Product Description		Prod	luct	No. 1 (intended)	Proc	luct No. 2 (error)		
13.5 Manufacturer								
13.6 Strength/concentration								
13.7 Type and size of containe	er							
14. Suggest any recommendat future similar errors. If availab	ions, or de le, kindly a	scribe pol attach an i	nve	s or procedures you in stigational report e.g.	stituted or pl Root Cause A	an to institute to prever Analysis (RCA)		
Name of reporter:	Cadre/d	lesignatio	n:	Mobile no:		Date of report:		
		i congrittation		Email:				
		FOR OFFI	ICIA	L (PPB) USE ONLY				
Medication error report no:	/	/	Ν	Aedication error typ	e			
Date report received (dd/mr	m /yyyy) :	//	N	Aedication error cate	egory			
Vigiflow Entry Number								
, ,	our support to	wards the Na	tiona	l Pharmacovigilance system is	appreciated			
Submission of a report does not cons Patient's identity is held in strict confid	stitute an admi lence and prog	ission that me gram staff is no	dical ot is r	personnel or manufacturer or not expected to and will not dis	the product caused sclose reporter's id	or contributed to the event. entity in response to any public		
request. Informatio	n supplied by y	ou will contril	bute	to the improvement of medici	ne safety and thera	py in Kenya.		

Once completed please send to: The Pharmacy and Poisons Board on the above address

Annex 6: Form for reporting suspected poor-quality medical products and

1

1

health technologies

,

(FOM001/MIP/PMS/S	DP/001)		1								
		MINISTRY OF	HEALTH			ONEIDENCE					
	PHARMACY AND POISONS BOARD										
	P.O. BOX 27663-00506 NAIROBI										
rei. (020/-3302107 EXt 114, 0720 008011, 0733 884411 rax: (020) 2713431/2713409 Email: pv@pharmacyboardkenya.org											
FORM FOR	REPORTING SUSPECTED	POOR-OUALITY N				TECHNOLOGIES					
Product category (Ti	ck appropriate box):		ILDICALI	Roboers Ar	DILALI	TIECHNOLOGIES					
Medicinal product		Blood and blood pr	oducts	□Other							
□Herbal product		Medical device/ Inv	itro Diagnos	stics							
□Vaccine	[□Cosmeceuticals									
Name of Facility:		County:		Sub- Count	y:						
Facility Address. Facility Telephone:											
PRODUCT IDENTITY											
Brand			Generic								
Name			Name								
Batch/Lot	Date of		Date of			Date of					
Number/ Unique	Manufacture		Expiry			Receipt					
blood products)											
Name of	Address		Country of								
Manufacturer			Origin								
Name of		Distributor/			Telephone						
Distributor/		Supplier's									
Supplier		Address									
PRODU	CT FORMULATION	(Tick	COMPLAIN	IT hov/boxes)							
□Oral tablets/cansu	les Powder for reconst	itution of injection	appropriater	JOX/ DOXES/							
Oral suspension/sy	run	interior of injection	Color ch	ange		1					
\Box Injection	Ear drops		□Separati	ng	□Change o	of Oduor					
Diluent	Nebulizer solution		□Powderi	ng / crumbling	□Mislabel	ling					
Powder for reconst	titution of suspension		□ Caking			ete pack					
□Cream / Ointment	/ Liniment / Paste		□Therape	utic ineffectiven	less						
Dother			□Other								
FOR MEDICAL DEVICE	AND INVITRO DIAGNOSTIC										
□Packaging			□Data								
□Labelling											
□Sampling											
□Mechanism			□Failure to Calibrate								
□Electrical			□Results								
□Data			□ Reading:	s							
Describe complaint in	n detail										
Was the cold chain r	naintained for both transport	ation and storage?									
was the cold chain r	namameu for both transport	auon and storage?		(Attach	sample for n	hysical evaluation)					
		Storage Co	nditions	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	ering ic for p	, et al a di a					
Does the product rec	uire refrigeration?	□ Yes	🗆 No	Other de	tails (if nece	ssary):					
Was product availab	le at facility?	□ Yes	□ No								
Was product dispense	ed and returned by client?										
Was product stored	according to manufacturor /										
MoH recommendation	ons?										
Comments (if any):											
Name of Reporter:		Contact Number:			E-mail:						
Cadre/Designation:		Signature			Date:						
,		-									
FOR OFFICIAL (PPB) USE ONLY

Report No:/...../...../

Your support towards the National Pharmacovigilance system is appreciated

Submission of a report does not constitute an admission that medical personnel or manufacturer or the product caused or contributed to the event. Patient's identity is held in strict confidence and program staff is not is not expected to and will not disclose reporter's identity in response to any public request. Information supplied by you will contribute to the improvement of drug safety and therapy in Kenya. Once completed please send to: The Pharmacy and Poisons Board on the above address

NB: THE BOARD WILL CONTACT YOU INCASE MORE SAMPLES ARE REQUIRED FOR ANALYSIS. IN SUCH SITUATIONS THISIS AN INDICATIVE GUIDE ON THE NUMBER OF SUSPECTED POOR QILAOTY SAMPLES TOBE SUBMITTED

FORMULATION	PACK SIZE	MINIMUM NO. OF SAMPLES
		REQUIRED
Tablets/ capsules	All	100 Tablets/Capsules
	≤ 50mL	
Suspension/Syrups	10 – 100mL	20 Bottles
	> 10mL	
	≥ 100mL	
Injectables	<u><</u> 10mL	100 Vials/Ampoules
	10 – 100mL	50Vials/Ampoules/Bottles
	≥ 100mL	10 Bottles
Creams/Ointments	≤ 5g	50 Tubes
	5 – 50g	20Tubes/Jar
	≥ 50g	5Tubes/Jars
Eye/Ear Drops	< 10mL	100 Bottles
	≥ 10mL	50 Bottles
Inhalers	All	10 Packs
Raw material	All	5g
Medical Devices /Invitro Diagnostics	ALL	As shall be advised

EXPLANATION FOR PRODUCT PROBLEMS FOR MEDICAL DEVICES AND DIAGNOSTICS

- Packaging damaged, defective, suspect tampered
- Labelling-insufficient instructions for use, illegible
- Sampling device doesn't collect/transfer specimen
- Liquid leak, splash
- Mechanical misalignment, jam
- Electrical unable to charge, power loss or fluctuation
- Data capture, display, or storage affecting product functionality
- Software network, program, algorithm, or security affecting product functionality
- Environmental noise, temperature, humidity/ moisture, fungal/bacterial growth, or dust affecting product functionality
- Failure to calibrate
- Results- Increased rate of invalid or unreturnable test results
- Reading-Obviously incorrect, inadequate or imprecise result or readings, Unable to obtain reading

Annex 7: ADR severity assessment scale

Criteria for Assessment of Severity of an ADR

Mild	• The ADR requires no change in treatment with the
	suspected drug
	• The ADR requires that the suspected drug be
	withheld, discontinued or otherwise changed. No
	antidate or other treatment is required
	No income in location of sta
	• No increase in length of stay.
Moderate	• The ADR requires that the suspected drug be withheld,
	discontinued or otherwise changed, and/or an
	antidote or other treatment is required.
	• Increases length of stay by at least one day
	• The ADR is the reason for admission.
Severe	• The ADR requires intensive medical care
Severe	
	• The ADR causes permanent harm to the patient
Fatal	• The ADR either directly or indirectly leads to the death
	of the patient
Unknown	When you have no information about the ADR

Annex	8:	WHO-UMC	Causality	assessment	scale
-------	----	---------	-----------	------------	-------

Causality term	Assessment criteria
Certain	Event or laboratory test abnormality, with plausible time relationship to drug intake
	Cannot be explained by disease or other drugs
	 Response to withdrawal plausible (pharmacologically, pathologically)
	• Event definitive pharmacologically or phenomenologically (i.e. an objective and specific medical disorder or a recognized pharmacological phenomenon)
	Rechallenge satisfactory, if necessary
Probable / Likely	 Event or laboratory test abnormality, with reasonable time relationship to drug intake
	Unlikely to be attributed to disease or other drugs
	Response to withdrawal clinically reasonable
	Rechallenge not required
Possible	• Event or laboratory test abnormality, with reasonable time relationship to drug intake
	Could also be explained by disease or other drugs
	Information on drug withdrawal may be lacking or unclear
Unlikely	 Event or laboratory test abnormality, with a time to drug intake that makes a relationship improbable (but not impossible)
	Disease or other drugs provide plausible explanations
Conditional/	Event or laboratory test abnormality
Unclassified	More data for proper assessment needed, or
	Additional data under examination
Unassessable/	Report suggesting an adverse reaction
Unclassified	 Cannot be judged because information is insufficient or contradictory
	Data cannot be supplemented or verified

Annex 9: Adverse drug reaction alert card

MINISTR PHARMACY AN LENANA ROAD, NAIR TEL: (020) 2716905/6 Ext 1 ADVERSE DRUG F	Y OF HEALTH PV 4 ND POISONS BOARD OBI P.O. BOX 27663 - 00506 14 Fax: (020)-2713431 / 2713409 REACTION ALERT CARD
PATIENT NAME:	
AGE: GENDER	£:
DATE ISSUED: ADDR	ESS:
SUSPECTED DRUG(S):	
DESCRIPTION OF REACTION:	
Other comments (if any):	
Tafadhali hakikisha umebeba kadi hii kila wakati. Kumbuka kumwonyesha mhudumu wa afya kadi hii unapo pata matibabu	Please carry this card with you at all times and remember to produce it to your health care professional at each time of consultation.

Criteria for issue of a patient alert card (rear side)

The alert card is given to:

- A Patients who are hypersensitive / allergic / intolerant to a particular drug
- Patients who developed a 'near-fatal' reaction to any particular drug
- Patients who had a drug-induced morbidity to any drug
- Patients who had hospital admission due to an ADR to any drug
- Patients who developed an ADR which caused increase in the health care expenditure

Annex 10: Checklist for investigation procedure for serious ADRs by the Sub-County Investigation Team (SCIT)

CHECKLIS	ST FOR INVESTIGATION PROCEDURE FOR THE SCIT
Step	Actions
1) Confirm information in Report	 Obtain patient's medical file (or other clinical record) Check details about patient and event from medical file and document information Obtain any details missing from suspected ADR notification form Identify any other cases that need to be included in the
2) Investigate and collect data: About the patient:	 History of drug use (including over-the-counter and traditional medicine use) Medical history, including prior history of similar reactions or allergies Family history of similar events
About the event:	 History, clinical description, any relevant laboratory results about the suspected ADR and diagnosis of the event Treatment, whether hospitalized, and outcome
About the suspected drug(s):	 □ Brand name, generic name, batch/lot numbers □ Date of manufacture, date of expiry □ Name of manufacturer and supplier □ Conditions of storage at facility and expiry date □ Investigate the local health facility
About other people:	 □ Whether others received the same drug and developed illness (assess health facility ledgers) □ Whether others had same or similar illness (may need case definition); if so exposure of cases to suspect drug(s)
3) Assess the service by asking about	 Drug storage and prescription Details of training in diagnosis and treatment Number of therapies greater than normal
4) Formulate a working Hypothesis	\Box On the likely/possible cause(s) of the event
5) Testworking hypothesis	 Does case distribution match working hypothesis? Occasionally, laboratory tests may help
6) Conclude investigation	□ Assess causal association to suspected drug/s □ Complete suspected ADR Investigation Form □ Take corrective action, and recommend further action
7) Assess outcome of actions/ lack of actions taken	Assess impact of any corrective action taken (where appropriate)

Annex 11: AEFI investigation form

SCOUDIL A		Basic	details		
Province/State	District		0	ase ID	
Province/state District Case ID					
Place of vaccination (✓): ☐ Govt. health fa	cility D Private h	ealth facility 0	ther (specify)	
Address of vaccinat	_ Campaign _ Routi	ne 🔲 Other (spe	ecity)		
	ion alte.				
			Date of investigati	on: / /	1
Name of Reporting (Officer:		Date of filling this t	form: /	
Designation / Position · This report is First Unterim Final					
Telephone # landline	(with code):	Mob	ile:	e-mail:	
Dationt Name	(-	
use a senarate form for ea	ich case in a cluster)				Sex. LIM LIF
Date of birth (DD/MM		1			
		-'			
OR Age at onset:	_years months _	days	OR Age group:	< 1 year 1 –5 y	ears 🔄 > 5 years
Patient's full address	with landmarks (Street	name, house numb	er, locality, phone nu	mber etc.):	
Name of	1			1	1
vaccines/diluent	Date of vaccination	Time of	Dose	Batch/Lot number	Expiry date
received by patient		vaccination	(e.g. 1 , 2 , etc.)	Vaccina	Vandaa
				Diluent	Diluent
				Vaccine	Vaccine
				Vaccine	Vaccine
				Diluent	Diluent
				Vaccine	Vaccine
				Vaccine	Vaccine
				Diluent	Diluent
Type of site (✔)	tom (DD/MM/YYYY):	treach 🗌 Other	Time	of first symptom (hh	/mm): /
Type of site $(\checkmark) \square$ Fit Date of first/key symp Date of hospitalization Date first reported to the Status on the date of \square if died, date and time Autopsy done? $(\checkmark) \square$ Attach report (if availa Section B	xed Mobile Ou tom (DD/MMYYYY):	treach Other	Time / _ Recovering / Planned on (da	of first symptom (<i>hh</i> Recovered complei (<i>hh/mm</i>): / te)	/////////////////////////////////////
Type of site $(\checkmark) \square$ Fit Date of first/key symp Date of hospitalization Date first reported to t Status on the date of if died, date and time Autopsy done? $(\checkmark) \square$ Attach report (if availa Section B	xed Mobile Ou tom (DD/MMYYYY): the health authority (DD investigation (*): DD of death (DD/MMYYYY) Yes (date) bble) Relevant pa Criteria	treach Other	Time T Time Recovering / Pianned on (da tion prior to imit Finding	of first symptom (hh Recovered complet (hh/mm): / te) munization Remarks (f)	/mm): / tely Unknown Time f yes provide details)
Type of site (*) Fit Date of first/key symp Date of hospitalization Date first reported to 1 Status on the date of If died, date and time Autopsy done? (*) Autopsy done? (*) Attach report (if availa Section B Past history of simila	xed Mobile Ou tom (DD/MMYYYY):	treach Other	Time Time Recovering Recovering Planned on (da Finding Finding Yes / No / Unkn	of first symptom (<i>hin</i> (<i>hh/mm</i>): / te) munization Remarks (ii	/mm): / telyUnknown Time f yes provide details)
Type of site (*) Fit Date of first/key symp Date of hospitalization Date first reported to the Status on the date of if died, date and time Autopsy done? (*) Attach report (if availant Section B Past history of simila Adverse event after [xed Mobile Ou tom (DD/MMYYYY): n (DD/MMYYYY): the health authority (DI investigation (*):] Di of death (DD/MMYYYY)] Yes (date) to (date) Relevant pa Criteria r event orevious vaccination(s)	treach Other	Time / Recovering / Planned on (da finding Yes / No / Unkn Yes / No / Unkn	of first symptom (<i>hh</i> Recovered complet (<i>hh/mm</i>):/ te)/ munization Remarks (fi	//////////////////////////////////////
Type of site (*) Type of site (*) Date of first/key symp Date of hospitalization Date first reported to the Status on the date of if died, date and time Autopsy done? (*) Attach report (if availant Section B Past history of similar Adverse event after History of allergy to y	xed Mobile Ou tom (DD/MMYYYY):	treach Other	Time /	of first symptom (<i>hh</i> 	/mm): / tely Unknown Time f yes provide details)
Type of site (*) Type of site (*) Type of first/key symp Date of hospitalization Date first reported to 1 Status on the date of if died, date and time Autopsy done? (*) Autopsy done? (*) Autopsy done? (*) Section B Past history of simila Adverse event after c History of allergy to v Pre-existing illness (: Mintoru of beneficients)	xed Mobile Ou tom (DD/MMYYYY):	treach Other	TimeT	of first symptom (<i>hh</i> 	/mm): / telyUnknown Time f yes provide details)
Type of site (✓) ☐ Fit Date of first/key symp Date of hospitalization Date first reported to to Status on the date of f died, date and time Autopsy done? (✓) [Attach report (if availa Section B Past history of simila Adverse event after p History of allergy to v Pre-existing illness (C History of hospitaliza Patient currently one	xed Mobile Ou tom (DD/MMYYYY):	treach Other		of first symptom (<i>hin</i> (<i>hin/mm</i>): / te) munization Remarks (II	/mm): / telyUnknown Time f yes provide details)
Type of site (✓) ☐ Fit Date of first/key symp Date of hospitalization Date first reported to 1 Status on the date of f died, date and time Autopsy done? (✓) ☐ Attach report (if availa Section B Past history of simila Adverse event after f History of allergy to y Pre-existing illness (C History of hospitaliza Patient currently on C (If yes, name the dru	xed Mobile Ou tom (DD/MMYYYY):	treach Other	Time Time T	of first symptom (<i>hh</i> Recovered complet (<i>hh/mm</i>): / te) munization Remarks (II	/mm): / telyUnknown Time f yes provide details)
Type of site (✓) ☐ Fit Date of first/key symp Date of hospitalization Date first reported to 1 Status on the date of f died, date and time Autopsy done? (✓) ☐ Attach report (if availa Section B Past history of simila Adverse event after f History of allergy to v Pre-existing filospitas (C History of hospitalizes (C History of hospitalizes (C History of norpitalizes (C)	xed Mobile Ou tom (DD/MMYYYY):	treach Other	Time	of first symptom (<i>hh</i> Recovered complet (<i>hh/mm</i>):/ te)/ munization Remarks (fi	/mm): / telyUnknown Time f yes provide details)
Type of site (*) Type of site	xed Mobile Ou tom (DD/MMYYYY):	treach Other	Time T1 Recovering Image: Planned on (da Planned on (da Finding Yes / No / Unkn	of first symptom (<i>hh</i> (<i>hh/mm</i>): / te) munization Remarks (II	/mm): / telyUnknown Time f yes provide details)
Type of site (✓) ☐ Fit Date of first/key symp Date of hospitalization Date first reported to 1 Status on the date of f died, date and time Autopsy done? (✓) ☐ Attach report (if availa Section B Past history of simila Adverse event after (History of allergy to v Pre-existing illness (History of nospitaliza Patient currently on c (if yes, name the dru For adult women • Currently bre For infants The birth was ☐	xed Mobile Ou tom (DD/MMYYYY):	treach Other I I I I I I I I I I I I I	Time Time Time Town Recovering Planned on (da Tion prior to imit Finding Yes / No / Unkn Here / No / Unkn Inter / No	of first symptom (<i>hin</i> Recovered complet (<i>hh/mm</i>):/ te) munization Remarks (II 	/mm): / telyUnknown Time f yes provide details)

Section C	Details of first e	examination** of serious AF	Flicase
Source of information (all that apply): Examinatio	n by the investigator Docu	ments Verbal autopsv
Other	If from	verbal autopsy, please mention so	ource
Name of the person who	o first examined/treated the pa	atient:	
Name of other persons	ireating the patient:		
	(open.)/		
Signs and symptoms in	chronological order from the	time of vaccination:	
Name and contact infor	mation of person completing	Designation:	Date/time
these clinical details:	indian of porcon completing	boolgination.	Batolano
Instructions – Attach laboratory reports and	copies of ALL available do (autopsy reports) and then	cuments (including case sheet, complete additional information	discharge summary, case notes, NOT AVAILABLE in existing
documents, i.e.	autopoj reportoj ana alon		
 If patient has received and the second second	ved medical care - attach co	opies of all available documents (in	ncluding case sheet, discharge
attached documents	s below	, if available) and write only the init	ormation that is not available in the
 If patient has not r 	eceived medical care – obta	in history, examine the patient and	d write down your findings below (add
additional sheet	s if necessary)		
Provisional / Final diag	jnosis:		

lame				Ca	se ID Numb	er		AEF	I Invest	tigation f	Page 3
Section D	Detai	s of vacc	ines prov	vided at t	he site linl	ed to A	EFI on t	he corre	spond	ing day	1
Number immunized	Vaccine										
or each antigen at	name										
ecord if available.	Number										
	ordoses										
 a) When was 	the patient	t immunize	d? (√	the 🗌 bel	ow and resp	ond to AL	L questio	ns)			
U Within t	he first vac	cinations o	f the sessi	on 🗌 With	in the last va	ccination	s of the s	ession 🗌	Unknow	wn	
In case of last doses	multidose of the vial	vials, was t administere	he vaccine ed? 🗌 unk	given 🗌	within the fir	st few do	ses of the	e vial adm	inistere	d? 🗌 w	vithin t
b) Was there vaccine?	an error in	prescribing	g or non-ad	iherence t	o recommen	dations fo	or use of t	his		Yes*/	No
c) Based on y been unsternation	our invest	igation, do	you feel th	at the vac	cine (ingredie	ents) adm	inistered	could hav	e Yes	*/No/U asses	Inable 1
d) Based on y turbidity for	our invest	igation, do	you feel th	at the vac	cine's physic	al condition	on (e.g. co on?	olour,	Yes	*/ No / U	Inable
e) Based on y	our invest	igation, do	you feel th	at there wa	as an error in	vaccine			Ver	*/ No / U	la a b la i
reconstitut	on/prepara	tion by the	vaccinato	r (e.g. wro	ng product, v	vrong dilu	ent, impr	oper	res	asses	inable is
f) Based on y	our invest	igation, do	you feel th	at there wa	as an error ir	n vaccine	handling	(e.g.	Yes	*/ No / U	Inable
break in co	ld chain du	uring transp	ort, storag	e and/or ir	nmunization	session e	etc.)?			asses	s
g) Based on y wrong dos practice et	our invest e, site or ro c.)?	ute of adm	you feel th inistration,	at the vac wrong ne	cine was adr edle size, no	t following	good inj	ection	Yes	* / No / U asses	Inable is
h) Number im	munized fr	rom the cor	ncerned va	ccine vial/	ampoule						
i) Number im	munized w	vith the con	cerned va	ccine in the	e same sess	ion					
j) Number im	munized w	vith the con	cerned val	ccine havir	ng the same	batch nur	nber in of	her			
k) Is this case a part of a cluster? Yes*/No/Unkn											
i. If y	ves, how m	any other o	ases have	been det	ected in the	luster?					
	a.Did a	II the cases	s in the clu	ster receiv	e vaccine fro	om the sa	me vial?		Y	es [*] / No /	/ Unkn
	b.lf no,	number of	vials used	in the clus	ster (enter de	etails sep	arately)				
*It is compulse	ory for you	to provid	e explana	tions for t	hese answe	rs separ	ately		-		
ection E li	nmuniza	tion pra	ctices <u>at</u>	the place	ce(s) when	re conc	erned v	accine	vas u	sed	
ringee and need)) besused:	<i>Complete t</i>	his sectio	n by askii	ng and/or ol	oserving	practice)				
Are AD syringes	used for i	mmunizatio	n?							Yes / N	o / Uni
no. specify the typ	e of svring	es used: [☐ Glass □	Disposal		led dispo	sable 🗆	Other		103710	07 011
ecific key finding	s/additiona	lobservatio	ons and co	mments:							
constitution: (co	omplete or	nly if appli	cable, √ N	IA if not a	pplicable)						
Reconstitution p	procedure (√)							S	tatus	
	Same r	econstitutio	n syringe	used for m	ultiple vials	of same v	accine?	. -	Yes	No	NA
	Same n Separat	econstitutio	ution syringe	used for re de for eacl	h vaccine via	unierent v d?	accines?	\vdash	Yes	No	NA NA
	Separa	te reconstit	ution syrin	ge for eac	h vaccination	1?			Yes	No	NA
Are the vaccine	s and dilue	nts used th	e same as	those rec	ommended	by the ma	nufacture	er?	Yes	No	NA
pecific key finding	s/additiona	lobservatio	ons and co	mments:							

Name	Case ID Number AEFI Inve	
Section F	Cold chain and transport	
aet vaccina etora	(Complete this section by asking and/or observing practice)	1
Is the temperatu	re of the vaccine storage refrigerator monitored?	Yes / No
o If "ves"	was there any deviation outside of $2-8^{\circ}$ C after the vaccine was placed inside?	Yes / No
 If "yes". 	provide details of monitoring separately.	
Was the correct	procedure for storing vaccines, diluents and syringes followed?	Yes / No / Unk
Was any other it	em (other than EPI vaccines and diluents) in the refrigerator or freezer?	Yes / No / Unk
Were any partial	ly used reconstituted vaccines in the refrigerator?	Yes / No / Unk
Were any unusa	ble vaccines (expired, no label, VVM at stages 3 or 4, frozen) in the refrigerator?	Yes / No / Unk
Were any unusa	ble diluents (expired, manufacturer not matched, cracked, dirty ampoule) in the store?	Yes / No / Unk
Specific key findings	/additional observations and comments:	
vaccine transporta	tion:	
Type of vaccine	carrier used	
Was the vaccine	carrier sent to the site on the same day as vaccination?	Yes / No / Unk
 Was the vaccine 	carrier returned from the site on the same day as vaccination?	Yes / No / Unk
Was a condition	ed ice-pack used?	Yes / No / Unk
Section G Co Nere any similar ev (es / No / Unknown	ommunity investigation (Please visit locality and interview parents/o ents reported within a time period similar to when the adverse event occurred and in t If yes, describe:	thers) the same locality
Section G Co Were any similar ev Yes / No / Unknown	ommunity investigation (Please visit locality and interview parents/o ents reported within a time period similar to when the adverse event occurred and in t If yes, describe:	thers) the same locality
Section G C Were any similar ev Yes / No / Unknown	ommunity investigation (Please visit locality and interview parents/o ents reported within a time period similar to when the adverse event occurred and in t If yes, describe:	thers) the same locality
Section G C Were any similar ev Yes / No / Unknown	ommunity investigation (Please visit locality and interview parents/o ents reported within a time period similar to when the adverse event occurred and in t if yes, describe:	thers) the same locality
Section G C Were any similar ev Yes / No / Unknown If yes, how many even Of those effected, ho Vaccinated:	ommunity investigation (Please visit locality and interview parents/o ents reported within a time period similar to when the adverse event occurred and in t If yes, describe:	thers) the same locality
Section G C Were any similar ev Yes / No / Unknown If yes, how many eve Of those effected, ho Vaccinated: Not vaccinated:	ommunity investigation (Please visit locality and interview parents/o ents reported within a time period similar to when the adverse event occurred and in t If yes, describe:	thers) the same locality
Section G C Were any similar ev Yes / No / Unknown If yes, how many eve Of those effected, hr Vaccinated: Not vaccinated: Unknown:	ommunity investigation (Please visit locality and interview parents/o ents reported within a time period similar to when the adverse event occurred and in t If yes, describe: ents/episodes?	thers) the same locality
Section G C Were any similar ev Yes / No / Unknown If yes, how many eve Of those effected, hn Vaccinated: Not vaccinated: Unknown: Other comments:	ommunity investigation (Please visit locality and interview parents/o ents reported within a time period similar to when the adverse event occurred and in t If yes, describe: ents/episodes?	thers) the same locality
Section G C Were any similar ev Yes / No / Unknown If yes, how many eve Of those effected, hh Vaccinated: Not vaccinated: Unknown: Other comments:	ommunity investigation (Please visit locality and interview parents/o ents reported within a time period similar to when the adverse event occurred and in t If yes, describe: ents/episodes?	thers) the same locality
Section G C Were any similar ev Yes / No / Unknown If yes, how many eve Of those effected, ho Vaccinated: Not vaccinated: Unknown: Other comments:	ommunity investigation (Please visit locality and interview parents/o ents reported within a time period similar to when the adverse event occurred and in t if yes, describe: ents/episodes?	thers) the same locality
Section G C Were any similar ev Yes / No / Unknown If yes, how many even of those effected, hr Vaccinated: Not vaccinated: Unknown: Other comments:	ommunity investigation (Please visit locality and interview parents/o ents reported within a time period similar to when the adverse event occurred and in t if yes, describe: ents/episodes?	thers) the same locality
Section G C Were any similar ev Yes / No / Unknown If yes, how many even Of those effected, ht • Vaccinated: • Not vaccinated: • Not vaccinated: Other comments:	ommunity investigation (Please visit locality and interview parents/o ents reported within a time period similar to when the adverse event occurred and in t if yes, describe: ents/episodes?	thers) the same locality
Section G C Were any similar ev Yes / No / Unknown If yes, how many eve Of those effected, ht • Vaccinated: • Not vaccinated: • Unknown: Other comments:	ommunity investigation (Please visit locality and interview parents/o ents reported within a time period similar to when the adverse event occurred and in t if yes, describe: ents/episodes?	thers) the same locality
Section G C Were any similar ev Yes / No / Unknown If yes, how many eve Of those effected, ho Vaccinated: Not vaccinated: Not vaccinated: Unknown: Other comments: Section H Other	ommunity investigation (Please visit locality and interview parents/o ents reported within a time period similar to when the adverse event occurred and in t if yes, describe: ents/episodes? ow many are 	thers) the same locality
Section G C Were any similar ev Yes / No / Unknown If yes, how many eve Of those effected, ho Vacinated: Not vaccinated: Unknown: Other comments: Section H Ot	ommunity investigation (Please visit locality and interview parents/o ents reported within a time period similar to when the adverse event occurred and in t if yes, describe: ents/episodes?	thers) the same locality
Section G C Were any similar ev Yes / No / Unknown If yes, how many eve Of those effected, he Vaccinated: Not vaccinated: Not vaccinated: Unknown: Other comments: Other comments:	ommunity investigation (Please visit locality and interview parents/o ents reported within a time period similar to when the adverse event occurred and in t if yes, describe: ents/episodes? ow many are ther findings/observations/comments	thers) the same locality
Section G C Were any similar ev Yes / No / Unknown If yes, how many eve Of those effected, he Vaccinated: Not vaccinated: Unknown: Other comments: Section H Ot	ommunity investigation (Please visit locality and interview parents/o ents reported within a time period similar to when the adverse event occurred and in t if yes, describe: ents/episodes? w many are	thers) the same locality
Section G C Were any similar ev Yes / No / Unknown If yes, how many eve Of those effected, ht • Vaccinated: • Not vaccinated: • Unknown: Other comments: Section H Ot	ommunity investigation (Please visit locality and interview parents/o ents reported within a time period similar to when the adverse event occurred and in t if yes, describe: ents/episodes? w many are	thers) the same locality

Annex 12: Examples of AEFIs

	Onset time interval i	f
Reportable AEFI	vaccine/vaccination is	s
	implicated	
•Anaphylactoid reaction (acute	Within 24 to 48 hours o	f
hypersensitivity reaction)	immunization	
•Anaphylaxis		
•Persistent inconsolable screaming (more		
than 3 hours)		
•Hypotonic hypo-responsive episode (HHE)		
• Toxic shock syndrome (155)		
•Severe local reaction	Within 7 days of immunization	1
•Sepsis		
•Injection site abscess (bacterial/sterile)		
•Seizures, including febrile seizures (6-12	Within 14 days o	f
days for measles/MMR; 0-2 days for DTP)	immunization	
•Encephalopathy (6-12 days for		
measles/MMR; 0-2 days for DTP)		
•Acute flaccid paralysis (4-30 days for OPV	Within 3 months o	f
recipient; 4-75 days for contact)	immunization	
•Brachial neuritis (2-28 days after tetanus		
containing vaccine)		
•Intussusception (commonly within 21 days		
after rotavirus vaccines)		
•Thrombocytopenia (15-35 days after		
measies/mmk)		
•Lymphadenitis	Between 1 and 12 months after	r
• Disseminated BCG infection	BCG immunization	
• Osteitis / Osteomyelitis		
•Death	No time limit	
Hospitalization		
•Disability		
•Any other severe and unusual events that		
are thought by health workers or the public		
to be related to immunization		

Annex 13: RMP Outline and format

Part I Product(s) overview

Part II Safety specification

Section SI Epidemiology of the indication(s) and target population(s)

Section SII Non-clinical part of the safety specification

Section SIII Clinical trial exposure

Section SIV Populations not studied in clinical trials

Section SV Post-authorization experience

Section SVI Additional PPB requirements for the safety specification

Section SVII Identified and potential risks

Section SVIII Summary of the safety concerns

Part III Pharmacovigilance plan (including post-authorization safety studies)

Part IV Plans for post-authorization efficacy studies

Part V Risk minimization measures (including evaluation of the effectiveness of risk minimization activities)

Part VI Summary of the risk management plan

Part VII Annexes

1. Product Overview

Details to be captured include active substance, pharmacotherapeutic group, name of the marketing authorization applicant for initial marketing authorization applications, marketing authorization holder for RMPs submitted with post-authorization procedures, medicinal product(s) to which this RMP refers. Authorization procedure(s) (centralised, mutual recognition, decentralised, national); brief description of the product including: chemical class; summary of mode of action; composition (e.g. origin of active substance of biologicals, relevant adjuvants or residues for vaccines); indications and Pharmaceutical form and strengths.

2. Safety Specifications

This section should provide adequate information on the safety profile of medicinal product with focus on aspects that need further risk management activities. This section should contain a description of each of the eight modules as listed below:

- i. Epidemiology of the indication(s) and target population(s)
- ii. Non-clinical part of the safety specification
- iii. Clinical trial exposure
- iv. Populations not studied in clinical trials
- v. Post-authorization experience
- vi. Additional PPB requirements for the safety specification
- vii. Identified and potential risks

viii. Summary of the safety concerns

ix. Pharmacovigilance plan (including post-authorization safety studies) Refer to the current version of ICH PV planning E2E

3. Summary Of The Risk Management Plan

This section should provide a risk minimization plan for each of the safety concerns raised in the safety specification sections. It should include both routine and any other risk minimizations including justification and indicators to measure the effectiveness of the plan.

4. RMP Annexes

- i. Tabulated summary of planned, on-going, and completed pharmacovigilance study programme.
- ii. Protocols for proposed, on-going, and completed studies in the pharmacovigilance plan
- iii. Specific adverse event follow-up forms
- iv. Protocols for proposed and on-going studies in RMP part IV
- v. Details of proposed additional risk minimization activities
- vi. Other supporting data (including referenced material)
- vii. Summary of changes to the risk management plan over time

5. QPPV Declaration for Risk Management Plan

1. I, the undersigned certify that all the information in Risk Management Plan and accompanying documentation is correct, complete and true to the best of my knowledge. 2. I further confirm that the information on all Risk Management activities will be available for verification during Good Pharmacovigilance Practice (GVP) inspection.

3. I also agree that, I the Qualified Person for Pharmacovigilance in collaboration with the Marketing Authorization Holder (MAH) will implement all activities contained in the Risk Management and Pharmacovigilance plans for this product in accordance with the Board requirements.

4. I also agree that I am obliged to follow all the requirements by the Board in ensuring the quality, safety and efficacy of marketed products in Kenya.

Name:

Signature:

Date:

Annex 14: The format and layout of the PSMF

The PSMF may be in electronic form on condition that a clearly arranged, printed copy can be made available to Board if requested. In any format, the PSMF should be legible, complete, provided in a manner that ensures all documentation is accessible and allow full traceability of changes. Therefore, it may be appropriate to restrict access to the PSMF in order to ensure appropriate control over the content and to assign specific responsibilities for the management of PSMF in terms of change control and archiving.

The PSMF should be written in English, indexed in a manner consistent with the headings described, and allow easy navigation to the contents. In general, embedded documents are discouraged. The use of electronic book-marking and searchable text is recommended. Documents such as copies of signed statements or agreements should be included as appendices and described in the index.

The documents and particulars of the PSMF shall be presented with the following headings and, if hardcopy, in the order outlined:

1. Cover Page

- i. The unique number assigned by the electronic system or manually to the PSMF.
- ii. The name of the MAH, the QPPV responsible for the pharmacovigilance system described (if different), as well as the relevant QPPV third party company name (if applicable).
- iii. The name of other concerned MAH(s) (sharing the pharmacovigilance system).
- iv. The list of PSMFs for the MAH (concerning products with a different pharmacovigilance system).
- v. The date of preparation / last update.
- vi. The qualified person responsible for pharmacovigilance, Annex A
- vii. The list of tasks that have been delegated by the QPPV, or the applicable procedural document, Annex B
- viii. The curriculum vitae of the QPPV and associated documents
- ix. Contact details
- x. The lists of contracts and agreements
- xi. Sources of safety data, Annex C
- xii. Lists associated with the description of sources of safety data e.g. affiliates and third-party contacts Computerised systems and Databases, Annex D, Pharmacovigilance Process, and written procedures, Annex E
- xiii. Lists of procedural documents Pharmacovigilance System Performance, Annex F
- xiv. Lists of performance indicators
- xv. Current results of performance assessment in relation to the indicators Quality System, Annex G
- xvi. Audit schedules
- xvii. List of audits conducted and completed Products, Annex H
- xviii. List(s) of products covered by the pharmacovigilance system
- xix. Any notes concerning the MAH per product Document and Record Control, Annex 1
- xx. Logbook
- xxi. Documentation of history of changes for Annex contents, indexed according to the Annexes A-H and their content if not provided within the relevant annex itself.

The PSMF shall contain the following sections:

2. Qualified Person Responsible for Pharmacovigilance (QPPV)

The information relating to the QPPV provided in the PSMF shall include:

- i. description of the responsibilities guaranteeing that the qualified person has sufficient control over the pharmacovigilance system in order to promote, maintain and improve compliance;
- a summary curriculum vitae with the key information on the role of the qualified person responsible for pharmacovigilance, including proof of registration in Kenya;
- iii. contact details;
- iv. details of back-up arrangements to apply in the absence of the qualified person responsible for pharmacovigilance;
- v. A list of tasks that have been delegated by the qualified person for pharmacovigilance shall also be included in the Annexes.

The details provided in relation to the QPPV should also include the description of the QPPV qualifications, experience and registrations relevant to pharmacovigilance. The contact details supplied should include name, postal address, telephone, fax and e-mail and represent the usual working address of the QPPV, which may therefore be different to a marketing authorization holder address. If the QPPV is employed by a third party, even if the usual working address is an office of the MAH, this should be indicated and the name of the company the QPPV works for provided.

3. Organizational Structure Of The Marketing Authorization Holder

A description of the organizational structure of the MAH relevant to the pharmacovigilance system must be provided. The description should provide a clear overview of the company(ies) involved, the main pharmacovigilance departments and the relationship(s) between organization s and operational units relevant to the fulfilment of pharmacovigilance obligations. This should include third parties. The PSMF shall describe:

- i. The organizational structure of the MAH(s), showing the position of the QPPV in the organization.
- ii. The site(s) where the pharmacovigilance functions are undertaken covering individual case safety report collection, evaluation, safety database case entry, periodic safety update report production, signal detection and analysis, risk management plan management, pre and post-authorization study management, and management of safety variations to product.
- iii. Diagrams may be particularly useful; the name of the department or third party should be indicated.

4. Outsourced Activities

The PSMF, where applicable, shall contain a description of the activities and/or services subcontracted by the MAH relating to the fulfilment of pharmacovigilance obligations. This includes arrangements with other parties in any country, worldwide and if applicable, to the pharmacovigilance system applied to products authorized in Kenya.

Links with other organizations, such as co-marketing agreements and contracting of pharmacovigilance activities should be outlined. A description of the location and nature of contracts and agreements relating to the fulfilment of pharmacovigilance obligations should be provided. Individual contractual agreements shall be made available at the request of the Board or during inspection and audit and the list provided in the Annexes.

i. Sources of safety data

The description of the main units for safety data collection should include all parties responsible, on a global basis, for solicited and spontaneous case collection for products authorized in Kenya. This shall include medical information sites as well as affiliate offices and may take the form of a list describing the country, nature of the activity and the product(s) (if the activity is product specific) and providing a contact point (address, telephone and e-mail) for the site. The list may be located in the Annexes of the PSMF. Information about third parties (license partners or local distribution/marketing arrangements) should also be included in the section describing contracts and agreements.

Flow diagrams indicating the main stages, timeframes and parties involved shall be used. However, represented, the description of the process for ICSRs from collection to reporting to the Board should indicate the departments and/or third parties involved.

For the purposes of inspection and audit of the pharmacovigilance system, sources include data arising from study sources, including any studies, registries, surveillance or support programmes sponsored by the marketing authorization holder through which ICSRs could be reported. MAHs should be able to produce and make available a list of such sources to support inspection, audit and QPPV oversight. In the interests of harmonization, it is recommended that the list should be comprehensive for products authorized in Kenya, irrespective of indication, product presentation or route of administration. The list should describe, on a worldwide basis, the status of each study/programme, the applicable country (ies), the product(s) and the main objective. It should distinguish between interventional and non-interventional studies and should be organized per active substance.

The list should be comprehensive for all studies/programmes and should include ongoing studies/programmes as well as studies/programmes completed in the last two years and may be located in an Annex or provided separately.

ii. Computerized systems and databases

The location, functionality and operational responsibility for computerized systems and databases used to receive, collate, record and report safety information and an assessment of their fitness for purpose shall be described in the PSMF.

Where multiple computerized systems/databases are used, the applicability of these to pharmacovigilance activities should be described in such a way that a clear overview of the extent of computerization within the pharmacovigilance system can be understood. The validation status of key aspects of computer system functionality shall also be described; the change control, nature of testing, back-up procedures and electronic data repositories vital to pharmacovigilance compliance shall be included in summary, and the nature of the documentation available described. For paper-based systems (where an electronic system may only be used for expedited submission of ICSRs), the management of the data, and mechanisms used to assure the integrity and accessibility of the safety data, and in particular the collation of information about adverse drug events, shall be described.

iii. Pharmacovigilance processes

An essential element of any pharmacovigilance system is that there are clear written procedures in place. A description of the procedural documentation available (standard operating procedures, manuals), the nature of the data held (e.g. the type of case data retained for ICSRs) and an indication of how records are held (e.g. safety database, paper file at site of receipt) should be provided in the PSMF. A description of the process, data handling and records for the performance of pharmacovigilance, covering the following aspects shall be included in the PSMF:

- a. Continuous monitoring of product risk-benefit profile(s) applied and the result of evaluation and the decision-making process for taking appropriate measures; this should include signal generation, detection and evaluation. This may also include several written procedures and instructions concerning safety database outputs, interactions with clinical departments etc.;
- Risk management system(s) and monitoring of the outcome of risk minimization measures; several departments may be involved in this area and interactions should be defined in written procedures or agreements;
- c. ICSR collection, collation, follow-up, assessment and reporting; the procedures applied to this area should clarify what are local and what are regional activities;
- d. PSUR scheduling, production and submission
- e. Communication of safety concerns to consumers, healthcare professionals and the Board;
- f. Implementation of safety variations to the summary of product characteristics (SmPC) and patient information leaflets; procedures should cover both internal and external communications

In each area, the MAH should be able to provide evidence of a system that supports appropriate and timely decision making and action.

The description must be accompanied by the list of processes under the topic compliance management, as well as interfaces with other functions. Interfaces with other functions include, but are not limited to, the roles and responsibilities of the QPPV, responding to the Board's requests for information, literature searching, safety database change control, safety data exchange agreements, safety data archiving, pharmacovigilance auditing, quality control and training. The list, which may be located in the Annexes, shall comprise the procedural document reference number, title, effective date and document type (for all standard operating procedures, work instructions, manuals etc.).

Procedures belonging to service providers and other third parties should be clearly identified. Documents relating to specific local/country procedures need not be listed, but a list may be requested on a per country basis. If no or only some countries use specific local procedures, this should be indicated (and the names of the applicable countries provided).

iv. Pharmacovigilance system performance

The PSMF should contain evidence of the ongoing monitoring of performance of the pharmacovigilance system including compliance of the main outputs of pharmacovigilance. The PSMF should include a description of the monitoring methods applied and contain as a minimum:

- a. Assessment of correctness reporting of ICSRs is assessed. In the annex, figures/ graphs should be provided to show the timeliness of reporting over the past year;
- b. Metrics used to monitor the quality of submissions and performance of pharmacovigilance. This should include information provided by NMRA authorities regarding the quality of ICSR reporting, PSURs or other submissions;
- c. An overview of the timeliness of PSUR reporting to the Board (the annex should reflect the latest figures used by the marketing authorization holder to assess compliance);
- d. An overview of the methods used to ensure timeliness of safety variation submissions compared to internal and the Board's deadlines, including the tracking of required safety variations that have been identified but not yet been submitted;
- e. Where applicable, an overview of adherence to risk management plan commitments, or other obligations or conditions of marketing authorization(s) relevant to pharmacovigilance.
- f. Targets for the performance of the pharmacovigilance system shall be described and explained. A list of performance indicators must be provided in the Annex to the PSMF alongside the results of (actual) performance measurements.

Annex 15: Format and Content of The Protocol Of Non-Interventional Post-Authorization Safety Studies

INTRODUCTION

The study protocol should be concise, while providing the information needed to understand how the study will answer the research question and assess the validity of the study design.

All headings and sub-headings of the format presented in this guidance should always be included and the same numbering should be used. Additional sub-headings can be added as necessary. Where a heading or sub-heading does not apply to the study (eg. Protection of human subjects), "Not applicable" should be stated with a short justification. All dates should be indicated in the format "DD Month YYYY" (e.g. 15 August 2018). Annex 1 should be used to list stand-alone documents not included in the protocol, e.g. contact details of responsible parties and all investigators, or sections 9.6. Data management, 9.8. Quality control and 10. Protection of human subjects, which can be maintained apart from the study protocol where they represent standard procedures applied to all studies. In this case, a summary should be provided in the corresponding section of the protocol and reference should be made to Annex 1. Annexes can be added to provide documents referred to in the protocol.

The text in green italics is intended to guide the reader on the principal points to be considered for writing that section of the protocol. It should be deleted if this guidance is used as a template.

It is reminded that the marketing authorization holder(s) involved should keep a copy of the protocol signed by the qualified person in pharmacovigilance (QPPV) or his/her delegate (with the date of the signature) available for any future request or inspection.

This guidance may be later revised based on experience.

1. PASS information: PASS information should be provided in a table on the title page of the study protocol.

Title	Informative title including a commonly used term indicating the study design and the medicinal product, substance or drug class concerned
Protocol version identifier	Number
Date of last version of protocol	Date
Clinical trials registry reference number	Registration number in the clinical trials registry; indicate "Study not registered" if the study has not been registered
Active substance	List of pharmacotherapeutic group(s) (ACT codes) and active substance(s) subject to the study

Medicinal product	List of centrally authorized medicinal product(s) and/ or, if possible, of nationally authorized products subject to the study
Product reference	Reference number(s) of centrally authorized products and/or, if possible, of nationally authorized products subject to the study
Marketing authorizatio n holder(s)	Marketing authorization holder(s) which initiate(s), manage(s) or finance(s) the study
Joint PASS	"Yes" or "No"
Research question and objectives	Summary of the research question and main objectives
Country(-ies) of study	List of countries where the study is to be conducted; if countries have not been identified yet, or if the list is not complete, this should be stated
Author	Name and contact details of the main author of the study protocol

2. Marketing authorization holder(s)

Marketing authorization holder(s)	Name, address and contact details of the marketing authorization holder(s).
MAH contact person	Contact person for this PASS protocol submission (if this a joint PASS, only one person should be mentioned)

3. Table of contents (PASS): (The study protocol should include a table of contents. The following table of contents can be used if this guidance serves as a template)

4. Responsible parties

(List of all main responsible parties, including the principal investigator, a coordinating investigator for each country in which the study is to be performed and other relevant study sites. Contact details and the list of all investigators can be kept in a stand-alone document to be listed in Annex 1 and to be available upon request.

In case of a Joint PASS, any sharing of responsibilities (eg. for management of adverse events) or distribution of tasks between marketing authorization holders and other responsible parties should be mentioned in this section. Contact persons for each marketing authorization holder should be mentioned.)

- **5. Abstract:** (Stand-alone summary of the study protocol including all of the subsections below.)
 - i. Title: (The title should include subtitles including version and date of the protocol

- ii. and name and affiliation of main author)
- iii. Rationale and background Research question and objectives Study design. Population: ("Population" includes the setting and study population.)
- iv. Variables Data sources Study size
- v. Data analysis
- vi. Milestones
- **6. Amendments and updates:** (Write "None" or indicate any substantial amendment and update to the study protocol after the start of data collection in a table as indicated below.)

Number	Date	Section of study protocol	Amendment or update	Reason
1	Date	Text	Text	Text
2	Date	Text	Text	Text
	Date	Text	Text	Text

7. **Milestones:** (Planned dates for study milestones should be indicated in a table as indicated below. Milestones between (< >) are optional and should be included only if applicable. Start of data collection and End of data collection are defined in Module VIII of the GVP (where the study uses data from existing electronic databases such as claims, prescriptions or health care records, "secondary use of data" applies to these definitions). Other important timelines can be added.)

8. Rationale and background: (Short description of the safety hazard(s), the safety

Milestone	Planned date
Start of data collection	Date
End of data collection	Date
<study 1="" progress="" report=""></study>	Date
<study 1="" progress="" report=""></study>	Date
<study 1="" progress="" report=""></study>	Date
<interim 1="" report=""></interim>	Date
<registration eu="" in="" pas="" register="" the=""></registration>	Date
Final report of study results	Date

profile or the risk management measures that led to the initiation or imposition of the study, and short critical review of available published and unpublished data to explain gaps in knowledge that the study is intended to fill. The review may encompass relevant animal and human experiments, clinical studies, vital statistics and previous epidemiologic studies. The review should cite the findings of similar studies, and the expected contribution of the current study.)

9. Research question and objectives: (Research question that explains how the study will address the issue which led to the study being initiated or imposed, and research objectives, including any pre-specified hypotheses and main

summary measures. Objectives should be organized as primary or secondary objectives where applicable.)

- **10. Research methods:** Description of the research methods, including:
 - i. Study design: (Overall research design and rationale for this choice, specifying the study design proposed (cohort, case-control, etc.) and any comparison groups. The primary and secondary endpoints and the main measure(s) of effect should be mentioned. The strength of the study design to answer the research question may be explained in this section.)
 - ii. Setting: (Setting and study population defined in terms of persons, place, study time period, and selection criteria, including the rationale for any exclusion criteria and their impact on the number of subjects available for analysis. Plans for baseline visits and follow-up visits should be described. Representativeness of the study population as regards the source population should be addressed. Where any sampling from a source population is undertaken, description of the source population and details of sampling methods should be provided. Where the study design is a systematic review or a meta-analysis, the criteria for the selection and eligibility of studies should be explained.)
 - iii. Variables: (Definition of exposures, outcomes, and other variables including measured risk factors, co-morbidities, co-medications, etc., with operational definitions and measurement; potential confounding variables and effect modifiers should be specified.
 - iv. Data sources: (Strategies and data sources for determining exposures, outcomes and all other variables relevant to the study objectives, such as potential confounding variables and effect modifiers. Where the study is based on secondary analysis an existing data source, such as electronic health records or claims databases, any information on the validity of the recording and coding of the data should be reported. For exposures or outcomes not previously validated, validation performed in the study should be described or otherwise addressed. Linkage methods between data sources should be described as appropriate. If data collection methods or instruments are tested in a pilot study, plans for the pilot study should be presented. If a pilot study has already been performed, a summary of the results should be stated. In case of a systematic review or meta-analysis, the search strategy and processes and any methods for confirming data from investigators should be described.)
 - v. Study size: (Any projected study size, precision sought for study estimates and any calculation of the sample size that can minimally detect a pre-specified risk with a pre-specified statistical precision. All assumptions used to calculate the study size or precision of the study should be presented and justified)
 - vi. Data management: Data management and statistical software(s) to be used in the study, including procedures for data collection, retrieval, collection and preparation. Data collection methods and tools (e.g. paper-based or electronic case reporting forms, monitoring if any and supervision) can be summarized in this section and fully described or presented in an Annex.

- vii. Data analysis: Rationale for the choice of statistical techniques and major steps that lead from raw data to a final result, including methods used to correct inconsistencies or errors, impute values, modify raw data, categorize, analyze and present results, and procedures to control sources of bias and their influence on results. Statistical procedures to be applied to the data to obtain point estimates and confidence intervals of measures of occurrence or association, and sensitivity analyses.
- viii. Quality control: Description of any mechanisms and procedures to ensure data quality and integrity, including accuracy and legibility of collected data and original documents, extent of source data verification and validation of endpoints, storage of records and archiving of the statistical programming performed to generate the results. As appropriate, certification and/or qualifications of any supporting laboratory or research groups should be included.
 - ix. Limitations of the research methods: Any potential limitations of the study design, data sources, and analytic methods, including issues relating to confounding, bias, generalizability, and random error. The likely success of efforts taken to reduce errors should be discussed.
 - x. Other aspects: Any other aspect of the research method not covered by the previous sections.
- **11. Protection of human subjects:** Safeguards in order to comply with national and European Union requirements for ensuring the well-being and rights of participants in non-interventional post-authorization safety studies.
- **12. Management and reporting of adverse events/adverse reactions:** Procedures for the collection, management and reporting of individual cases of adverse events/adverse reactions and of any new information that might influence the evaluation of the benefit-risk balance of the product while the study is being conducted. For studies where reporting is not required, this should be stated. Any arrangements made between marketing authorization holders for the management and reporting of adverse events/reactions in Joint PASS should be specified.
- **13. Plans for disseminating and communicating study results**: Any plans for submission of progress reports and final reports; any arrangements made between marketing authorizations holders for the disseminating and communicating study results of Joint PASS.
- **14. References**: Numbered list of literature or electronic references of documents referred to in the protocol. Sufficient information should be provided to allow retrieval of the document. Feasibility or pilot studies that were carried out to support the development of the protocol, for example, the testing of a questionnaire or simple counts of medical events or prescriptions in a database to determine the statistical precision of the study, should be reported in the appropriate section of the study protocol with a summary of their methods and results. The full report should be made available to the Boardupon request. Feasibility or pilot studies that are part of the research process should be

described in the protocol, for example, a pilot evaluation of the study questionnaire(s) used for the first set of patients recruited into the study.

15. An annex should list all separate documents and list or include any additional or complementary information on specific aspects not previously addressed (e.g. questionnaires, case report forms), with clear document references.

Annex 16: Format of The Pass Final Study Report

- 1. **Title**: title including a commonly used term indicating the study design; sub-titles with date of final report and name and affiliation of main author. If the study has been registered in the clinical trials registry. Register, the final study report should mention on the title page "Register No:" with the registration number and the web link to the study record.
- 2. **Abstract**: The abstract of the final study report should include a summary of the study methods and findings.
- 3. **Marketing authorization holder**: name and address of the marketing authorization holder.
- 4. **Investigators**: names, titles, degrees, addresses and affiliations of the principal investigator and all co-investigators, and list of all collaborating primary institutions and other relevant study sites. Such information should be provided for each country in which the study is to be performed and other relevant study sites. A list of all collaborating institutions and investigators should be made available to the Agency and national competent authorities upon request.
- 5. **Milestones**: dates for the following milestones:
 - i. Start of data collection (planned and actual dates)
 - ii. End of data collection (planned and actual dates) or date of early termination, if applicable, with reasons for termination
 - iii. Study progress report(s)
 - iv. Interim report(s) of study results, where applicable
 - v. Final report of study results (planned and actual date)
 - vi. Any other important milestone applicable to the study, including date of study registration in the Register and date of protocol approval by an Institutional Review Board/Independent Ethics Committee if applicable.
- 6. **Rationale and background**: description of the safety concerns that led to the study being initiated or imposed, and critical review of relevant published and unpublished data evaluating pertinent information and gaps in knowledge that the study is intended to fill.
- 7. **Research question and objectives**: research question and research objectives, including any pre-specified hypotheses, as stated in the study protocol.
- 8. **Amendments and updates to the protocol**: list of any substantial amendments and updates to the initial study protocol after the start of data collection, including a justification for each amendment or update.

9. Research methods:

- 9.1 **Study design**: key elements of the study design and the rationale for this choice.
- 9.2 **Setting:** setting, locations, and relevant dates for the study, including periods of recruitment, follow-up, and data collection. In case of a systematic review or meta-analysis, study characteristics used as criteria for eligibility, with rationale.
- 9.3 **Subjects:** any source population and eligibility criteria of study subjects. Sources and methods of selection of participants should be provided, including, where relevant methods for case ascertainment, as well as number of and reasons for dropouts.

- 9.4 Variables: all outcomes, exposures, predictors, potential confounders, and effect modifiers, including operational definitions and diagnostic criteria, if applicable.
- 9.5 *Data sources and measurement:* for each variable of interest, sources of data and details of methods of assessment and measurement. If the study has used an existing data source, such as electronic health records, any information on the validity of the recording and coding of the data should be reported. In case of a systematic review or meta-analysis, description of all information sources, search strategy, methods for selecting studies, methods of data extraction and any processes for obtaining or confirming data from investigators.
- 9.6 *Bias*: any efforts to assess and address potential sources of bias at the design stage.
- 9.7 *Study size*: study size, rationale for any study size calculation and any method for attaining projected study size.
- 9.8 *Data transformation*: transformations, calculations or operations on the data, including how quantitative data were handled in the analyses and which groupings were chosen and why.
- 9.9 Statistical methods: description of the following items:
 - i. Main summary measures
 - ii. All statistical methods applied to the study, including those used to control for confounding and, for meta-analyses, methods for combining results of studies
 - iii. Any methods used to examine subgroups and interactions
 - iv. How missing data were addressed
 - v. Any sensitivity analyses
 - vi. Any amendment to the plan of data analysis included in the study protocol, with rationale for the change.
- 9.10 Quality control: mechanisms to ensure data quality and integrity.
- 10.**Results:** presentation of tables, graphs, and illustrations to present the pertinent data and reflect the analyses performed. Both unadjusted and adjusted results should be presented. Precision of estimates should be quantified using confidence intervals. This section should include the following sub-sections:
 - 10.1. *Participants*: numbers of study subjects at each stage of study, e.g. numbers potentially eligible, examined for eligibility, confirmed eligible, included in the study, completing follow-up, and analyzed, and reasons for non-participation at any stage. In the case of a systematic review or meta-analysis, number of studies screened, assessed for eligibility and included in the review with reasons for exclusion at each stage.
 - 10.2. *Descriptive data*: characteristics of study participants, information on exposures and potential confounders and number of participants with missing data for each variable of interest. In case of a systematic review or metaanalysis, characteristics of each study from which data were extracted (e.g. study size, follow-up).
 - 10.3. Outcome data: numbers of participants across categories of main outcomes.
 - 10.4. *Main results*: unadjusted estimates and, if applicable, confounder-adjusted estimates and their precision (e.g. 95% confidence interval). If relevant,

estimates of relative risk should be translated into absolute risk for a meaningful time period.

- 10.5. *Other analyses:* other analyses done, e.g. analyses of subgroups and interactions, and sensitivity analyses.
- 10.6. Adverse events and adverse reactions: summary of all adverse events/adverse reactions collected in the study, in line with requirements described set in these guidelines.

11. Discussion:

- 11.1. *Key results*: key results with reference to the study objectives, prior research in support of and conflicting with the findings of the completed post-authorization safety study, and, where relevant, impact of the results on the risk-benefit balance of the product.
- 11.2. *Limitations*: limitations of the study considering circumstances that may have affected the quality or integrity of the data, limitations of the study approach and methods used to address them (e.g., response rates, missing or incomplete data, imputations applied), sources of potential bias and imprecision and validation of the events. Both direction and magnitude of potential biases should be discussed.
- 11.3. *Interpretation*: interpretation of results considering objectives, limitations, multiplicity of analyses, results from similar studies and other relevant evidence.
- 11.4. Generalizability: the generalizability (external validity) of the study results.
- 11.5. *Other information*: any additional or complementary information on specific aspects not previously addressed.
- 12. **Conclusions**: main conclusions of the study deriving from the analysis of the data.

Annex 17: Template for direct health care professional communication <Date>

<Active substance, name of medicinal product and main message

(e.g. introduction of a warning or a contraindication)>

Dear Healthcare professional,

<Name of marketing authorization holder> in agreement with <PPB> would like to inform you of the following:

Summary

Guidance: This section should be in bold/larger font size than the other sections of the DHCP and preferably in bullet points.

- <Brief description of the safety concern in the context of the therapeutic indication, recommendations for risk minimization (e.g. *contraindications, warnings, precautions of use)* and, if applicable, switch to alternative treatment>
- <Recall information, if applicable, including level (pharmacy or patient) and date of recall>

Background on the safety concern

Guidance: This section may include the following information:

<Brief description of the therapeutic indication of the medicinal product>

<Important details about the safety concern (adverse reaction, seriousness, statement on the suspected causal relationship, and, if known, the pharmacodynamics mechanism, temporal relationship, positive re-challenge or de-challenge, risk factors)>

<An estimation of the frequency of the adverse reaction or reporting rates with estimated patient exposure>

<A statement indicating any association between the adverse reaction and offlabel use, if applicable>

<If applicable, details on the recommendations for risk minimization>

<A statement if the product information is to be or has been revised, including a description of the changes made or proposed> *Guidance: No need however to include or attach the precise (translated) text of the product information which, at the time of dissemination of the DHCP may not be available as final approved translations)*

<Place of the risk in the context of the benefit>

<The reason for disseminating the DHCP at this point in time>

<Any evidence supporting the recommendation (e.g. include citation(s) of key study/ies)>

<A statement on any previous DHCPs related to the current safety concern that have recently been disseminated>

<Any schedule for follow-up action(s) by the marketing authorization holder/NMRA, if applicable>

Call for reporting

<A reminder of the need and how to report adverse reactions in accordance with the national spontaneous reporting system, including the details (e.g. name, postal address, fax number, website address) on how to access the national spontaneous reporting system>

<For biological medicinal products, also include a reminder to report the product name and batch details>.

<Mention if product is subject to additional monitoring and the reason why>

Company contact point

<Contact point details for access to further information, including relevant website address(es), telephone numbers and a postal address>

Annexes (*if applicable*)

 $<\!\!Link/reference$ to other available relevant information, such as information on the website of an NMRA>

<Additional scientific information, if applicable> <List of literature references, if applicable>

References

- Roger Walker, Clive Edwards. Clinical Pharmacy and Therapeutics. 1999; 2: 33-45
- 2. WHO Collating Centre for International Drug Monitoring, the Uppsala Monitoring Centre. Safety Monitoring of Medicinal Products- Guidelines for setting up and running a Pharmacovigilance Centre.
- Steven C. Hartwig, Jerry Siegel and Philip J. Schneider. Preventability and Severity Assessment in Reporting Adverse Drug Reactions. Am J Hosp Pharm. Sept 1992; 49: 2229-2232
- 4. WHO Collaborating Centre for International Drug Monitoring, the Uppsala Monitoring Centre. The Importance of Pharmacovigilance- Safety monitoring of medicinal products.
- 5. WHO Quality Assurance and Safety. Aide Memoire- for a national strategy for safe drugs and their appropriate use.
- 6. WHO. The safety of medicines in public health programmes: Pharmacovigilance an essential tool. 2006
- Guidelines for the National Pharmacovigilance System in Kenya, 2nd edition, Kenya Pharmacy and Poisons Board, Ministry of Medical Services and Ministry of Public Health and Sanitation, Kenya. 2009
- 8. Guidelines on a medical devices vigilance system, MEDDEV 2.12-1 rev 8, European Commission, 2013
- 9. WHO Policy Perspectives on Medicines. Pharmacovigilance: ensuring the safe use of medicines. October 2004.
- 10.WHO Safety of Medicines- a guide to detecting and reporting adverse drug reactions. WHO/EDM/QSM/2002.2
- 11.Guidelines for safety monitoring of medicinal products. Food and Drugs Authority, Ghana. Revision 2
- 12.Safety of Medicines in Nigeria- a guide for detecting and reporting ADRs, NAFDAC- NPC-NIG-2004.1
- 13.Guidelines for Managers of Immunization Programs on Reporting and Investigating Adverse Events Following Immunization. WPRO/EPI/99.01.
- 14.National Guidelines for Monitoring Medicines Safety. Tanzania Food and Drugs Authority. Nov 2010
- 15.Guidelines for reporting adverse reaction. Food and Drugs Authority, Ghana. 2016 [Revision 2 (FDA/SMC/SMD/GL-RAR/2013/01)]
- 16.Guideline for Conduct of Clinical Trials in Kenya. Pharmacy and Poisons Board. Sep 2016
- 17. World Health Organization. (2018). Causality assessment of an adverse event following immunization (AEFI): user manual for the revised WHO classification, 2nd ed. World Health Organization. http://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/259959-
- 18.Periodic Benefit-Risk Evaluation Report (PBRER) E2C(R2), 2012. http://www.ich.org/fileadmin/Public_Web_Site/ICH_Products/Guidelines/ Efficacy/E2C/ E2C_R2_Step4.pdf

Pictorial representation of some well - known ADRs

Phenobarbital hypersensitivity syndrome Extensive eruption of exanthematous pattern with erythema and infiltration involving the entire trunk and arms.

Stevens Johnsons Syndrome - an immunecomplex-mediated hypersensitivity (allergic) condition. It is a severe expression of the condition known as erythema multiforme. Note the inflammation of the skin and mucous membranes.

> Propylthiouracil hypersensitivity vasculitis - Observe the ecchymosis with central cutaneous necrosis in the arm.

Toxic Epidermal Necrolysis - the most severe condition associated with immune complex hypersensitivity. This condition involves multiple large blisters that coalesce, followed by a sloughing of most of the skin and mucous membranes

"You need not be certain ...

... just be suspicious"

Pharmacy and Poisons Board

Lenana Road P.O. Box 27663-00506 Nairobi, Kenya Tel: (020)- 2716905/6 Fax: (020)- 2713431/2713409 pv@pharmacyboardkenya.org E-mail: info@pharmacyboardkenya.org

All rights reserved.

This is a controlled document. It shall not be copied without authorization from the Director, Medicines Information and Pharmacovigilance or the Chief Executive Officer. Only originals or authorized copies shall be used as working documents.